THE GENERATION OF FULLY FUNCTIONAL β-CELLS BY PROLIFERATION: LESSONS FROM PREGNANCY AND HNF4α

Sebastian Rieck

A DISSERTATION

In

Pharmacology

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2011

Dissertation Advisor Graduate Group Chairperson Vladimir Muzykantov, M.D., Ph.D. Klaus H. Kaestner, Ph.D. Professor, Genetics Professor, Pharmacology Dissertation Committee: Dr. Doris A. Stoffers, M.D. Ph.D. Dr. Bryan A. Wolf, M.D. Ph.D. Associate Professor, Medicine Professor, Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Dr. Catherine L. May, Ph.D. Dr. Judy L. Meinkoth, Ph.D. Assistant Professor, Pathology and Associate Professor, Pharmacology Laboratory Medicine

Dedication

To my mother, father, and brother for their unconditional love, support, and teaching me the value of hard work

To my grandfather for being a great role model, and teaching me the value and the enthusiasm of ,learning for fun"

To my wife for her unwavering devotion, love, inspiring me to reach towards my best, and for giving me reasons to be optimistic throughout my endeavors

Acknowledgements

A large part of my ability to perform science at a rigorous level depends on the collaborations that I have setup and maintained during my time at the University of Pennsylvania. To this end, I am grateful to acknowledge all of my colleagues and collaborators in the Kaestner laboratory, especially now great friends Dr. Nan Gao and Dr. Irina M. Bochkis, Dr. Rana K. Gupta, Ms. Vasumathi Kameswaran, and Ms. Rieke Schwegmann for their advice and direct contributions to the work comprising this thesis. Also, I thank Dr. Noa Weinberg-Corem, Dr. Karyn L. Sheaffer, Dr. Jia Zhang for valuable suggestions on the thesis manuscript.

I wish to thank collaborators outside of the Kaestner laboratory, namely, Dr. Alan D. Attie, Dr. Mark P. Keller, Dr. Jeremy A. Lavine and Mrs. Mary Rabaglia for insightful discussions, providing adenoviruses, providing murine leptin-deficient cDNA samples, and teaching me techniques such as islet isolation and arterial delivery of adenoviruses into a mouse. Additionally, I thank Dr. Christopher B. Newgard, Dr. Thomas C. Becker and Dr. Michelle Arlotto for producing and providing adenoviruses, Dr. Phillip E. Scherer and Dr. Zhao V. Wang for providing murine PANIC-ATTAC cDNA samples, and Dr. Andrew F. Stewart and Dr. Karen K. Takane for providing both CYCLIN D3 and CDK6 adenoviruses. Furthermore, I acknowledge Dr. Charles Pletcher and Dr. Paul Hallberg for their expertise in GFP- sorting.

I am grateful for the members of the Functional Genomics Core (Dr. Peter White, Dr. Jonathan Schug, Mr. Alan J. Fox, Mrs. Olga Smirnova) for help with microarray expression profiling, Dr. Arbansjit K. Sandhu and members of Gene Therapy Program Vector Core for help with construction adenoviruses used, and Dr. Heather W. Collins and members of the Radioimmunoassay and Biomarkers Core for help with detection of human insulin. I thank both Mrs. Neena Panackal and members of the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Research Institute Pathology Core and Dr. Gary Swain and members of the University of Pennsylvania Morphology core for assistance with histology. I am especially grateful to Dr. Jake A. Kushner who has supported, challenged and encouraged me since my first endeavors into human β-cell biology. I am also very obliged for the training grant support I received from the graduate group in Pharmacology for 4 years, and the advice provided by my thesis committee, namely Dr. Doris A. Stoffers, Dr. Bryan A. Wolf, Dr. Catherine L. May, and Dr. Judy L. Meinkoth.

Finally, I am most appreciative to my advisor, Dr. Klaus H. Kaestner, whose patience, and commitment to me does not go unnoticed. As a scientific mentor, his belief in me and my work has given me a foundation of knowledge and confidence to be not only to a successful post-doctoral fellow, but also have the ability and self-belief to pursue a fruitful academic career as an independent investigator. The opportunities he has given me to succeed have all had great positive impacts on my life which will never be forgotten.

Abstract

THE GENERATION OF FULLY FUNCTIONAL β-CELLS BY PROLIFERATION: LESSONS FROM PREGNANCY AND HNF4α

Sebastian Rieck

Advisor: Dr. Klaus H. Kaestner, Ph.D.

Diabetes mellitus is an increasingly prevalent metabolic disorder that is estimated to affect over 300 million people by 2025. Common to either type 1 or type 2 diabetes is a progressive inadequacy of functional β -cell mass. Recent studies have shown that during times of prolonged metabolic demand for insulin, the endocrine pancreas can respond by increasing β -cell mass, both by an increase in cell size and by changes in the balance of β -cell proliferation and apoptosis. Advances that further our knowledge of the molecular factors that control both β -cell proliferation and survival will be crucial for understanding the homeostasis of β -cell mass during adulthood, and are pivotal for any attempt to use instructive cues to induce the proliferation of terminally differentiated fully functional insulin-producing β -cells that are suitable for transplantation. However, no systematic study that investigates the expression profile of the islet's response to pregnancy *in vivo*, a physiological state of insulin resistance, has been reported thus far.

In the first part of my thesis, I characterized the gene expression signature of pancreatic islets during pregnancy by performing large-scale expression profiling of islets isolated from 4- to 5-month-old non-pregnant and pregnant female mice at day 14.5 of gestation, the peak of β -cell proliferation. I identified a total of 1,907 genes as

differentially expressed, and demonstrated the induction of both proliferative and survival pathways in the islet during pregnancy. A comparison of our pregnancy gene set with two additional models of islet expansion suggests that diverse mechanisms can be recruited to expand islet mass. One of the genes that is required for β -cell proliferation during pregnancy in mice is the transcription factor HNF4 α .

In an attempt to translate knowledge gained using the pregnancy paradigm, I hypothesized that HNF4 α is a human β -cell mitogen. To address this question, in the second part of my thesis, I employed adenoviral-mediated overexpression of a pancreasspecific isoform of HNF4 α (HNF4 α 8) in primary human islets. HNF4 α 8 stimulated β cells to enter the cell cycle, and led to a greater than 300-fold increase in the number of β cells that entered S-phase, without detectable change in glucose stimulated insulin secretion. However, HNF4 α 8 overexpressing β -cells showed signs of cell cycle arrest, caused by activation of the DNA damage response associated with replication stress, ultimately resulting in a senescence-like phenotype independent of caspase-dependent apoptosis. Overexpression of HNF4 α 8 together with known β -cell mitogens, also further increased cell cycle entry of β -cells, strengthening the argument that HNF4 α 8 is a mitogenic signal in the human β -cell. Additionally, I observed a substantial proportion of β-cells stimulated to enter the cell cycle by CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 to also exhibit both markers of cell cycle arrest and double stranded DNA damage. In summary, the DNA damage response is a barrier to efficient human β -cell proliferation *in vitro*, and as such I suggest its evaluation in future attempts to stimulate β -cell replication.

Table of Contents

Chapter I: Introduction	1
Diabetes Mellitus as a candidate for cell replacement therapy	2
Homeostatic control of β-cell mass	7
Intracellular glucose metabolism controls β -cell proliferation	15
Reversible β-cell mass expansion during pregnancy	17
Regulation of the cell cycle in β -cells	22
Attempts to expand functional β -cells by proliferation <i>in vitro</i>	29
Maturity Onset Diabetes of the Young (MODY) transcription factors regulate	37
proliferation and survival in the adult β -cell	
Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor- 4α : The MODY1 Gene, β -cell function and β -cell	39
proliferation	
Summary and Specific Aims	47
References	49
Chapter II: The Transcriptional Response of the Islet	61
to Pregnancy in Mice	
Abstract	62
Introduction	63
Results	65
Discussion	87
Materials and Methods	92
Addendum	97

References	101
Chapter III: Overexpression of Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor- 4α	106
initiates cell cycle entry, but is not sufficient to promote β -cell	
expansion in human islets	
Abstract	107
Introduction	109
Results	111
Discussion	142
Materials and Methods	147
References	152
Chapter IV: Conclusions and Future Directions	157
Conclusions	158
Future Directions	167
References	177

List of Tables

Table 2.3:	73
MOST DIFFERENTIALLY EXPRESSED GENES DURING PREGNANCY	
DAY 14.5	
Table 2.7:	84
GENE ONTOLOGY (GO) FUNCTIONS SIGNIFICANTLY ENRICHED DURI	NG
PREGNANCY DAY 14.5	

List of Illustrations

Figure 1.1	5
THE MECHANISMS BY WHICH NEW FULLY FUNCTIONAL β -CELLS	
CAN BE GENERATED	
Figure 1.2	11
THE ANATOMY OF THE MOUSE AND HUMAN ISLET	
Figure 1.3	13
HOMEOSTATIC CONTROL OF β -CELL MASS IN RODENTS AND HUMAN	١S
Figure 1.4	20
β -CELL DYNAMICS DURING PREGNANCY IN THE MOUSE	
Figure 1.5	27
REGULATION OF β -CELL PROLIFERATION BY CELL CYCLE GENES	
Figure 1.6	35
CHALLENGES THAT NEED TO BE OVERCOME TO SUCCESSFULLY	
EXPAND FUNCTIONAL β -CELLS BY PROLIFERATION IN VITRO	
Figure 1.7	43
HNF4α ISOFORMS AND THEIR FUNCTIONAL DOMAINS	
Figure 1.8	45
LOCATION OF SNPS ASSOCIATED WITH LATE-ONSET TYPE 2	
DIABETES IN THE HNF4α LOCUS	

67 Figure 2.1: β-CELL PROLIFERATION WITH β-CELL HYPERTROPHY DRAMATICALLY INCREASE β-CELL MASS AT DAY 14.5 OF PREGNANCY IN MICE 69 Figure 2.2: HISTOLOGICAL ANALYSIS OF β -CELL PROLIFERATION, HYPERTROPHY, AND MASS AT DAY 14.5 DURING PREGNANCY 74 Figure 2.4: TEMPORAL GENE EXPRESSION ANALYSIS OF SELECTED DIFFERENTIALLY EXPRESSED GENES THROUGHOUT PREGNANCY 77 Figure 2.5: SEPARATION OF GFP+ AND GFP- POPULATIONS FROM MIP-GFP MICE Figure 2.6: 79 DIFFERENTIALLY EXPRESSED GENES IDENTIFIED IN THE ISLET ARE EXPRESSED IN β-CELLS DURING PREGNANCY DAY 14.5 85 Figure 2.8: GENE EXPRESSION PROFILES DIFFER BETWEEN THE PREGNANCY, OBESITY, AND β -CELL INJURY MODELS OF β -CELL REGENERATION 99 Figure 2.9: KNOWN MECHANISMS RESPONSIBLE FOR β-CELL GAIN DURING PREGNANCY Figure 3.1: 112 ADENOVIRAL OVEREXPRESSION OF HNF4α8 IN HUMAN β-CELLS

Figure 3.2:	116
HNF4 α^{HIGH} β-CELLS INCORPORATE BRDU IN A PUNCTATE, NOT	
DIFFUSE, MANNER	
Figure 3.3:	118
THE RATE OF PROLIFERATION OF $PDX1^+$ CELLS UPON RECEIPT OF	
HUMAN ISLET DONATIONS IS EXTREMELY LOW	
Figure 3.4:	122
HNF4 α^{HIGH} β-CELLS ARREST IN THE CELL CYCLE	
Figure 3.5:	127
OVEREXPRESSION OF HNF4 α 8 LEADS TO ACTIVATION OF THE DNA	
DAMAGE RESPONSE ASSOCIATED WITH REPLICATION STRESS	
Figure 3.6:	132
A SENESCENCE-LIKE PHENOTYPE IS THE PREDOMINANT FATE OF	
β-CELLS OVEREXPRESSING HNF4α8	
Figure 3.7:	136
HNF4α8 SYNERGIZES WITH FACTORS KNOWN TO BE SUFFICIENT FOR	
PROMOTING CELL CYCLE ENTRY IN HUMAN β -CELLS	
Figure 3.8:	140
OVEREXPRESSION OF CYCLIN D3 AND CDK6 ALSO ACTIVATES THE	
DNA DAMAGE RESPONSE IN HUMAN β-CELLS	
Figure 4.1:	165
A MODEL FOR β -CELL EXPANSION IN RESPONSE TO METABOLIC LOAD	DS

Figure 4.2:

DERIVATION OF A LOXP ALLELE FOR THE CONDITIONAL ABLATION OF CISH IN THE MOUSE

Chapter I:

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus as a candidate for cell replacement therapy

Diabetes mellitus is a metabolic disorder characterized by the loss of a single cell type, the insulin producing β -cell, which then leads to failed glucose homeostasis. The phenotype of chronic elevation of glucose in the bloodstream, shared by all forms of diabetes, can lead to severe and life-threatening complications including cardiovascular disease, renal disease, and blindness (1). Diabetes mellitus is characterized by either an absolute insulin deficiency due to the autoimmune destruction of pancreatic insulin-producing β -cells (type 1), or relative insulin deficiency due to diminished insulin secretion and/or decreased insulin sensitivity as a result of insulin resistance in peripheral tissues (type 2). Both forms of diabetes are caused by complex interactions between genetics, environment and lifestyle choices (2), and accepted forms of treatment for diabetes reflect two basic mechanisms whereby one can increase insulin secretion; to mimic the ability of the β -cell to secrete insulin in response to glucose by injections of recombinant insulin and increase β -cell mass in diabetic patients by islet transplantation.

Since the discovery of insulin in the 1920s by Dr. Frederick Banting and Dr. J.J.R. Macleod, tight control of glucose levels by use of an intensive exogenous insulin therapy can be achieved. However, while this improves the life of a diabetic patient considerably, with side effects including an increasing frequency of hypoglycemic episodes and a lack of prevention of long- term complications (1, 3), insulin therapy cannot provide the fine-tuned control of glucose homeostasis ensured by an individual's endogenous β -cell. It has been shown that both individuals with type 1 and type 2 diabetes show decreases in β -cell mass and increases in β -cell apoptosis (4-6). Additionally, studies of obese patients (including non-diabetic, pre-diabetic and diabetic

groups) reported an inverse relationship between blood glucose levels and β -cell volume below a certain threshold (7), illustrating that another important target in the treatment of diabetes mellitus is the correction of β -cell mass deficit.

Indeed in 1999, the Edmonton protocol, or first successful transplantation of cadaveric islets into brittle type 1 diabetic patients using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen resulting in temporary insulin independence (8), has caused a paradigm shift towards the development of diabetes therapies centered upon improving β -cell mass in diabetic patients. While being able to show insulin independence and near normal control of blood glucose levels for up to a year post- transplant (8, 9), transplant success has proven to be short-lived and accompanied by significant side effects, such as impairment of islet function (10), nephrotoxicity (11), and possibly also impairment of β cell proliferation (12), all caused from the use of immunosuppressive regimes themselves. Furthermore, the application of islet transplantation is limited by the current lack of sufficient organ availability and the availability of β -cells from deceased donors cannot meet the demand. The use of potential regeneration-compatible immunosuppressive drugs for islet transplantations, and alternative methods, such as tissue engineering (for example, growth of exogenous islets in an encapsulated coating designed to prevent rejection) (13, 14), are being investigated, and great interest into the mechanisms of β -cell proliferation has emerged.

Specifically, significant attention has been focused to the formation of new fully functional β -cells. Several methods of β -cell generation have been investigated including the replication of pre-existing β -cells (15), transdifferentiation of endoderm-derived cell populations (hepatocytes, enteroendocrine cells, α -cells, exocrine cells) (16, 17),

3

differentiation from progenitors (controversially thought to reside in ducts or originating during development and maintained into adulthood) (18, 19), and differentiation from human embryonic stem cells (hESC) *in vitro* (20) (Figure 1.1). For type 1 diabetes, being able to expand β -cell mass *ex vivo*, or *in vivo* after islet transplantation, could both increase the number of patients that can be treated with a limited supply of donor islets and improve the outcome after transplantation. For type 2 diabetes, the identification of targets and pathways that mediate proliferation and/or apoptosis might lead to the development of novel drugs that stimulate β -cell growth in the patient and thus allow for improved glycemic control.



Figure 1.1. The mechanisms by which new fully functional β -cells can be generated.

Figure 1.1. The mechanisms by which new fully functional β -cells can be generated. Approaches toward generating new β -cells for the treatment of type 2 diabetes or for cell replacement therapy for type 1 diabetes include the use of instructive cues to induce the replication of terminally differentiated β -cells *in vitro* or *in vivo*, the direct reprogramming of endoderm-derived cell populations into β -cells by transdifferentiation *in vitro* or *in vivo*, the differentiation of purified pancreatic progenitor cells *in vitro*, and differentiation of human embryonic stem cells (hESC) *in vitro*. Green-filled circles represent fully functional adult β -cells, blue stars represent terminally differentiated cells of endoderm origin, red circles represent pancreatic progenitor cells (potentially residing in the pancreatic ducts), and yellow stars represent human embryonic stem cells.

Homeostatic control of β-cell mass

The β -cell population is restricted to the endocrine pancreas or islets of Langerhans, and is required for insulin production and secretion. The exocrine pancreas is composed predominantly of acinar cells which secrete digestive enzymes, and duct cells which transport these digestive enzymes out of the pancreas and into the duodenum. The endocrine pancreas is highly innervated by blood vessels and apart from endothelial cells, nerves and fibroblasts, is primarily composed of five endocrine cell types: the glucagon producing α -cell, insulin producing β -cell, somatostatin producing δ -cell, pancreatic polypeptide producing pp-cell, and ghrelin producing ϵ -cell. Together, the islets constitute about 1-2% of total pancreas volume, and range in size from just a few cells to several thousand cells (21). It should be noted that the three dimensional islet structure and relationship between endocrine cells differ between rodent and human islets, however, the significance of this concerning the maintenance of β -cell mass is unknown (Figure 1.2) (22, 23).

An organism''s β -cell mass is determined by the product of the number and size of its pancreatic β -cells. In adult mammals, β -cell mass is maintained by the balance between cell renewal and growth (cell replication, hypertrophy, neogenesis), and cell loss (cell death, atrophy, autophagy) (Figure 1.3A). It is well established that adult pancreatic β -cells replicate very slowly after the establishment of β -cell mass during the neonatal period (a period of high β -cell replication rates both in rodents and in humans) (24-26). The absolute death rate of β -cells is extremely low, and counters the slow rate of β -cell replication (27). While the length of the replication refractory period (a period during which post-mitotic adult β -cells are prevented from immediately reentering the cell cycle) is a subject of controversy (28, 29), a recent study demonstrates that all β -cells of an islet are similarly capable of numerous cell divisions (30), agreeing with gradual β -cell mass expansion as rodents age (31, 32). In addition, it is now known that adult β -cells can dynamically respond to systemic increases in insulin demand (here defined as an increase in metabolic load) by dramatically expanding their functional mass, at least in rodents and with limited certainty in humans, as seen during aging (32-34), pregnancy (35-37), obesity (38, 39), genetic insulin resistance (40), and even during hyperglycemic circumstances in models of β -cell loss (12, 41) and in both short- and long-term type 1 diabetic patients (an example of autoimmune β -cell loss in humans) (6, 42).

Current evidence suggests that dysregulation of the balance of β -cell gain (proliferation) and loss (cell death) mechanisms is an essential feature in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus. For example, a subset of obese individuals is unable to compensate for insulin resistance, and thus develop type 2 diabetes mellitus. In an attempt to explain why this occurs, gene expression studies identified a cell cycle regulatory module in islets that distinguishes between diabetes-resistant and diabetes-susceptible strains of leptin-deficient *Ob/Ob* mice, and successfully predicts their predisposition to diabetes onset (43). In line with this, a recent study comparing obese non-diabetic and type 2 diabetic human donors, correlates non-diabetic obesity with an increase in β -cell volume and proliferation, and obese individuals with type 2 diabetes with heightened rate of β -cell apoptosis without increases in β -cell volume and proliferation (44). Indeed, apoptotic β -cells are often organized in pairs in pancreatic tissue sections from type 2 diabetics, a finding that has been interpreted as β -cell apoptosis following mitosis as a mechanism of β -cell death (45). Thus, in this case, a β -cell renewal mechanism is attempted but is

overcome by β -cell loss, suggesting that diabetes onset is a result of a failure of β -cell expansion rather than a decrease in existing β -cell mass only.

While the ability of the pancreas to modulate β -cell mass is certain, the source of new endocrine cells in response to increased metabolic loads remains unclear and controversial. The use of lineage tracing in recent studies has clearly demonstrated the origin of newly derived β-cells in many physiological and pathological settings (Figure 1.3B). For example, evidence of neogenesis (the production of new β -cells arising from the differentiation of progenitors) was limited for a long time to the detection of insulinpositive cells within the ductal epithelium (46). However, a recent genetic lineage tracing experiment, showing that cells expressing Cre recombinase under the control of the carbonic anhydrase II promoter (a gene expressed at high levels in duct cells), strengthens the argument that a portion of β -cells can arise from the ductal compartment after birth and after pancreatic injury (18). Furthermore, the fetal differentiation program, as marked by Cre recombinase under the control of the bHLH factor Ngn3, can be reactivated in the adult mouse by the extreme injury stimulus of pancreatic duct ligation (47), though not in response to the milder insult of partial pancreatectomy (48). Similarly, the endodermderived α -cell, as marked by Yellow Fluorescent Protein under the control of glucagon expression, can spontaneously transdifferentiate into insulin-producing cells after extreme β -cell loss in mice (41). Nevertheless, genetic lineage tracing studies performed in the young adult mouse indicate that the great majority of new β -cells throughout adulthood and either after partial pancreatectomy or conditional ablation of β -cells are derived through the homogenous replication of pre-existing *B*-cells and few, if any, newly formed β -cells stem from progenitor populations (12, 15, 28, 49). This highlights the

importance of proliferation in the normal maintenance of β -cell mass, at least in rodents. Of note, while the length of the post-replication quiescence period is prolonged with age, it is shortened during times β -cell regeneration, for example, after conditional ablation of β -cells (30).

There remains controversy regarding what β -cell gain mechanisms are dominant physiologically in humans, and the ultimate decision of which mechanism is best utilized to make new fully functional β -cells is still an unanswered question. In the next sections, I will concentrate on the generation of new β -cells through the replication of pre-existing β -cells using the pregnancy paradigm as an example, with the ultimate goal of deriving a well-defined, step-by-step protocol to drive efficient non-oncogenic expansion of human β -cells purified from donor pancreata *in vitro*.



Figure 1.2: Anatomy of the mouse and human islet.

Figure 1.2: Anatomy of the mouse and human islet. Mouse islets exhibit a high degree of cell segregation, favoring β - and α -cell homologous contacts (C). In striking contrast to the "core-mantle" organization of mouse islets, human islets display β -cells intermingled with α - and δ -cells, with frequent heterologous interactions between β - and α -cells (A). Additionally, (D) adult human islets have fewer β -cells, but more α -cells, than mouse islets (23). α -cells are colored in green, β -cells in red and δ -cells in blue.



Figure 1.3: Homeostatic control of β-cell mass in rodents and humans.

Figure 1.3: Homeostatic control of β-cell mass in rodents and humans. (A) Control of β -cell mass (the fulcrum of the balance) is based on the relative contribution of processes that result in β -cell gain (replication, hypertrophy, neogenesis) and β -cell loss (death, atrophy, autophagy). A net increase in β -cell mass occurs when mechanisms involved in β -cell gain exceed those of β -cell loss. (B) This section depicts the experimental evidence in rodents and humans of β -cell gain mechanisms during adaptive increases in β -cell mass (neonatal period, pregnancy, obesity, and β -cell recovery after injury). This highlights the plasticity of the β -cell"s ability to increase its mass during different physiological and pathophysiological (hyperglycemic) states and the relatively large amount of knowledge that remains to be uncovered, especially with respect to human β cell biology. While the rodent evidence for neogenesis during the neonatal period and after injury is from work by Dr. Susan Bonner-Weir and colleagues (31, 50), this data is under much scrutiny based on recent lineage tracing showing that no β -cells originate from the pancreatic ductal epithelium during both instances (51). Dark squares represent evidence for β -cell gain mechanism only in rodent models; white squares represent evidence found only in human autopsy pancreatic samples; striped squares represent evidence both in rodents and humans; and question mark squares denote that there is no current evidence.

Intracellular glucose metabolism controls β-cell proliferation

β-cells compensate for increased systemic demands for insulin by both an increase in insulin secretory capacity, and an increase in β -cell mass. Recent studies suggest that these two processes are inherently linked. While the exact mechanisms underlying these processes are controversial, there is evidence that an unknown circulating factor in insulin resistant animals induces β -cell proliferation in transplanted islet grafts (52). Not excluding the importance of insulin signaling with respect to β -cell proliferation, glucose is a possible candidate for this factor since it is well established that glucose infusion, i.e. food intake, increases β -cell proliferation in mice (53). When glucose enters the bloodstream, the workload imposed on a β -cell (the net insulin secretion per β -cell as regulated by intracellular glucose metabolism) increases in order to maintain euglycemia. Briefly, the catabolism of glucose principally through glucokinase (Gck) and glycolysis raises the intracellular ATP concentration, which leads to the closing of ATP-dependent potassium channels (K_{ATP}), depolarizing the plasma membrane and opening voltage-gated calcium channels, allowing calcium to enter the β cell, and triggering insulin release by exocytosis. A negative feedback loop indirectly restricts insulin release on the same β -cell, as insulin lowers blood glucose by stimulating glucose uptake by peripheral tissues. The reduced blood glucose is detected by the β -cell as a diminished glycolytic flux, slowing the release of insulin, and holding blood glucose nearly constant despite large fluctuations in dietary intake (21, 54).

Recent studies have demonstrated that β -cell proliferation rates are also controlled by the intracellular glucose metabolism (the rate of glycolysis of the β -cell itself) (55). Based upon the β -cell workload model, several predictions about β -cell proliferation can

be made in response to metabolic load. First, increasing glycolytic flux in the β -cell increases β -cell replication. For example, if systemic insulin demand is constant, decreasing β-cell mass would increase the workload of the remaining β-cells, increasing their compensatory proliferation rates. Conversely, an excess of functional β-cells would lead to a reduced glucose metabolism per β -cell and a reduced β -cell proliferation rate. In line with this, wildtype mice into which additional wildtype islets have been transplanted show decreased endogenous β -cell proliferation (55). Second, if glucose metabolism is blocked, as in diabetic patients exhibiting mutations in glucokinase and the KATP channel (56, 57), extracellular glucose levels would uncouple from the intracellular metabolic flux of the β-cell. Indeed, β-cells lacking glucokinase do not respond to a hyperglycemic environment and instead behave as if exposed to hypoglycemia, exhibiting blunted glycolytic flux and decreased β -cell proliferation (55). Conversely, a patient with an activating mutation in glucokinase exhibits increased β -cell proliferation (57). These data show that metabolic demand during adult life is a key determinant of cell cycle re-entry of the β -cell. This suggests that adjusting β -cell number is equally as important as increasing insulin secretion in successfully maintaining euglycemia during states of physiological insulin resistance, as occurs during pregnancy.

<u>Reversible β -cell mass expansion during pregnancy</u>

It has been recognized for decades that increased β -cell mass is an adaptation to the progressive insulin resistance related to increased fetal burden that develops during pregnancy in women (35, 36, 58). The precise mechanism of β -cell mass expansion, i.e. proliferation, neogenesis or increase in size, has been elucidated only in part (Figure 1.4) (36, 59, 60). However, as with obese individuals, based on rodent studies, when compensatory β -cell mass expansion fails during gestation, diabetes results (61). Interestingly, long-term follow-up studies show that a significant percentage of women who are diabetic during pregnancy develop type 2 diabetes later in life, emphasizing that the ability of β -cells to successfully adapt to increases in metabolic load is a common theme for preventing both gestational diabetes and type 2 diabetes (62).

In addition to the increased sensitivity of the β -cell to secrete insulin in response to glucose during gestation, studies in rodents found a 2-fold increase in β -cell mass and demonstrated that β -cell proliferation also increases dramatically during pregnancy (Figure 1.4A-B) (35, 63). The peak of bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) incorporation, an indicator of DNA synthesis during S-phase, occurs about two-thirds of the way through the gestational period, with labeling returning to pre-pregnancy levels shortly before parturition. Notably, this peak in DNA synthesis coincides with increased placental lactogen (PL) levels, suggesting that lactogenic activity is vital for the ability of β -cells to enhance proliferation and function in response to pregnancy (Figure 1.4D) (35, 58). Furthermore, studies in primary human islets demonstrate that lactogen treatment increases insulin secretion and islet cell proliferation (64). Of note, both morphometric and DNA-to-protein ratio methods indicate β -cell hypertrophy in addition to β -cell hyperplasia as a mechanism towards β -cell expansion during pregnancy in rodents (65, 66). Intriguingly, β -cell mass returns to normal levels within ten days after birth through increased β -cell apoptosis, decreased proliferation and reduced β -cell size (Figure 1.4C) (59, 60). In spite of the small case size considered, β -cell mass has also been shown in a recent study to increase by 40% in pregnant women (37). Although the molecular mechanisms underlying these processes are not yet known, the pregnancy paradigm is a unique example of rapid and reversible β -cell mass expansion, with distinct bursts of both β -cell proliferation and β -cell apoptosis occurring in a physiological setting.

As a proof of principle for direct regulation of β -cell proliferation by placental lactogens, overexpression of PL in the β -cell caused a dramatic increase in β -cell proliferation and β -cell mass, even resulting in hypoglycemia (67). Similarly, global deletion of the prolactin receptor (*Prlr*), through which placental lactogens signal, reduces β -cell mass and mildly impairs insulin secretion in non-pregnant mice (68). The requirement of the prolactin receptor for β -cell adaptation during pregnancy was demonstrated using pregnant mice heterozygous for the prolactin receptor null mutation. These mice exhibited reduced β -cell proliferation, decreased β -cell size and mass, and impaired glucose tolerance (66). Interestingly, the maternal genotype had a significant effect on the phenotype of female offspring that became pregnant, as assessed by heightened serum glucose levels (66), suggesting that *in utero* exposure to impaired glucose homeostasis alters the epigenetic memory of β -cells (69).

These findings provide a link to the well-known phenomenon that the intrauterine milieu affects the glucose homeostasis and the capacity of β -cell mass to expand when

facing insulin resistance in the adult (69, 70). Indeed, individuals born to mothers with gestational diabetes mellitus have a higher risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes (71). Epidemiological studies in humans show very clearly how caloric intake by the mother affects the future glycemic health of the child. Intrauterine growth retardation in rodents is an experimental approach that has been used to investigate this phenomenon on the molecular level. In this model, epigenetic marks at the promoter of the β -cell transcription factor *Pdx1* were found to be altered in the offspring of dams in which the uterine arteries had been ligated, causing intrauterine growth retardation (72). Again, it is clear that the metabolic state of the fetus determines the epigenetic fate of the β -cell, and highlights the importance of understanding the physiological mechanisms underlying maternal β -cell expansion during pregnancy.

Although activation of multiple signaling pathways (such as Stat5, Mapk and classic insulin signaling mediators, such as phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, Insulin response substrate 1/2 and Akt) enhances β -cell compensation downstream of the prolactin receptor *in vitro* (73-75), it is not clear whether placental lactogens stimulate these pathways *in vivo*. In addition, Stat5- dependent downregulation of the tumor suppressor gene menin (Men1) and subsequent inhibition of p18 and p27 are crucial events in β -cell expansion during pregnancy (76). While substantial progress has been made in elucidating the contribution of selected genes to β -cell compensation during pregnancy, no systematic study investigating the global expression profile of islets in response to pregnancy exists to consider which mechanisms specifically drive β -cell replication during pregnancy *in vivo*.



Figure 1.4: β-cell dynamics during pregnancy in the mouse.

Figure 1.4: β-cell dynamics during pregnancy in the mouse. (A) β-cell mass is increased by (B) β-cell replication during the first two-thirds of gestation. After parturition, maternal β -cell mass returns to non-pregnant levels by (C) β -cell apoptosis, which increases through the end of pregnancy and is still detected 4-6 days after birth. The graphs represent approximate changes in these processes before pregnancy (red, nonpregnant), over the course of pregnancy (light purple) and post-partum (green), and show what is believed to occur during rodent pregnancy based on previous studies. (D) Total serum lactogenic hormone levels (such as placental lactogens) during pregnancy in the mother are increased from gestational day 10 to 20, pointing to their key role in the adaptation of the islet to pregnancy. Specifically, of the two identified rodent placental lactogens, levels of PL-I peak at mid-gestation. As such, PL-I is considered to be the first trigger to enhance β-cell proliferation and function, while PL-II is initially detectable on day 12 of gestation and does not reach peak levels until closer to delivery (35, 77). Additionally, it is thought that steroid hormones present at relative high levels at day 19 of pregnancy, such as progesterone, counteract the stimulatory effects of elevated lactogenic activity on β -cell proliferation during the last third of pregnancy (58, 78).

Regulation of β -cell proliferation by cell cycle genes

The cell cycle of the adult β -cell is comprised of four phases: (i) The first gap (G₁) growth phase, (ii) the DNA synthesis (S) phase, (iii) the second gap (G_2) phase, and (iv) the mitotic (M) phase (Figure 1.5). The expression of regulatory subunits called cyclins fluctuates periodically throughout the cell cycle. The association of distinct cyclins with specific cyclin-dependent kinases (cdks) activates the catalytic activity of their cdk partners, and powers the cell through different phases of the cell cycle. Mitogenic stimulation initiates exit from quiescence cells (G_0) , entry into G_1 -phase of the cell cycle and up-regulation of D-type cyclins. Cyclin D complexes with its catalytic partner Cdk4 and/or Cdk6 to execute critical regulatory events in G₁- phase. E-type cyclin expression is up-regulated next, enabling the binding and activation of Cdk2. Together, these active Cyclin/Cdk complexes inactivate the retinoblastoma protein (Rb)by hyperphosphorylating it and/or both of its functional homologs (p107 and p130). This facilitates progression through S-phase by the subsequent release of the E2F family of transcription factors and the transcription of their target genes, including A-type cyclins, allowing for the formation of the Cyclin A/Cdk2 complex. During G₂- and M-phase, both A-type and B-type cyclins associate with and activate the kinase activity of Cdk1 that is required for progression through mitosis. Inactivation of Cdk1 in late mitosis, by the decreasing availability of appropriate cyclins contributes to reset the cell to G_1 -phase (79, 80).

Surveillance mechanisms called checkpoints impose quality control in the cell cycle to ensure that a cell has properly completed all the requisite steps of one phase

before it is allowed to proceed into the next phase (Figure 1.5). For instance, a cell will not be permitted to enter into S-phase until all G₁ processes have been properly completed, for example the licensing of replication origins to form a pre-replicative complex (81). Entry into G_2 -phase is blocked until a cell's entire chromosomal DNA has been properly replicated. Furthermore, an activated checkpoint will not allow a cell to enter into anaphase, when the paired chromatids are pulled apart, until all of its chromosomes are properly assembled on the mitotic spindle during metaphase. In addition, a cell is not allowed to advance into S- or M-phase if its DNA has been damaged and not yet repaired. Cell cycle arrest is achieved during checkpoint activation by two families of inhibitory kinases, the inhibitors of Cdk4 (INK4s) and the cyclin inhibitory proteins (CIPs) or kinase inhibitory proteins (KIPs), which physically associate with Cyclin/Cdk complexes to block their kinase activities. The INK4s include p15^{ink4b}, p16^{ink4a}, p18^{ink4c} and p19^{ink4d}, and specifically inhibit the activity of the Cdk4/6-Cyclin D complex present during G_1 /S-phase. The CIP/ KIP family which includes $p21^{cip1}$, $p27^{kip1}$ and p57kip2 inhibit the activity of Cyclin E/Cdk2, Cyclin A/Cdk2, Cyclin A/Cdk1 and Cyclin B/Cdk1 activity present during later stages of the cell cycle. On the other hand, sequestration of p21^{cip1} into Cyclin D/Cdk4 complexes alleviates p21^{cip1}- mediated inhibition of Cyclin E/Cdk2 activity and promotes G_1/S phase transit. Of note, it is thought that once cells have passed the restriction point in late G₁-phase, they no longer require extracellular mitogenic cues to complete the cell cycle (80).

There is overwhelming evidence that cell cycle genes controlling the G_1 /S-phase transition in the cell cycle are likely central to the control of β -cell proliferation. While the importance of other cell cycle genes regulating other aspects of the cell cycle such as
the G_2/M -phase transition cannot be understated, unfortunately there is a lack of investigation into their predicted role in the β -cell. Indeed, the vast majority of cell cycle genes governing G_1 - and S-phase are expressed in mouse and human islets (82, 83). However, it is worth noting that there are important differences in the activity profile of cell cycle genes between human and mouse islets. Fiaschi-Taesch and colleagues catalogued the G_1/S proteome of the human islet and found that Cdk4 and Cdk6 are expressed at comparable levels, whereas only Cdk4 was found in the mouse (84).

Perturbation of G_1 /S-phase cell cycle regulators in the β -cell by the use of genetic mouse models yields either deficiency or unconstrained proliferation (Figure 1.5). While many tissues are unaffected by the global deletion of Cdk4 in mice, islets displayed β -cell hypoplasia, leading to diabetes (85). This phenotype can be rescued by replacing the endogenous *Cdk4* locus with a constitutively active form of Cdk4 still under the control of its endogenous promoter. Again, this mouse yielded a restricted phenotype, showing marked β -cell hyperplasia leading to islet neoplasms (86). Additionally, global ablation of both *Cyclin D2* alleles in combination with a single allele of *Cyclin D1* result in greatly reduced β -cell mass and β -cell proliferation after birth, and severe diabetes by 3 months of age (87). Conversely, overexpression of Cyclin D1 is frequently seen in human pancreatic endocrine tumors (88). Mice with β -cell specific ablation of Rb and global deletion of p130 leads to unrestrained cell cycle reentry as well as activation of apoptosis (89). Together the aforementioned studies demonstrate that the D-type Cyclin/Cdk4/ phospho-Rb pathway is required for β -cell replication during adult growth in the mouse.

Interestingly, the decreased capacity with age of the β -cell to expand by proliferation in response to injury or a high-fat diet correlates with epigenetic changes at

the *Cdkn2a* locus, which encodes the INK4 members $p16^{ink4a}$ and $p19^{ink4d}$ (34, 90, 91). In fact, manipulation of $p16^{ink4a}$ expression in transgenic mice dramatically alters the proliferative capacity of β -cells, precisely as would be expected if $p16^{ink4a}$ limits proliferation in aging β -cells (92). Furthermore, recent genome-wide association studies link both CDKN2A ($p16^{ink4a}$) and CDKN2B ($p15^{ink4b}$) to the risk of type 2 diabetes (93), illustrating that G_1 /S-phase cell cycle regulators are not only important in rodent β -cell proliferation, but also during the ontogeny of type 2 diabetes.

Finally, a complete picture encompassing all the signaling pathways that control many of the mentioned cell cycle regulators in the β -cell is still not attained (Figure 1.5). For example, while it is acknowledged that prolactin (PRL) signaling via the Jak2/Stat5 pathway increases expression of Cyclin D2, it is not known whether this is the only or most important mechanism for cell cycle activation in the β -cell during pregnancy *in vivo* (94). A known upstream regulator of cell cycle genes is the multiple endocrine neoplasia (MEN) type 1 syndrome protein, menin. Mice deficient in menin specifically in β -cells lead to the development of dramatic β -cell hyperplasia, and islet tumors (95). Increased rates of β -cell proliferation are observed, and associated with reduced expression of p18^{ink4c} and p27^{kip1}, both downstream targets of menin- dependent histone methylation (96). Additionally, the transcription factor p53 is thought, among other functions, to be a tumor suppressor, exemplified by its target gene p21^{Cip1}. Unlike parental mice containing either Rb-null or p53-null alleles, mice both heterozygous for Rb and null for p53, develop frequent insulinomas similar to menin-deficiency (97, 98). These studies demonstrate that p53 in addition to Rb is a critical upstream checkpoint of the cell cycle of the β -cell. As we continue to learn about the complexity of cell cycle control in the β - cell whether extrinsic or intrinsic, the next challenge will be to identify the most feasible and appropriate β -cell mitogens for driving cell cycle entry and progression in human β -cells *in vitro*.



Figure 1.5: Regulation of β-cell proliferation by cell cycle genes.

Figure 1.5: Regulation of β-cell proliferation by cell cycle genes. An overview of the proteins that control β-cell cycle with emphasis on the G_1 /S-phase transition. The "P" in the yellow circle indicates phosphorylation. The "R" next to the red line indicates the G_1 /S- and G_2 /M-phase checkpoints, respectively. All of the genes are discussed in the body of the text. It should be noted, as indicated by the yet unexplained observation that embryonic and adult cell division seem to be regulated independently (99, 100), that the study of cell cycle control in the β-cell is still incomplete.

Attempts to expand functional β -cell mass by proliferation *in vitro*

Initial efforts to expand functional β -cells by proliferation have not been successful. Lineage tracing in purified mouse islets demonstrates that β -cells divide very slowly, undergo gradual dedifferentiation to an insulin-, Pdx1-, and Glut2- negative state, and are eventually replaced by cells of non- β -cell origin *in vitro* (101). In spite of this, lineage tracing of primary adult human β -cells with a Cre-loxP system demonstrates that dedifferentiated human β -cells, but not mouse, can be grown in culture for up to 16 passages (102). It is clear that spontaneous replication in primary human islets is ultimately halted over time by cellular senescence, which is characterized by loss of differentiated function (103). However, the redifferentiation of cells derived from adult human β -cells expanded in culture could provide a sufficient number of β -cells needed for islet transplantation at the current availability of human islet donors (104). Understanding the molecular mechanisms involved in β -cell fate *in vitro* is critical for attempts to redifferentiate these cells back into functional glucose-sensing, insulin releasing β -cells after expansion (105).

Because primary β -cells do not proliferate in culture, attempts to bypass the senescence program have been made by immortalizing pancreatic β -cells through the forced expression of oncogenes such as the human homologue of the retrotranscriptase subunit (hTERT), simian virus large T antigen (SV40T), and constitutively activated Ras (106). While some attempts to do this still lead to dedifferentiation of human β -cells (107), the use of reversible immortalization strategy for expansion of human islets has produced a human pancreatic β -cell line that appears functionally equivalent to primary

pancreatic β -cells. Although many safeguards were used to eliminate the possibility of developing tumorigenesis in this human β -cell line, the large scale cell growth needed to meet the amount of cells required for islet transplantation therapy might result in somatic mutations leading to increased cancer risk in the patient (108). Indeed, the cell cycle regulators one might hope will be sufficient to drive cell cycle progression in the β -cell, such as the G₁/S-phase mediators described previously, are themselves members of oncogenic pathways. Whether forced cell cycle entry by these molecules allows non-oncogenic and safe progression of the cell cycle in the β -cell remains an important unanswered question.

With the increased understanding of cell cycle regulation in the past five years, it has become clear what single or a combination of potential human β -cell mitogens need to accomplish to successfully expand functional human β -cell mass by proliferation *in vitro* (Figure 1.6A). First, a β -cell cycle regulator must stimulate entrance into the cell cycle (exit from G₀- and entry into G₁-phase), and ensure that precise duplication of the genome is achieved to maintain genomic stability (progression from G₁- into and through S-phase). Without cell cycle entry, the β -cell would stay in G₀-phase. Also, in addition to the required high fidelity of DNA polymerases, the cell must be able to distinguish between replicated and unreplicated DNA during G₁-phase to ensure the precise duplication of chromosomal DNA during S-phase of a single cell cycle. If the chromosome is likely to be broken near the unreplicated region upon sister chromatid separation during anaphase. The firing of a replication origin more than once would lead to re-replication of the DNA in the vicinity of the over-firing origin, and if initiated sufficiently close together can undergo head-to-tail collision and lead to extruded double stranded DNA fragments (109, 110). Of note, an additional level of yet unclear regulation exists during S-phase called the "replication timing program" in which sequential patterns of domains containing discrete foci or factories of DNA synthesis occur during the course of S-phase (111).

The licensing of replication origins by the stable binding of the "pre-replicative complex" (Pre-RC) only during G₁-phase affords the cell the ability to distinguish between active and inactive replication origins, defined here as a site on chromosomal DNA where a bidirectional pair of replication forks initiate (81, 109). The major component of the Pre-RC are the mini-chromosome maintenance 2-7 proteins (Mcm2-7), whose binding onto origin DNA is essential for the replication origin to be able to initiate a pair of replication forks. Mcm2-7 is thought to function as a DNA helicase traveling ahead of the replication fork, as it is subsequently displaced from origin DNA as forks are initiated. Therefore the Mcm2-7 complex is never associated with replicated DNA, precluding the origin from being fired again during later phases of the cell cycle (81). Furthermore, the down-regulation of other components of the Pre-RC complex at the G_1/S -phase transition such as chromatin licensing and DNA replication factor 1 (Cdt1), thought to be the rate-limiting factor responsible for loading of the replicative Mcmhelicase onto DNA, is critical to preventing re-licensing of replicated origins (110). While there is no formal way of distinguishing early G_1 -phase from G_0 , the detection of Mcm2-7 expression is a potentially powerful way of assessing cell cycle entry of β -cells (109).

To date, experiments in primary human islets provide the proof of principle that human β -cells can be stimulated to enter the cell cycle *in vitro*, confirming recent human cadaver studies which determined that β -cell proliferation occurs neonatally (26) and in increased frequency with greater proximity to pancreatic tumors (112). For example, overexpression of a D-type Cyclin with its partner Cdk clearly stimulates β -cells to enter the cell cycle, as assessed by BrdU incorporation, and Ki67 expression, a thymidine analog marker of S-phase and a marker of late G₁- to M-phase, respectively (83, 113). In addition, overexpression of other regulators of the G_1/S -phase transition, such as E2F1 in primary rat islets also leads to activation of multiple phases of the cell cycle, as assessed by BrdU incorporation, Ki67 expression and phosphorylation of histone H3 (pHH3), a phosphorylation event that occurs in M-phase (114). Other examples of factors sufficient for induction of multiple phases of the cell cycle in primary human β -cells include overexpression of CYCLIN E in combination with CDK2, FOXM1, Nkx6.1, and parathyroid hormone- related protein (PTHrP) (115-117). While it is clear that human β cells can be forced to enter the cell cycle *in vitro*, no assessment of genomic stability has yet been demonstrated.

As implied in the previous section, progression through the remaining cell cycle phases and subsequent cell cycle exit depend primarily on the successful completion of activities during G_1 - and S-phase, namely the precise duplication of chromosomal DNA during S-phase (Figure 1.6A). Conversely, genomic instability resulting from DNA breaks generated during DNA replication (defined here as replication stress) can activate a G_1 /S-phase checkpoint, also referred to as the DNA damage response (Figure 1.6B). Of the first responders to replication stress, two proteins are activated by phosphorylation; ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) and ATR (ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3-related protein). These PI3K-like kinases in turn phosphorylate many adaptors and sensors, including gamma-H2AX (γH2AX) on serine 139 which recognizes double stranded DNA breaks and marks megabase lengths of DNA adjacent to break sites, and checkpoint-transducer serine/threonine kinases, Chk1 and 2 (118). Originally thought to obey strict phosphorylation dependence, Chk1 on ATR and Chk2 on ATM, crosstalk among these kinases have now been documented (119). Activated ATM and ATR, directly phosphorylate the p53 transcription factor within its amino-terminal transactivation domain, specifically on serine 15. Also, Chk 1 and 2 converge on p53 phosphorylation, particularly threonine 18 and serine 20. Serine 15 phosphorylation of p53 inhibits Mdm2 binding, an ubiquitin ligase that ensures rapid p53 turnover (118). Together these modifications lead to the stabilization and subsequent accumulation of p53 protein in response to DNA damage.

Once expressed, p53 functions as an integrator of diverse stress signals into different cellular outcomes, including cell cycle arrest, senescence, DNA repair, and apoptosis (120) (Figure 1.6B). For example, the transcriptional upregulation of its target gene $p21^{Cip1}$ silences the activation of the Cyclin E/Cdk2 kinase, blocking the inactivation of Rb, leading to G₁/S-phase cell cycle arrest in an attempt to give time for DNA repair mechanisms to repair DNA damage (118). However, the exact response of the cell to sustained p53 expression depends on the combination of, among others; cell-type, tissue-type, type of stimulus, protein localization, and regulation of target gene selection (120). Indeed, in support of the DNA damage response being utilized in the β -cell, a mouse model deficient in nonhomologous end-joining (NHEJ) and expressing a

hypomorphic mutant of p53, defective in apoptosis but not in cell cycle arrest, develops diabetes. In these mice, β -cell mass is progressively depleted due to accumulated DNA damage (sustained γ H2AX expression), promoting a decrease in β -cell proliferation through p53/p21-dependent cell cycle arrest (121). In addition, interventions that activate the cell cycle in β -cells can also activate cell death pathways. For example, β -cell specific overexpression of the oncogene c-Myc in transgenic mice not only increases β -cell proliferation, but also increases apoptosis leading to the development of diabetes (122). Furthermore, while sufficient to induce progression through one cell cycle, the ultimate fate of primary rat β -cells overexpressing E2F1 is apoptosis (114). Multiple demonstrated (dedifferentiation, apoptosis, senescence) and potential barriers (DNA damage response) to attempted β -cell proliferation exist, and unfortunately, an *in vitro* protocol for efficient, step-wise non-oncogenic stimulation of human β -cell proliferation to completion remains elusive.



Figure 1.6: Challenges that need to be overcome to successfully expand functional βcells by proliferation *in vitro*.

Figure 1.6: Challenges that need to be overcome to successfully expand functional βcells by proliferation *in vitro*. (A) To successfully replicate, a sufficiency factor would have to (1) enter the cell cycle, and license DNA at each replication origin, (2) properly duplicate chromosomal DNA, (3) progress through G_2/M - phases, and (4) exit the cell cycle. We use this as a model and basis for characterization of potential β-cell mitogens. (B) An oversimplified model of the DNA damage response pathway, showing the main mediators of the double stranded DNA stimulus to cellular outcome. Briefly, ATM/ATR are activated by double stranded DNA damage, and phosphorylate their targets, γH2AX, and Chk1/2. Chk1/2 in turn with ATM/ATR stabilizes p53 expression. Depending on many variables, p53 can activate diverse processes such as cell cycle arrest, senescence, DNA repair and apoptosis.

<u>Maturity Onset Diabetes of The Young (MODY) transcription factors</u> <u>regulate proliferation and survival in the adult β-cell</u>

Maturity onset diabetes of the young (MODY) is a monogenic form of type 2 diabetes. The clinical criteria used to characterize MODY include (a) diagnosis before 25 years of age in at least one family member, (b) autosomal dominant inheritance pattern and (c) defects in insulin secretion (123). Mutations in at least six identified genes define the molecular genetic etiology of MODY. All encode various transcription factors including hepatocyte nuclear factor 4α (HNF4 α ; MODY1), hepatocyte nuclear factor 1α (HNF1α; MODY3), pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 (Pdx1; MODY4), hepatocyte nuclear factor 1β (HNF1β; MODY5) and neurogenic differentiation factor 1 (NeuroD1; MODY6), except for glucokinase (Gck; MODY2), a glycolytic enzyme important for glucose sensing (124). The identification of glucokinase as a type 2 diabetes susceptibility gene highlights MODY as an attractive model for studying the multifactorial polygenic disorder of type 2 diabetes (125). It is now clear that mutations in the different MODY genes result in clinical heterogeneity. While the frequency of specific MODY gene mutations varies in MODY families from different countries, the high percentage of the diabetic phenotype in carriers heterozygous for a MODY mutation indicates the high penetrance of all known mutations (126, 127). Since the diabetic phenotype of not all MODY families can be explained by the existing MODY genes, additional MODY genes have been described such as kruppel-like factor 11 (Klf11; MODY 7), carboxyl ester lipase (Cel; MODY8), and paired box 4 (Pax4; MODY9) (126, 128-130).

MODY genes, well known for their role in glucose stimulated insulin secretion, have been shown recently to be involved with β -cell mass homeostasis through the regulation of proliferation and survival pathways. A recent study indicates that the rate of β -cell proliferation is controlled by glycolysis or workload placed on an individual β -cell, rather than blood glucose per se, linking together two previously assumed separate cellular functions of the β -cell (55). Furthermore, it seems that the modulation of glucokinase (MODY2) activity through genetic deletion or pharmacological activation, is key to determining the rates of β -cell proliferation during adulthood, high fat diet and following β -cell injury (55, 131). However, in line with the known toxicity of high concentrations of glucose on β -cells (132), a human patient exhibiting an activating mutation in glucokinase exhibits not only enhanced replication but also increased apoptosis, although the reason for β -cell death is unknown (57). Indeed, mice haploinsufficient for Pdx1 (MODY4) show blunted β -cell mass expansion in response to high fat diet through increased endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-stress induced apoptosis (133). Also, Pax4 (MODY9) protects adult β -cells from stress-induced apoptosis (134). Together these studies of MODY genes demonstrate the importance of further identifying molecular players leading to β -cell proliferation and/or β -cell survival during times of increased metabolic demand.

Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor- 4α: The MODY1 Gene, β-cell function and β-cell proliferation

Hepatocyte nuclear factor 4α (HNF4 α) is a highly conserved family member of the nuclear receptor superfamily of transcription factors. A typical nuclear receptor is characterized by a variable amino-terminal transactivation domain (AF-1; A/B region), a conserved zinc-finger DNA binding domain (DBD) (C region), a hinge domain (D region), a conserved ligand binding domain (LBD) containing a second (AF-2) transactivation domain (E region), and an inhibitory carboxy-terminal domain (F region) (135). The members of the nuclear hormone superfamily can be categorized based on the following criteria: protein dimerization, structure of the cognate DNA binding site, and intracellular localization. HNF4 α is thought to define a distinctive subclass of nuclear receptors, defined by stable homodimerization, predominantly nuclear localization, and a binding preference for direct repeats of a hexamer half-site (DR+1 element) (136). While the classical model of nuclear receptor transcriptional activation requires ligand binding to induce a conformational change in the LBD that recruits co-activator complexes (137), questions remain whether HNF4 α transcriptional activity is always ligand- dependent.

The mechanism by which HNF4 α is transcriptionally activated is unclear. The crystal structure of the hydrophobic ligand binding domain of bacterially expressed HNF4 α has been solved, and demonstrates the ability of the binding pocket to irreversibly hold various fatty acids (138). However, further structural studies on bacterially expressed HNF4 α show that co-activator binding and not the binding of a ligand determines the active confirmation of the α -helix containing the AF-2 domain (139). Indeed, HNF4 α functionally interacts with the co-activator PGC-1 α independent of

the addition of exogenous ligand to transcriptionally activate the promoter of the gluconeogenic gene PEPCK *in vitro* (140). Also, tyrosine phosphorylation can affect the potential of HNF4 α to bind to DNA and its localization within the nucleus (141). The recent use of mammalian cell lines and tissues identified linoleic acid (LA), a single polyunsaturated fatty acid obtained from the diet, as an endogenous ligand for HNF4 α . While significant ligand-independent transcriptional activity of HNF4 α was observed, linoleic acid binding was found to be bound to HNF4 α in the livers of fed and not fasted mice (142). This demonstrates that its linoleic acid binding is reversible *in vivo*, suggesting that in addition to being a nuclear receptor, HNF4 α is a potential drug target. While physiological function of linoleic acid is not known, the mechanism of HNF4 α activation might be dependent on physiological context as described for other pancreatic transcription factors, for example FoxA2 (143).

Although the mechanism underlying HNF4 α transcriptional activity is still controversial, its physiological role is clear. HNF4 α is expressed primarily in the liver, gut, kidney and pancreas (144). At least six isoforms of HNF4 α exist and their tissue specific expression is accomplished by a proximal promoter (P1) and an alternative promoter (P2) located 46kb upstream of P1 (145). Specifically, HNF4 α isoforms 7-9 are expressed in adult pancreas, and not adult liver via utilization of the P2 promoter (Figure 1.7) (146). The clinical phenotypes of patients with MODY1 reflect either a pancreas defect characterized by progressive loss of insulin secretion in response to a glucose and arginine challenge (147) or a liver defect described as impaired lipid homeostasis prior to hyperglycemia (148). To investigate whether the loss of insulin secretion might reflect a primary defect in MODY1 patients and not a long term consequence of loss of HNF4 α in other tissues, a mouse model that specifically ablates HNF4 α in the β -cell (HNF4 $\alpha^{\text{LoxP/LoxP}}$; Insulin.Cre) was utilized. These adult mice were glucose intolerant, and exhibited diminished insulin release in response to glucose and sulfonylureas. Furthermore, HNF4 α was required for the expression for potassium channel subunit Kir6.2, clearly demonstrating that HNF4 α is required in the pancreatic β -cell for the maintenance of glucose homeostasis *in vivo*. In addition, the lack of overt diabetes in this mouse model makes it likely that contributions from other HNF4 α -deficient metabolic organs are required for the progression to type 2 diabetes in MODY1 patients (149). Interestingly, the mild hypoglycemia and elevated tonic insulin secretion seen in these mice reflect the clinical phenotypes of children born haploinsufficient for HNF4 α , later evolving into diabetes due to reduced insulin secretion (150).

Indeed, in addition to loss-of-function mutations found near the P2 promoter of the *HNF4a* locus in MODY1 families (151), there is evidence that variants in the regulatory regions of *HNF4a* contribute to type 2 diabetes risk in specific human populations. For example, single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) markers were genotyped in case and control DNA pools from sibling-pair families in Finland. To eliminate cases of type 1 diabetes and MODY, diabetes age-of-onset was constrained to greater than 35 years of age. 291 SNPs were discovered at 20q13, the chromosomal location of the *HNF4a* locus, of which ten showed association with diabetes disease status (Figure 1.8). The two SNPs that showed the strongest association with diabetes status, rs1884613 and rs2144908, flank the β -cell specific P2-promoter. Furthermore, analysis of unaffected offspring carrying at least one copy of the rs2144908 risk allele exhibited lower acute insulin response to glucose as detected by an oral glucose tolerance test, consistent with known HNF4 α function in the β -cell (152). Strikingly, similar findings were found in independent and candidate gene studies of Ashkenazi Jewish (153), Mexican American (154), and Danish populations (155), suggesting that genetic variation near the promoters of HNF4 α might predict susceptibility to late onset diabetes.

A role in β -cell proliferation can also be extended to HNF4 α (MODY1). While β cell mass is unchanged during normal conditions in the β -cell specific ablation of HNF4 α (149), there is a defect in β -cell expansion that normally occurs in response to pregnancy leading to further glucose intolerance. Specifically, HNF4 α is required in β -cells for the proliferative response of pregnancy through activation of the Ras/ERK signaling cascade. The down regulation of suppression of tumorigenicity 5 (St5), a novel positive regulator of ERK signaling in β -cells and a direct transcriptional target of HNF4 α , contributes to the reduction of ERK activation caused by HNF4 α deficiency (156). Its membership in the nuclear receptor family, expression of islet-specific isoforms, and its required role in β -cell proliferation during pregnancy, makes HNF4 α an attractive potential β -cell mitogen warranting future investigation.



Figure 1.7: HNF4α isoforms and their functional domains.

Figure 1.7: HNF4 α isoforms and their functional domains. The nuclear receptor HNF4 α is located on human chromosome 20q13.1-13.2, and has two promoters (P1 and P2). At least 6 isoforms of HNF4 α are generated by differential use of the promoters and varying splicing events specific to the C-terminus. Representative protein structures of P1- and P2- derived HNF4 α isoforms are shown. Isoforms 1-3 are derived from the P1 promoter and expressed in the adult liver, kidney, intestine, and colon. Isoforms 7-9 are derived from the P2 promoter and expressed in the fetal liver, adult intestine, adult colon and adult pancreas. HNF4 α contains different protein domains: an amino-terminal transactivation domain (AF1; green), a conserved zinc-finger DNA binding domain (DBD; blue), and a ligand binding domain (LBD; red) containing a second (AF-2; light red) transactivation domain. P2 derived transcripts do not contain the AF1 domain in the amino-terminal domain, indicated as dark green.



Figure 1.8: Location of SNPs associated with late-onset type 2 diabetes in the HNF4α locus.

Figure 1.8: Location of SNPs associated with late-onset type 2 diabetes in the HNF4 α locus. This illustration was taken from (157). Shown here are ten SNPs associated with late-onset type 2 diabetes in the Finnish and Ashkenazi Jewish populations along with their locations relative to the P2 promoter (152, 153). Highlighted in the red boxes are two SNPs that are most commonly associated with diabetes disease status across various populations, rs2144908 and rs1884613.

Note: This illustration has been published in TRENDS in Molecular Medicine in a Review article entitled,

HNF-4alpha: from MODY to late-onset type 2 diabetes.

Gupta, R.K., and Kaestner K.H. 2004. HNF-4alpha: from MODY to late-onset type 2 diabetes. *Trends Mol Med* 10:521-524.

Summary and Specific Aims

Generating new β -cells *de novo* as a cellular therapy is a realistic long term goal for treatment for diabetes mellitus. One approach is to use instructive cues to induce proliferation of terminally differentiated β -cells. However, a well-defined protocol to drive efficient non-oncogenic proliferation of human β -cells *in vitro* remains elusive. Presently, the molecular mechanisms that control the expansion of β -cell mass during physiological states of insulin resistance such as occurs during pregnancy are poorly understood. I propose that a more complete knowledge of the mechanisms and factors that govern physiological β -cell expansion can help translate into an effective and defined human protocol for the generation of fully functional β -cells through the replication of pre-existing β -cells.

The following chapters will describe the results of a microarray experiment designed to examine the gene expression signature of the islet during pregnancy in mice, and an attempt in evaluating the ability of HNF4 α as a human β -cell mitogen. The goal of these experiments is to (1) determine what mechanisms are involved in controlling islet replication during pregnancy *in vivo* in mice and (2) assess the consequence of the overexpression of a pancreas specific isoform of HNF4 α on human β -cell proliferation *in vitro*. These experiments will identify many novel genes involved in islet expansion during pregnancy, clarify the mechanisms associated with general islet expansion, validate HNF4 α "s role in human β -cell proliferation and uncover the DNA damage response as a cell cycle progression inhibitor in human β -cells *in vitro*.

Note: Portions of this chapter have been published in TRENDS in Endocrinology and Metabolism as a Review article entitled,

Expansion of β *-cell mass in response to pregnancy.*

Rieck S, Kaestner KH. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2010 Mar; 21(3):151-8.

References

- 1. Fauci, A.S. 2008. *Harrison's principles of internal medicine*. New York: McGraw-Hill Medical. 2 v. (various pagings) pp.
- 2. Zimmet, P., Alberti, K.G., and Shaw, J. 2001. Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. *Nature* 414:782-787.
- 3. Suckale, J., and Solimena, M. 2008. Pancreas islets in metabolic signaling--focus on the beta-cell. *Front Biosci* 13:7156-7171.
- 4. Butler, A.E., Janson, J., Bonner-Weir, S., Ritzel, R., Rizza, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2003. Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 52:102-110.
- 5. Meier, J.J., Bhushan, A., Butler, A.E., Rizza, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2005. Sustained beta cell apoptosis in patients with long-standing type 1 diabetes: indirect evidence for islet regeneration? *Diabetologia* 48:2221-2228.
- 6. Meier, J.J., Lin, J.C., Butler, A.E., Galasso, R., Martinez, D.S., and Butler, P.C. 2006. Direct evidence of attempted beta cell regeneration in an 89-year-old patient with recent-onset type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 49:1838-1844.
- 7. Ritzel, R.A., Butler, A.E., Rizza, R.A., Veldhuis, J.D., and Butler, P.C. 2006. Relationship between beta-cell mass and fasting blood glucose concentration in humans. *Diabetes Care* 29:717-718.
- 8. Shapiro, A.M., Lakey, J.R., Ryan, E.A., Korbutt, G.S., Toth, E., Warnock, G.L., Kneteman, N.M., and Rajotte, R.V. 2000. Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. *N Engl J Med* 343:230-238.
- 9. Shapiro, A.M., Ricordi, C., Hering, B.J., Auchincloss, H., Lindblad, R., Robertson, R.P., Secchi, A., Brendel, M.D., Berney, T., Brennan, D.C., et al. 2006. International trial of the Edmonton protocol for islet transplantation. *N Engl J Med* 355:1318-1330.
- Hirshberg, B., Rother, K.I., Digon, B.J., 3rd, Lee, J., Gaglia, J.L., Hines, K., Read, E.J., Chang, R., Wood, B.J., and Harlan, D.M. 2003. Benefits and risks of solitary islet transplantation for type 1 diabetes using steroid-sparing immunosuppression: the National Institutes of Health experience. *Diabetes Care* 26:3288-3295.
- 11. Ojo, A.O., Held, P.J., Port, F.K., Wolfe, R.A., Leichtman, A.B., Young, E.W., Arndorfer, J., Christensen, L., and Merion, R.M. 2003. Chronic renal failure after transplantation of a nonrenal organ. *N Engl J Med* 349:931-940.
- 12. Nir, T., Melton, D.A., and Dor, Y. 2007. Recovery from diabetes in mice by beta cell regeneration. *J Clin Invest* 117:2553-2561.
- 13. Hussey, A.J., Winardi, M., Han, X.L., Thomas, G.P., Penington, A.J., Morrison, W.A., Knight, K.R., and Feeney, S.J. 2009. Seeding of pancreatic islets into prevascularized tissue engineering chambers. *Tissue Eng Part A* 15:3823-3833.
- 14. Gonez, L.J., and Knight, K.R. 2009. Cell therapy for diabetes: stem cells, progenitors or beta-cell replication? *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 323:55-61.

- 15. Dor, Y., Brown, J., Martinez, O.I., and Melton, D.A. 2004. Adult pancreatic betacells are formed by self-duplication rather than stem-cell differentiation. *Nature* 429:41-46.
- 16. Ferber, S., Halkin, A., Cohen, H., Ber, I., Einav, Y., Goldberg, I., Barshack, I., Seijffers, R., Kopolovic, J., Kaiser, N., et al. 2000. Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox gene 1 induces expression of insulin genes in liver and ameliorates streptozotocin-induced hyperglycemia. *Nat Med* 6:568-572.
- 17. Zhou, Q., Brown, J., Kanarek, A., Rajagopal, J., and Melton, D.A. 2008. In vivo reprogramming of adult pancreatic exocrine cells to beta-cells. *Nature* 455:627-632.
- Inada, A., Nienaber, C., Katsuta, H., Fujitani, Y., Levine, J., Morita, R., Sharma, A., and Bonner-Weir, S. 2008. Carbonic anhydrase II-positive pancreatic cells are progenitors for both endocrine and exocrine pancreas after birth. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:19915-19919.
- Smukler, S.R., Arntfield, M.E., Razavi, R., Bikopoulos, G., Karpowicz, P., Seaberg, R., Dai, F., Lee, S., Ahrens, R., Fraser, P.E., et al. 2011. The Adult Mouse and Human Pancreas Contain Rare Multipotent Stem Cells that Express Insulin. *Cell Stem Cell* 8:281-293.
- 20. Kroon, E., Martinson, L.A., Kadoya, K., Bang, A.G., Kelly, O.G., Eliazer, S., Young, H., Richardson, M., Smart, N.G., Cunningham, J., et al. 2008. Pancreatic endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucoseresponsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. *Nat Biotechnol* 26:443-452.
- 21. Seino, S., and Bell, G. 2008. *Pancreatic beta cell in health and disease*. [Tokyo ; New York]: Springer. xv, 474 p. pp.
- 22. Bosco, D., Armanet, M., Morel, P., Niclauss, N., Sgroi, A., Muller, Y.D., Giovannoni, L., Parnaud, G., and Berney, T. 2010. Unique arrangement of alphaand beta-cells in human islets of Langerhans. *Diabetes* 59:1202-1210.
- 23. Cabrera, O., Berman, D.M., Kenyon, N.S., Ricordi, C., Berggren, P.O., and Caicedo, A. 2006. The unique cytoarchitecture of human pancreatic islets has implications for islet cell function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103:2334-2339.
- 24. Meier, J.J., Butler, A.E., Saisho, Y., Monchamp, T., Galasso, R., Bhushan, A., Rizza, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2008. Beta-cell replication is the primary mechanism subserving the postnatal expansion of beta-cell mass in humans. *Diabetes* 57:1584-1594.
- 25. Perl, S., Kushner, J.A., Buchholz, B.A., Meeker, A.K., Stein, G.M., Hsieh, M., Kirby, M., Pechhold, S., Liu, E.H., Harlan, D.M., et al. 2010. Significant human beta-cell turnover is limited to the first three decades of life as determined by in vivo thymidine analog incorporation and radiocarbon dating. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 95:E234-239.
- 26. Kohler, C.U., Olewinski, M., Tannapfel, A., Schmidt, W.E., Fritsch, H., and Meier, J.J. 2010. Cell cycle control of beta-cell replication in the prenatal and postnatal human pancreas. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 300:E221-230.
- 27. Brennand, K., and Melton, D. 2009. Slow and steady is the key to beta-cell replication. *J Cell Mol Med* 13:472-487.

- 28. Teta, M., Rankin, M.M., Long, S.Y., Stein, G.M., and Kushner, J.A. 2007. Growth and regeneration of adult beta cells does not involve specialized progenitors. *Dev Cell* 12:817-826.
- 29. Desgraz, R., and Herrera, P.L. 2009. Pancreatic neurogenin 3-expressing cells are unipotent islet precursors. *Development* 136:3567-3574.
- 30. Salpeter, S.J., Klein, A.M., Huangfu, D., Grimsby, J., and Dor, Y. 2010. Glucose and aging control the quiescence period that follows pancreatic beta cell replication. *Development* 137:3205-3213.
- 31. Finegood, D.T., Scaglia, L., and Bonner-Weir, S. 1995. Dynamics of beta-cell mass in the growing rat pancreas. Estimation with a simple mathematical model. *Diabetes* 44:249-256.
- 32. Rankin, M.M., and Kushner, J.A. 2009. Adaptive beta-cell proliferation is severely restricted with advanced age. *Diabetes* 58:1365-1372.
- 33. Matveyenko, A.V., Veldhuis, J.D., and Butler, P.C. 2008. Adaptations in pulsatile insulin secretion, hepatic insulin clearance, and beta-cell mass to age-related insulin resistance in rats. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 295:E832-841.
- 34. Tschen, S.I., Dhawan, S., Gurlo, T., and Bhushan, A. 2009. Age-dependent decline in beta-cell proliferation restricts the capacity of beta-cell regeneration in mice. *Diabetes* 58:1312-1320.
- 35. Parsons, J.A., Brelje, T.C., and Sorenson, R.L. 1992. Adaptation of islets of Langerhans to pregnancy: increased islet cell proliferation and insulin secretion correlates with the onset of placental lactogen secretion. *Endocrinology* 130:1459-1466.
- 36. Van Assche, F.A., Aerts, L., and De Prins, F. 1978. A morphological study of the endocrine pancreas in human pregnancy. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 85:818-820.
- 37. Butler, A.E., Cao-Minh, L., Galasso, R., Rizza, R.A., Corradin, A., Cobelli, C., and Butler, P.C. 2010. Adaptive changes in pancreatic beta cell fractional area and beta cell turnover in human pregnancy. *Diabetologia* 53:2167-2176.
- 38. Kloppel, G., Lohr, M., Habich, K., Oberholzer, M., and Heitz, P.U. 1985. Islet pathology and the pathogenesis of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus revisited. *Surv Synth Pathol Res* 4:110-125.
- 39. Hanley, S.C., Austin, E., Assouline-Thomas, B., Kapeluto, J., Blaichman, J., Moosavi, M., Petropavlovskaia, M., and Rosenberg, L. {beta}-Cell mass dynamics and islet cell plasticity in human type 2 diabetes. *Endocrinology* 151:1462-1472.
- 40. Bruning, J.C., Winnay, J., Bonner-Weir, S., Taylor, S.I., Accili, D., and Kahn, C.R. 1997. Development of a novel polygenic model of NIDDM in mice heterozygous for IR and IRS-1 null alleles. *Cell* 88:561-572.
- 41. Thorel, F., Nepote, V., Avril, I., Kohno, K., Desgraz, R., Chera, S., and Herrera, P.L. 2010. Conversion of adult pancreatic alpha-cells to beta-cells after extreme beta-cell loss. *Nature* 464:1149-1154.
- 42. Willcox, A., Richardson, S.J., Bone, A.J., Foulis, A.K., and Morgan, N.G. 2010. Evidence of increased islet cell proliferation in patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 53:2020-2028.
- 43. Keller, M.P., Choi, Y., Wang, P., Davis, D.B., Rabaglia, M.E., Oler, A.T., Stapleton, D.S., Argmann, C., Schueler, K.L., Edwards, S., et al. 2008. A gene

expression network model of type 2 diabetes links cell cycle regulation in islets with diabetes susceptibility. *Genome Res* 18:706-716.

- 44. Hanley, S.C., Austin, E., Assouline-Thomas, B., Kapeluto, J., Blaichman, J., Moosavi, M., Petropavlovskaia, M., and Rosenberg, L. 2010. {beta}-Cell mass dynamics and islet cell plasticity in human type 2 diabetes. *Endocrinology* 151:1462-1472.
- 45. Ritzel, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2003. Replication increases beta-cell vulnerability to human islet amyloid polypeptide-induced apoptosis. *Diabetes* 52:1701-1708.
- 46. Bonner-Weir, S., Li, W.C., Ouziel-Yahalom, L., Guo, L., Weir, G.C., and Sharma, A. 2010. Beta-cell growth and regeneration: replication is only part of the story. *Diabetes* 59:2340-2348.
- 47. Xu, X., D'Hoker, J., Stange, G., Bonne, S., De Leu, N., Xiao, X., Van de Casteele, M., Mellitzer, G., Ling, Z., Pipeleers, D., et al. 2008. Beta cells can be generated from endogenous progenitors in injured adult mouse pancreas. *Cell* 132:197-207.
- 48. Lee, C.S., De Leon, D.D., Kaestner, K.H., and Stoffers, D.A. 2006. Regeneration of pancreatic islets after partial pancreatectomy in mice does not involve the reactivation of neurogenin-3. *Diabetes* 55:269-272.
- 49. Brennand, K., Huangfu, D., and Melton, D. 2007. All beta cells contribute equally to islet growth and maintenance. *PLoS Biol* 5:e163.
- 50. Scaglia, L., Cahill, C.J., Finegood, D.T., and Bonner-Weir, S. 1997. Apoptosis participates in the remodeling of the endocrine pancreas in the neonatal rat. *Endocrinology* 138:1736-1741.
- 51. Solar, M., Cardalda, C., Houbracken, I., Martin, M., Maestro, M.A., De Medts, N., Xu, X., Grau, V., Heimberg, H., Bouwens, L., et al. 2009. Pancreatic exocrine duct cells give rise to insulin-producing beta cells during embryogenesis but not after birth. *Dev Cell* 17:849-860.
- 52. Flier, S.N., Kulkarni, R.N., and Kahn, C.R. 2001. Evidence for a circulating islet cell growth factor in insulin-resistant states. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:7475-7480.
- 53. Alonso, L.C., Yokoe, T., Zhang, P., Scott, D.K., Kim, S.K., O'Donnell, C.P., and Garcia-Ocana, A. 2007. Glucose infusion in mice: a new model to induce beta-cell replication. *Diabetes* 56:1792-1801.
- 54. Lehninger, A.L., Nelson, D.L., Cox, M.M., Louis B. Flexner Medical Book Fund., Alumni and Friends Memorial Book Fund., and Rosengarten Family Fund. 2008. *Lehninger principles of biochemistry*. New York: W.H. Freeman. 1 v. (various pagings) pp.
- Porat, S., Weinberg-Corem, N., Tornovsky-Babaey, S., Schyr-Ben-Haroush, R., Hija, A., Stolovich-Rain, M., Dadon, D., Granot, Z., Ben-Hur, V., White, P., et al. 2011. Control of Pancreatic beta Cell Regeneration by Glucose Metabolism. *Cell Metab* 13:440-449.
- 56. Flanagan, S.E., Edghill, E.L., Gloyn, A.L., Ellard, S., and Hattersley, A.T. 2006. Mutations in KCNJ11, which encodes Kir6.2, are a common cause of diabetes diagnosed in the first 6 months of life, with the phenotype determined by genotype. *Diabetologia* 49:1190-1197.
- 57. Kassem, S., Bhandari, S., Rodriguez-Bada, P., Motaghedi, R., Heyman, M., Garcia-Gimeno, M.A., Cobo-Vuilleumier, N., Sanz, P., Maclaren, N.K., Rahier,

J., et al. 2010. Large islets, beta-cell proliferation, and a glucokinase mutation. *N Engl J Med* 362:1348-1350.

- 58. Kawai, M., and Kishi, K. 1999. Adaptation of pancreatic islet B-cells during the last third of pregnancy: regulation of B-cell function and proliferation by lactogenic hormones in rats. *Eur J Endocrinol* 141:419-425.
- 59. Sorenson, R.L., and Brelje, T.C. 1997. Adaptation of islets of Langerhans to pregnancy: beta-cell growth, enhanced insulin secretion and the role of lactogenic hormones. *Horm Metab Res* 29:301-307.
- 60. Scaglia, L., Smith, F.E., and Bonner-Weir, S. 1995. Apoptosis contributes to the involution of beta cell mass in the post partum rat pancreas. *Endocrinology* 136:5461-5468.
- 61. Zhang, H., Zhang, J., Pope, C.F., Crawford, L.A., Vasavada, R.C., Jagasia, S.M., and Gannon, M. 2009. Gestational diabetes mellitus resulting from impaired betacell compensation in the absence of FoxM1, a novel downstream effector of placental lactogen. *Diabetes* 59:143-152.
- 62. Kim, C., Newton, K.M., and Knopp, R.H. 2002. Gestational diabetes and the incidence of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. *Diabetes Care* 25:1862-1868.
- 63. Parsons, J.A., Bartke, A., and Sorenson, R.L. 1995. Number and size of islets of Langerhans in pregnant, human growth hormone-expressing transgenic, and pituitary dwarf mice: effect of lactogenic hormones. *Endocrinology* 136:2013-2021.
- 64. Labriola, L., Montor, W.R., Krogh, K., Lojudice, F.H., Genzini, T., Goldberg, A.C., Eliaschewitz, F.G., and Sogayar, M.C. 2007. Beneficial effects of prolactin and laminin on human pancreatic islet-cell cultures. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 263:120-133.
- 65. Moes, H., Schuiling, G.A., and Koiter, T.R. 1993. Arginine stimulated glucagon and insulin secretion by islets of Langerhans of pregnant and lactating rats. *Horm Metab Res* 25:246-249.
- 66. Huang, C., Snider, F., and Cross, J.C. 2009. Prolactin receptor is required for normal glucose homeostasis and modulation of beta-cell mass during pregnancy. *Endocrinology* 150:1618-1626.
- 67. Vasavada, R.C., Garcia-Ocana, A., Zawalich, W.S., Sorenson, R.L., Dann, P., Syed, M., Ogren, L., Talamantes, F., and Stewart, A.F. 2000. Targeted expression of placental lactogen in the beta cells of transgenic mice results in beta cell proliferation, islet mass augmentation, and hypoglycemia. *J Biol Chem* 275:15399-15406.
- Freemark, M., Avril, I., Fleenor, D., Driscoll, P., Petro, A., Opara, E., Kendall, W., Oden, J., Bridges, S., Binart, N., et al. 2002. Targeted deletion of the PRL receptor: effects on islet development, insulin production, and glucose tolerance. *Endocrinology* 143:1378-1385.
- 69. Aerts, L., Vercruysse, L., and Van Assche, F.A. 1997. The endocrine pancreas in virgin and pregnant offspring of diabetic pregnant rats. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 38:9-19.
- 70. Pinney, S.E., and Simmons, R.A. 2009. Epigenetic mechanisms in the development of type 2 diabetes. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 21:223-229.

- 71. Buchanan, T.A., and Xiang, A.H. 2005. Gestational diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Invest* 115:485-491.
- 72. Park, J.H., Stoffers, D.A., Nicholls, R.D., and Simmons, R.A. 2008. Development of type 2 diabetes following intrauterine growth retardation in rats is associated with progressive epigenetic silencing of Pdx1. *J Clin Invest* 118:2316-2324.
- 73. Brelje, T.C., Stout, L.E., Bhagroo, N.V., and Sorenson, R.L. 2004. Distinctive roles for prolactin and growth hormone in the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 in pancreatic islets of langerhans. *Endocrinology* 145:4162-4175.
- 74. Hughes, E., and Huang, C. 2011. Participation of Akt, menin, and p21 in pregnancy-induced beta-cell proliferation. *Endocrinology* 152:847-855.
- 75. Amaral, M.E., Cunha, D.A., Anhe, G.F., Ueno, M., Carneiro, E.M., Velloso, L.A., Bordin, S., and Boschero, A.C. 2004. Participation of prolactin receptors and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and MAP kinase pathways in the increase in pancreatic islet mass and sensitivity to glucose during pregnancy. *J Endocrinol* 183:469-476.
- 76. Karnik, S.K., Chen, H., McLean, G.W., Heit, J.J., Gu, X., Zhang, A.Y., Fontaine, M., Yen, M.H., and Kim, S.K. 2007. Menin controls growth of pancreatic betacells in pregnant mice and promotes gestational diabetes mellitus. *Science* 318:806-809.
- 77. Brelje, T.C., Scharp, D.W., Lacy, P.E., Ogren, L., Talamantes, F., Robertson, M., Friesen, H.G., and Sorenson, R.L. 1993. Effect of homologous placental lactogens, prolactins, and growth hormones on islet B-cell division and insulin secretion in rat, mouse, and human islets: implication for placental lactogen regulation of islet function during pregnancy. *Endocrinology* 132:879-887.
- 78. Sorenson, R.L., Brelje, T.C., and Roth, C. 1993. Effects of steroid and lactogenic hormones on islets of Langerhans: a new hypothesis for the role of pregnancy steroids in the adaptation of islets to pregnancy. *Endocrinology* 133:2227-2234.
- 79. Pagano, M., and Jackson, P.K. 2004. Wagging the dogma; tissue-specific cell cycle control in the mouse embryo. *Cell* 118:535-538.
- 80. Weinberg, R.A. 2007. *The biology of cancer*. New York: Garland Science. 1 v. (various pagings) pp.
- 81. Blow, J.J., and Dutta, A. 2005. Preventing re-replication of chromosomal DNA. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6:476-486.
- 82. Cozar-Castellano, I., Harb, G., Selk, K., Takane, K., Vasavada, R., Sicari, B., Law, B., Zhang, P., Scott, D.K., Fiaschi-Taesch, N., et al. 2008. Lessons from the first comprehensive molecular characterization of cell cycle control in rodent insulinoma cell lines. *Diabetes* 57:3056-3068.
- 83. Fiaschi-Taesch, N., Bigatel, T.A., Sicari, B., Takane, K.K., Salim, F., Velazquez-Garcia, S., Harb, G., Selk, K., Cozar-Castellano, I., and Stewart, A.F. 2009. Survey of the human pancreatic beta-cell G1/S proteome reveals a potential therapeutic role for cdk-6 and cyclin D1 in enhancing human beta-cell replication and function in vivo. *Diabetes* 58:882-893.
- 84. Cozar-Castellano, I., Weinstock, M., Haught, M., Velazquez-Garcia, S., Sipula, D., and Stewart, A.F. 2006. Evaluation of beta-cell replication in mice transgenic for hepatocyte growth factor and placental lactogen: comprehensive

characterization of the G1/S regulatory proteins reveals unique involvement of p21cip. *Diabetes* 55:70-77.

- 85. Rane, S.G., Dubus, P., Mettus, R.V., Galbreath, E.J., Boden, G., Reddy, E.P., and Barbacid, M. 1999. Loss of Cdk4 expression causes insulin-deficient diabetes and Cdk4 activation results in beta-islet cell hyperplasia. *Nat Genet* 22:44-52.
- Martin, J., Hunt, S.L., Dubus, P., Sotillo, R., Nehme-Pelluard, F., Magnuson, M.A., Parlow, A.F., Malumbres, M., Ortega, S., and Barbacid, M. 2003. Genetic rescue of Cdk4 null mice restores pancreatic beta-cell proliferation but not homeostatic cell number. *Oncogene* 22:5261-5269.
- Kushner, J.A., Ciemerych, M.A., Sicinska, E., Wartschow, L.M., Teta, M., Long, S.Y., Sicinski, P., and White, M.F. 2005. Cyclins D2 and D1 are essential for postnatal pancreatic beta-cell growth. *Mol Cell Biol* 25:3752-3762.
- 88. Chung, D.C., Brown, S.B., Graeme-Cook, F., Seto, M., Warshaw, A.L., Jensen, R.T., and Arnold, A. 2000. Overexpression of cyclin D1 occurs frequently in human pancreatic endocrine tumors. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 85:4373-4378.
- 89. Harb, G., Vasavada, R.C., Cobrinik, D., and Stewart, A.F. 2009. The retinoblastoma protein and its homolog p130 regulate the G1/S transition in pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes* 58:1852-1862.
- 90. Dhawan, S., Tschen, S.I., and Bhushan, A. 2009. Bmi-1 regulates the Ink4a/Arf locus to control pancreatic beta-cell proliferation. *Genes Dev* 23:906-911.
- 91. Chen, H., Gu, X., Su, I.H., Bottino, R., Contreras, J.L., Tarakhovsky, A., and Kim, S.K. 2009. Polycomb protein Ezh2 regulates pancreatic beta-cell Ink4a/Arf expression and regeneration in diabetes mellitus. *Genes Dev* 23:975-985.
- 92. Krishnamurthy, J., Ramsey, M.R., Ligon, K.L., Torrice, C., Koh, A., Bonner-Weir, S., and Sharpless, N.E. 2006. p16INK4a induces an age-dependent decline in islet regenerative potential. *Nature* 443:453-457.
- 93. Zeggini, E., Weedon, M.N., Lindgren, C.M., Frayling, T.M., Elliott, K.S., Lango, H., Timpson, N.J., Perry, J.R., Rayner, N.W., Freathy, R.M., et al. 2007. Replication of genome-wide association signals in UK samples reveals risk loci for type 2 diabetes. *Science* 316:1336-1341.
- 94. Friedrichsen, B.N., Richter, H.E., Hansen, J.A., Rhodes, C.J., Nielsen, J.H., Billestrup, N., and Moldrup, A. 2003. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 activation is sufficient to drive transcriptional induction of cyclin D2 gene and proliferation of rat pancreatic beta-cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 17:945-958.
- 95. Crabtree, J.S., Scacheri, P.C., Ward, J.M., McNally, S.R., Swain, G.P., Montagna, C., Hager, J.H., Hanahan, D., Edlund, H., Magnuson, M.A., et al. 2003. Of mice and MEN1: Insulinomas in a conditional mouse knockout. *Mol Cell Biol* 23:6075-6085.
- 96. Karnik, S.K., Hughes, C.M., Gu, X., Rozenblatt-Rosen, O., McLean, G.W., Xiong, Y., Meyerson, M., and Kim, S.K. 2005. Menin regulates pancreatic islet growth by promoting histone methylation and expression of genes encoding p27Kip1 and p18INK4c. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:14659-14664.
- 97. Harvey, M., Vogel, H., Lee, E.Y., Bradley, A., and Donehower, L.A. 1995. Mice deficient in both p53 and Rb develop tumors primarily of endocrine origin. *Cancer Res* 55:1146-1151.

- 98. Williams, B.O., Remington, L., Albert, D.M., Mukai, S., Bronson, R.T., and Jacks, T. 1994. Cooperative tumorigenic effects of germline mutations in Rb and p53. *Nat Genet* 7:480-484.
- 99. Malumbres, M., Sotillo, R., Santamaria, D., Galan, J., Cerezo, A., Ortega, S., Dubus, P., and Barbacid, M. 2004. Mammalian cells cycle without the D-type cyclin-dependent kinases Cdk4 and Cdk6. *Cell* 118:493-504.
- 100. Kozar, K., Ciemerych, M.A., Rebel, V.I., Shigematsu, H., Zagozdzon, A., Sicinska, E., Geng, Y., Yu, Q., Bhattacharya, S., Bronson, R.T., et al. 2004. Mouse development and cell proliferation in the absence of D-cyclins. *Cell* 118:477-491.
- Weinberg, N., Ouziel-Yahalom, L., Knoller, S., Efrat, S., and Dor, Y. 2007. Lineage tracing evidence for in vitro dedifferentiation but rare proliferation of mouse pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes* 56:1299-1304.
- 102. Russ, H.A., Bar, Y., Ravassard, P., and Efrat, S. 2008. In vitro proliferation of cells derived from adult human beta-cells revealed by cell-lineage tracing. *Diabetes* 57:1575-1583.
- 103. Halvorsen, T.L., Beattie, G.M., Lopez, A.D., Hayek, A., and Levine, F. 2000. Accelerated telomere shortening and senescence in human pancreatic islet cells stimulated to divide in vitro. *J Endocrinol* 166:103-109.
- Gershengorn, M.C., Hardikar, A.A., Wei, C., Geras-Raaka, E., Marcus-Samuels, B., and Raaka, B.M. 2004. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition generates proliferative human islet precursor cells. *Science* 306:2261-2264.
- 105. Bar, Y., Russ, H.A., Knoller, S., Ouziel-Yahalom, L., and Efrat, S. 2008. HES-1 is involved in adaptation of adult human beta-cells to proliferation in vitro. *Diabetes* 57:2413-2420.
- 106. Efrat, S., Fusco-DeMane, D., Lemberg, H., al Emran, O., and Wang, X. 1995. Conditional transformation of a pancreatic beta-cell line derived from transgenic mice expressing a tetracycline-regulated oncogene. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92:3576-3580.
- 107. de la Tour, D., Halvorsen, T., Demeterco, C., Tyrberg, B., Itkin-Ansari, P., Loy, M., Yoo, S.J., Hao, E., Bossie, S., and Levine, F. 2001. Beta-cell differentiation from a human pancreatic cell line in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Endocrinol* 15:476-483.
- 108. Narushima, M., Kobayashi, N., Okitsu, T., Tanaka, Y., Li, S.A., Chen, Y., Miki, A., Tanaka, K., Nakaji, S., Takei, K., et al. 2005. A human beta-cell line for transplantation therapy to control type 1 diabetes. *Nat Biotechnol* 23:1274-1282.
- 109. Blow, J.J., and Hodgson, B. 2002. Replication licensing--defining the proliferative state? *Trends Cell Biol* 12:72-78.
- 110. Blow, J.J., and Gillespie, P.J. 2008. Replication licensing and cancer--a fatal entanglement? *Nat Rev Cancer* 8:799-806.
- 111. Thomson, A.M., Gillespie, P.J., and Blow, J.J. 2010. Replication factory activation can be decoupled from the replication timing program by modulating Cdk levels. *J Cell Biol* 188:209-221.
- 112. Meier, J.J., Butler, A.E., Galasso, R., Rizza, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2006. Increased islet beta cell replication adjacent to intrapancreatic gastrinomas in humans. *Diabetologia* 49:2689-2696.

- 113. Fiaschi-Taesch, N.M., Salim, F., Kleinberger, J., Troxell, R., Cozar-Castellano, I., Selk, K., Cherok, E., Takane, K.K., Scott, D.K., and Stewart, A.F. 2010. Induction of human beta-cell proliferation and engraftment using a single G1/S regulatory molecule, cdk6. *Diabetes* 59:1926-1936.
- 114. Grouwels, G., Cai, Y., Hoebeke, I., Leuckx, G., Heremans, Y., Ziebold, U., Stange, G., Chintinne, M., Ling, Z., Pipeleers, D., et al. 2010. Ectopic expression of E2F1 stimulates beta-cell proliferation and function. *Diabetes* 59:1435-1444.
- 115. Guthalu Kondegowda, N., Joshi-Gokhale, S., Harb, G., Williams, K., Zhang, X.Y., Takane, K.K., Zhang, P., Scott, D.K., Stewart, A.F., Garcia-Ocana, A., et al. 2010. Parathyroid hormone-related protein enhances human ss-cell proliferation and function with associated induction of cyclin-dependent kinase 2 and cyclin E expression. *Diabetes* 59:3131-3138.
- 116. Davis, D.B., Lavine, J.A., Suhonen, J.I., Krautkramer, K.A., Rabaglia, M.E., Sperger, J.M., Fernandez, L.A., Yandell, B.S., Keller, M.P., Wang, I.M., et al. 2010. FoxM1 is up-regulated by obesity and stimulates beta-cell proliferation. *Mol Endocrinol* 24:1822-1834.
- 117. Schisler, J.C., Fueger, P.T., Babu, D.A., Hohmeier, H.E., Tessem, J.S., Lu, D., Becker, T.C., Naziruddin, B., Levy, M., Mirmira, R.G., et al. 2008. Stimulation of human and rat islet beta-cell proliferation with retention of function by the homeodomain transcription factor Nkx6.1. *Mol Cell Biol* 28:3465-3476.
- 118. Kastan, M.B., and Bartek, J. 2004. Cell-cycle checkpoints and cancer. *Nature* 432:316-323.
- 119. Bartek, J., and Lukas, J. 2003. Chk1 and Chk2 kinases in checkpoint control and cancer. *Cancer Cell* 3:421-429.
- 120. Murray-Zmijewski, F., Slee, E.A., and Lu, X. 2008. A complex barcode underlies the heterogeneous response of p53 to stress. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 9:702-712.
- 121. Tavana, O., Puebla-Osorio, N., Sang, M., and Zhu, C. 2009. Absence of p53dependent apoptosis combined with nonhomologous end-joining deficiency leads to a severe diabetic phenotype in mice. *Diabetes* 59:135-142.
- 122. Laybutt, D.R., Weir, G.C., Kaneto, H., Lebet, J., Palmiter, R.D., Sharma, A., and Bonner-Weir, S. 2002. Overexpression of c-Myc in beta-cells of transgenic mice causes proliferation and apoptosis, downregulation of insulin gene expression, and diabetes. *Diabetes* 51:1793-1804.
- 123. Maestro, M.A., Cardalda, C., Boj, S.F., Luco, R.F., Servitja, J.M., and Ferrer, J. 2007. Distinct roles of HNF1beta, HNF1alpha, and HNF4alpha in regulating pancreas development, beta-cell function and growth. *Endocr Dev* 12:33-45.
- 124. Shih, D.Q., and Stoffel, M. 2002. Molecular etiologies of MODY and other earlyonset forms of diabetes. *Curr Diab Rep* 2:125-134.
- 125. Dupuis, J., Langenberg, C., Prokopenko, I., Saxena, R., Soranzo, N., Jackson, A.U., Wheeler, E., Glazer, N.L., Bouatia-Naji, N., Gloyn, A.L., et al. 2010. New genetic loci implicated in fasting glucose homeostasis and their impact on type 2 diabetes risk. *Nat Genet* 42:105-116.
- 126. Froguel, P., and Velho, G. 1999. Molecular Genetics of Maturity-onset Diabetes of the Young. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 10:142-146.
- 127. Frayling, T.M., Evans, J.C., Bulman, M.P., Pearson, E., Allen, L., Owen, K., Bingham, C., Hannemann, M., Shepherd, M., Ellard, S., et al. 2001. beta-cell

genes and diabetes: molecular and clinical characterization of mutations in transcription factors. *Diabetes* 50 Suppl 1:S94-100.

- 128. Plengvidhya, N., Kooptiwut, S., Songtawee, N., Doi, A., Furuta, H., Nishi, M., Nanjo, K., Tantibhedhyangkul, W., Boonyasrisawat, W., Yenchitsomanus, P.T., et al. 2007. PAX4 mutations in Thais with maturity onset diabetes of the young. J *Clin Endocrinol Metab* 92:2821-2826.
- 129. Neve, B., Fernandez-Zapico, M.E., Ashkenazi-Katalan, V., Dina, C., Hamid, Y.H., Joly, E., Vaillant, E., Benmezroua, Y., Durand, E., Bakaher, N., et al. 2005. Role of transcription factor KLF11 and its diabetes-associated gene variants in pancreatic beta cell function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:4807-4812.
- 130. Raeder, H., Johansson, S., Holm, P.I., Haldorsen, I.S., Mas, E., Sbarra, V., Nermoen, I., Eide, S.A., Grevle, L., Bjorkhaug, L., et al. 2006. Mutations in the CEL VNTR cause a syndrome of diabetes and pancreatic exocrine dysfunction. *Nat Genet* 38:54-62.
- 131. Terauchi, Y., Takamoto, I., Kubota, N., Matsui, J., Suzuki, R., Komeda, K., Hara, A., Toyoda, Y., Miwa, I., Aizawa, S., et al. 2007. Glucokinase and IRS-2 are required for compensatory beta cell hyperplasia in response to high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* 117:246-257.
- 132. Maedler, K., Spinas, G.A., Lehmann, R., Sergeev, P., Weber, M., Fontana, A., Kaiser, N., and Donath, M.Y. 2001. Glucose induces beta-cell apoptosis via upregulation of the Fas receptor in human islets. *Diabetes* 50:1683-1690.
- 133. Sachdeva, M.M., Claiborn, K.C., Khoo, C., Yang, J., Groff, D.N., Mirmira, R.G., and Stoffers, D.A. 2009. Pdx1 (MODY4) regulates pancreatic beta cell susceptibility to ER stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106:19090-19095.
- 134. He, K.H., Lorenzo, P.I., Brun, T., Jimenez Moreno, C.M., Aeberhard, D., Ortega, J.V., Cornu, M., Thorel, F., Gjinovci, A., Thorens, B., et al. In Vivo Conditional Pax4 Overexpression in Mature Islet {beta}-Cells Prevents Stress-Induced Hyperglycemia in Mice. *Diabetes*.
- Mangelsdorf, D.J., Thummel, C., Beato, M., Herrlich, P., Schutz, G., Umesono, K., Blumberg, B., Kastner, P., Mark, M., Chambon, P., et al. 1995. The nuclear receptor superfamily: the second decade. *Cell* 83:835-839.
- 136. Jiang, G., Nepomuceno, L., Hopkins, K., and Sladek, F.M. 1995. Exclusive homodimerization of the orphan receptor hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 defines a new subclass of nuclear receptors. *Mol Cell Biol* 15:5131-5143.
- 137. Sladek, F.M. 2010. What are nuclear receptor ligands? *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 334:3-13.
- 138. Dhe-Paganon, S., Duda, K., Iwamoto, M., Chi, Y.I., and Shoelson, S.E. 2002. Crystal structure of the HNF4 alpha ligand binding domain in complex with endogenous fatty acid ligand. *J Biol Chem* 277:37973-37976.
- 139. Duda, K., Chi, Y.I., and Shoelson, S.E. 2004. Structural basis for HNF-4alpha activation by ligand and coactivator binding. *J Biol Chem* 279:23311-23316.
- 140. Yoon, J.C., Puigserver, P., Chen, G., Donovan, J., Wu, Z., Rhee, J., Adelmant, G., Stafford, J., Kahn, C.R., Granner, D.K., et al. 2001. Control of hepatic gluconeogenesis through the transcriptional coactivator PGC-1. *Nature* 413:131-138.

- 141. Ktistaki, E., Ktistakis, N.T., Papadogeorgaki, E., and Talianidis, I. 1995. Recruitment of hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 into specific intranuclear compartments depends on tyrosine phosphorylation that affects its DNA-binding and transactivation potential. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92:9876-9880.
- 142. Yuan, X., Ta, T.C., Lin, M., Evans, J.R., Dong, Y., Bolotin, E., Sherman, M.A., Forman, B.M., and Sladek, F.M. 2009. Identification of an endogenous ligand bound to a native orphan nuclear receptor. *PLoS One* 4:e5609.
- 143. Bochkis, I.M., Schug, J., Rubins, N.E., Chopra, A.R., O'Malley, B.W., and Kaestner, K.H. 2009. Foxa2-dependent hepatic gene regulatory networks depend on physiological state. *Physiol Genomics* 38:186-195.
- 144. Tanaka, T., Jiang, S., Hotta, H., Takano, K., Iwanari, H., Sumi, K., Daigo, K., Ohashi, R., Sugai, M., Ikegame, C., et al. 2006. Dysregulated expression of P1 and P2 promoter-driven hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha in the pathogenesis of human cancer. *J Pathol* 208:662-672.
- 145. Thomas, H., Jaschkowitz, K., Bulman, M., Frayling, T.M., Mitchell, S.M., Roosen, S., Lingott-Frieg, A., Tack, C.J., Ellard, S., Ryffel, G.U., et al. 2001. A distant upstream promoter of the HNF-4alpha gene connects the transcription factors involved in maturity-onset diabetes of the young. *Hum Mol Genet* 10:2089-2097.
- 146. Hansen, S.K., Parrizas, M., Jensen, M.L., Pruhova, S., Ek, J., Boj, S.F., Johansen, A., Maestro, M.A., Rivera, F., Eiberg, H., et al. 2002. Genetic evidence that HNFlalpha-dependent transcriptional control of HNF-4alpha is essential for human pancreatic beta cell function. *J Clin Invest* 110:827-833.
- 147. Herman, W.H., Fajans, S.S., Smith, M.J., Polonsky, K.S., Bell, G.I., and Halter, J.B. 1997. Diminished insulin and glucagon secretory responses to arginine in nondiabetic subjects with a mutation in the hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha/MODY1 gene. *Diabetes* 46:1749-1754.
- 148. Shih, D.Q., Dansky, H.M., Fleisher, M., Assmann, G., Fajans, S.S., and Stoffel, M. 2000. Genotype/phenotype relationships in HNF-4alpha/MODY1: haploinsufficiency is associated with reduced apolipoprotein (AII), apolipoprotein (CIII), lipoprotein(a), and triglyceride levels. *Diabetes* 49:832-837.
- 149. Gupta, R.K., Vatamaniuk, M.Z., Lee, C.S., Flaschen, R.C., Fulmer, J.T., Matschinsky, F.M., Duncan, S.A., and Kaestner, K.H. 2005. The MODY1 gene HNF-4alpha regulates selected genes involved in insulin secretion. *J Clin Invest* 115:1006-1015.
- 150. Pearson, E.R., Boj, S.F., Steele, A.M., Barrett, T., Stals, K., Shield, J.P., Ellard, S., Ferrer, J., and Hattersley, A.T. 2007. Macrosomia and hyperinsulinaemic hypoglycaemia in patients with heterozygous mutations in the HNF4A gene. *PLoS Med* 4:e118.
- 151. Yamagata, K., Furuta, H., Oda, N., Kaisaki, P.J., Menzel, S., Cox, N.J., Fajans, S.S., Signorini, S., Stoffel, M., and Bell, G.I. 1996. Mutations in the hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha gene in maturity-onset diabetes of the young (MODY1). *Nature* 384:458-460.
- 152. Silander, K., Mohlke, K.L., Scott, L.J., Peck, E.C., Hollstein, P., Skol, A.D., Jackson, A.U., Deloukas, P., Hunt, S., Stavrides, G., et al. 2004. Genetic variation
near the hepatocyte nuclear factor-4 alpha gene predicts susceptibility to type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 53:1141-1149.

- 153. Love-Gregory, L.D., Wasson, J., Ma, J., Jin, C.H., Glaser, B., Suarez, B.K., and Permutt, M.A. 2004. A common polymorphism in the upstream promoter region of the hepatocyte nuclear factor-4 alpha gene on chromosome 20q is associated with type 2 diabetes and appears to contribute to the evidence for linkage in an ashkenazi jewish population. *Diabetes* 53:1134-1140.
- 154. Lehman, D.M., Richardson, D.K., Jenkinson, C.P., Hunt, K.J., Dyer, T.D., Leach, R.J., Arya, R., Abboud, H.E., Blangero, J., Duggirala, R., et al. 2007. P2 promoter variants of the hepatocyte nuclear factor 4alpha gene are associated with type 2 diabetes in Mexican Americans. *Diabetes* 56:513-517.
- 155. Hansen, S.K., Rose, C.S., Glumer, C., Drivsholm, T., Borch-Johnsen, K., Jorgensen, T., Pedersen, O., and Hansen, T. 2005. Variation near the hepatocyte nuclear factor (HNF)-4alpha gene associates with type 2 diabetes in the Danish population. *Diabetologia* 48:452-458.
- 156. Gupta, R.K., Gao, N., Gorski, R.K., White, P., Hardy, O.T., Rafiq, K., Brestelli, J.E., Chen, G., Stoeckert, C.J., Jr., and Kaestner, K.H. 2007. Expansion of adult beta-cell mass in response to increased metabolic demand is dependent on HNF-4alpha. *Genes Dev* 21:756-769.
- 157. Gupta, R.K., and Kaestner, K.H. 2004. HNF-4alpha: from MODY to late-onset type 2 diabetes. *Trends Mol Med* 10:521-524.

Chapter II:

The transcriptional response of the islet to pregnancy in mice

<u>Abstract</u>

The inability of the β -cell to meet the demand for insulin brought about by insulin resistance leads to type 2 diabetes. In adults, β -cell replication is one of the mechanisms thought to cause the expansion of β -cell mass. Efforts to treat diabetes require knowledge of the pathways that drive facultative β -cell proliferation *in vivo*. A robust physiological stimulus of B-cell expansion is pregnancy, and identifying the mechanisms underlying this stimulus may provide therapeutic leads for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. The peak in β -cell proliferation during pregnancy occurs on day 14.5 of gestation in mice. Using advanced genomic approaches, we globally characterize the gene expression signature of pancreatic islets on day 14.5 of gestation during pregnancy. We identify a total of 1,907 genes as differentially expressed in the islet during pregnancy. The islet"s ability to compensate for relative insulin deficiency during metabolic stress is associated with the induction of both proliferative and survival pathways. A comparison of the genes induced in three different models of islet expansion suggests that diverse mechanisms can be recruited to expand islet mass. The identification of many novel genes involved in islet expansion during pregnancy provides an important resource for diabetes researchers to further investigate how these factors contribute to the maintenance of not only islet mass, but ultimately β -cell mass.

Introduction

The onset of type 2 diabetes in both human and rodent models is accompanied by a progressive decrease in β -cell mass, resulting from increased β -cell apoptosis (1). Many physiological and pathophysiological states such as pregnancy, nondiabetic obesity, aging, genetic insulin resistance, and acute illness increase systemic insulin demand (2). In order to compensate for relative insulin deficiency, pancreatic β -cells dynamically expand their mass. Although insulin resistance arises during metabolic stress, it is the inability of the β -cell to meet the demand for insulin that ultimately leads to type 2 diabetes.

Whereas the ability of the adult pancreas to modulate β -cell mass has been clearly demonstrated, at least in rodents, there is controversy regarding the mechanisms underlying the expansion of β -cell mass. These mechanisms include replication of preexisting β -cells, differentiation of progenitors within the ductal epithelium, transdifferentiation of acinar cells, and differentiation of pancreatic stem cells and/or progenitors that are not of β -cell, ductal or acinar origin (3). Recent studies indicate that during adulthood the great majority of new β -cells in mice are derived through replication or pre-existing β -cells and few, if any, newly formed β -cells stem from progenitor cell populations (4). Only under extreme conditions is the fetal differentiation program, involving the basic helix loop helix factor Ngn3, reactivated in the adult mouse (5), indicating that terminally differentiated rodent β -cells retain a significant capacity to proliferate *in vivo*.

Adult β -cells undergo very little turnover and are estimated to have an average lifespan of approximately 60 days in the mouse (6), with turnover being even rarer in

islets of adult humans (7). Therefore, it is often necessary to introduce a metabolic stress that increases the demand for insulin in order to expose the effects of mutations affecting β -cell expansion. Such an approach has been used to study the role of Pdx1 (8) and Hnf4 α (9) in the maintenance of β -cell mass.

One of the most robust physiological stimuli of β -cell expansion is pregnancy. Studies in rats demonstrated that β -cell proliferation increases dramatically during pregnancy, with a peak occurring about two-thirds of the way through gestation and returning to prepartum levels after day 18.5, as assessed through BrdU incorporation into DNA (10). This peak in proliferation coincides with the peak of placental lactogen levels. However, it remains unclear which mechanisms specifically drive β -cell replication during pregnancy *in vivo*. In this study we systematically uncover pathways and factors underlying the islet"s proliferative response to pregnancy *in vivo*, because these targets might be exploited in the treatment of diabetes.

<u>Results</u>

β -cell proliferation and β -cell hypertrophy dramatically increase β -cell mass during pregnancy

To rigorously examine the modulation of β -cell mass in the adult mouse during pregnancy, we assessed β -cell mass in both non-pregnant control and pregnant female mice specifically at day 14.5 of gestation, corresponding to the peak bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) labeling in the rodent (10). Using morphometric analysis, we found that β -cell mass was increased 3.8 times on day 14.5 of pregnancy compared to non-pregnant controls (Figure 2.1A). The increase in β -cell mass was strongly correlated with increased BrdU incorporation into DNA. On average, non-pregnant controls exhibited 1.14 BrdUpositive cells per islet crosssection and 1.04% of all islet nuclei were BrdU-positive. Conversely, BrdU labeling was increased to 4.02 BrdU-positive cells per islet crosssection and 3.58% of cells on day 14.5 of gestation (Figure 2.1B-C). In pregnant animals almost all islets contained at least one BrdU-positive cell, but many contained five to ten or even more BrdU-positive cells (Figure 2.1D). Insulin and BrdU immunostaining confirmed that it was indeed β -cells that were proliferating (Figure 2.2A-F). Figure 2.2 also illustrates the appearance of doublet BrdU stained nuclei, showing an increase of newly formed daughter cells, specifically as a result of β -cell mitosis. Ki67 antigen detection also confirmed the dramatic increase in β -cell proliferation on day 14.5 of gestation (Figure 2.2G-H), and closely mirrored a 4.8-fold increase in mKi67 mRNA expression (data not shown). In addition, the expression levels of cyclin A2, B1, B2, D3, E1, F and Cdk4 were significantly increased, while expression of Cdk6 and Cdk7 was significantly decreased as compared to islets from control mice (Figure 2.1G).

Concurrently with β -cell proliferation, β -cell hypertrophy occurred (Figure 2.2I-J), as β cell size, as measured by volume was increased approximately three times on day 14.5 of pregnancy (Figure 2.1E) with an overall shift towards larger β -cells (Figure 2.1F).



Figure 2.1: β-Cell proliferation with β-cell hypertrophy dramatically increase β-cell mass at day 14.5 of pregnancy in mice.

Figure 2.1: β-Cell proliferation with β-cell hypertrophy dramatically increase β-cell mass at day 14.5 of pregnancy in mice. (A) β-Cell mass of nonpregnant and pregnant (d 14.5) mice (n = 3–4/group; *, P < 0.05 vs. nonpregnant control). Quantification of (B) BrdU-positive cells per islet (n = 4–5; *, P < 0.03 vs. control), (C) BrdU-positive cells as % of total nuclei (n = 4–5; *P < 0.01 vs. control), and (D) percentage of islets with certain number of BrdU-positive cells. Determination of (E) β-cell size and (F) percentage of islets with certain β-cell size (n = 4–5; *, P < 0.05 vs. control). Gene expression changes (G) of cell cycle regulators (n = 4–5; *, P < 0.05 vs. control). AU, Arbitrary units; pos., positive.



Figure 2.2: Histological analysis of β-cell proliferation, hypertrophy, and mass at day 14.5 during pregnancy.

Figure 2.2: Histological analysis of β -cell proliferation, hypertrophy, and mass at day 14.5 during pregnancy. Insulin staining (A) and BrdU incorporation into β -cells (C) of pregnant mice, insulin (B) and BrdU (D) staining of nonpregnant female mice, and BrdU staining of pregnant (E) and nonpregnant (F) mice (×20). Ki67 staining of pregnant (G), and nonpregnant (H) mice, dual fluorescent staining of cell surface marker E-cadherin (*red*) and insulin (*green*) of pregnant (I) and nonpregnant (J) mice.

Identification of differentially expressed genes throughout pregnancy in the islet

Whereas the dramatic proliferative response of the pancreatic β -cell that occurs during pregnancy has been known for some time (10), no systematic study that investigates the expression profile of this response has been reported thus far. To elucidate additional physiologic factors important for driving β-cell specific expansion during pregnancy in vivo, we isolated total RNA samples from islets of 4-5 month-old non-pregnant controls and pregnant (at day 14.5 of gestation) females for large-scale expression profiling. Quantitative RT-PCR (qPCR) was used to determine the relative levels of endocrine (prohormone convertase-2) and exocrine (amylase and chymotrypsinogen) gene expression levels in each sample, minimizing differential gene expression originating from the islet preparation technique. Using SAM (Significance Analysis of Microarrays), we identified nearly 2,000 genes that were differentially expressed in islets on day 14.5 of gestation when compared to non-pregnant controls. qPCR confirmation of selected significantly differentially expressed genes agreed with the great majority of the microarray data (Table 2.3). Many of the genes identified in our analysis have not been previously reported to play a role in β -cell expansion, and include key enzymes involved in serotonin biosynthesis (Tph1/2), Itk, Gdf3, Tnfrsf11b, Ngfr, Bmp1, Cish, Socs2, Ilrn, Pax8, Hopx, Birc5, Nupr1 and the potential cell cycle regulators *Fbwx15*, *Fbxl17*, *Fbxl21*, *Fbxo27*. Factors linked to β -cell neogenesis and islet regeneration (*Reg3a*, *Pap*) were also significantly upregulated during pregnancy day 14.5 (11). In addition, not only are these genes differentially expressed concurrently with the peak of β -cell proliferation, but, for the 18 genes tested, also at day 10.5 when β -cell

replication is thought to initiate (Figure 2.4A-R). The majority of genes are also differentially expressed during 18.5 possibly reflecting potential further roles in the islet during pregnancy independent from replication.

	Gene Symbol	Fold Change	qPCR (p<0.05)	Functional Category	Description
-	C85627	53.1	425.2	F-box domain containing protein	Expressed sequence C85627
	Cldn8	51.1	74.3	Cell adhesion molecule/ Tight junction	Claudin 8
	Tph1	19.1	218.3	Serotonin biosynthesis/ Regeneration	Tryptophan hydroxylase 1
	ltk	18.2	46.3	Protein tyrosine kinase activity/ Proliferation	IL2-inducible T-cell kinase
	Gdf3	17.9	16.6	Growth factor activity	Growth differentiation factor
	Tph2	12.1	9.4	Serotonin biosynthesis/ oxidoreductase activity	Tryptophan hydroxylase 2
	Cish	10.9	13.3	Regulation of growth	Cytokine inducible SH2 containing protein
				Oxidoreductase activity	
	Fmo1	7.20	10.72		Flavin containing monooxygenase 1
	ll1rn	5.1	27.3	Insulin secretion	Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist
	Pax8	4.9	6.3	Cell differentiation/ Transcription	Paired box gene 8
	Rasgrp1	4.8	4.6	Proliferation	Ras guanyl releasing protein 1
	lgfbp5	4.4	9.3	Regulation of cell growth	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 5
	Fbxw15	4.2	34.8	Cell cycle regulation	F-box and WD-40 domain protein 15
	Chgb	4.2	3.4	Secretory granule biosynthesis	Chromogranin B
	Txnrd2	3.9	3.5	Oxidoreductase activity	Thioredoxin reductase 2
	Reg3a*	3.6	5.5	Neogenesis	Regenerating islet-derived 3 alpha
	Ngfr	3.4	3.2	Proliferation/ apoptosis	Nerve growth factor receptor
	Pap (Reg3b)*	3.4	3.2	Neogenesis	Pancreatitis-associated protein
	Tnfrsf11b	3.3	2.6	Receptor activity/ apoptosis	Osteoprotegerin
	Angptl6	3.1	3.1	Angiogenesis	Angiopoietin-like 6
	Socs-2	3.1	5.2	Regulation of growth	Suppressor of cytokine signaling-2
	Норх	3.0	3.2	Transcription/ Growth	Homeobox only protein
	Mbc2	2.8	2.8	Insulin Secretion	Membrane bound C2 domain containing protein
	Bmp1	2.7	3.1	Proteolysis/ Growth factor activity	Bone morphogenetic protein 1
	Birc5	2.7	4.9	Anti-apoptosis/ cell cycle	Baculoviral IAP repeat-containing 5 (Survivin)
	Prlr	2.6	3.0	Proliferation	Prolactin receptor
	Acvr1c	2.5	3.4	Insulin secretion/ apoptosis	Activin A receptor, type 1C
	Nupr1	2.5	2.4	Proliferation/ apoptosis	Nuclear protein 1
	ld4	2.2	2.0	Proliferation	Inhibitor of DNA binding 4
	Rab3d	2.0	1.4	Insulin secretion	Member Ras oncogene family
	Cdca3	1.5	3.1	Proliferation	Cell division cycle associated 3
-	Cdc20	1.5	2.6	Proliferation	Cell division cycle homolog 20
-	*PancChip 6.2				

Table 2 2. Most differentially	ownward aanaa	during program	u day 145
Table 2.5: Most differentially	expressed genes	s during pregnanc	y uay 14.5.





genes throughout pregnancy.

Figure 2.4: Temporal gene expression analysis of selected differentially expressed genes throughout pregnancy. (A–R) Gene expression changes for each respective gene during d 10.5, d 14.5, and d 18.5 during pregnancy (n = 4–5 per time point; *, P < 0.05; #, P < 0.09).

Differentially-expressed genes are present in β-cells

To investigate whether the expression of differentially expressed genes during pregnancy we found in islets are expressed in β -cells, we used Mip-GFP (mouse insulin promoter- green fluorescent protein) transgenic mice to enrich for β -cells (12). We prepared single-cell suspensions from isolated islets and separated GFP+ β -cells from GFP- non- β -cells, by fluorescence-activated cell sorting. Although sorting of GFP+ and GFP- fractions was successful (Figure 2.5), significant levels of *Insulin* and *Pdx1* mRNA were present in the GFP- fractions, at levels many orders of magnitude higher than RNA isolated from wildtype livers (Figure 2.6A-B). This indicates that not all β -cells in Mip-GFP mice express high enough GFP to allow for sorting. Despite this limitation, we observed significantly elevated expression of a panel of genes in GFP+ compared to GFP- cells derived from pregnant 14.5 islets for all genes except *Gdf3* (Figure 2.6E-O). This confirms that the majority of the islet-specific differentially expressed genes described above are indeed expressed in β -cells during pregnancy, and is consistent with their proposed role in regulating β -cell replication during gestation.



Figure 2.5: Separation of GFP+ and GFP- populations from Mip-GFP mice.

Figure 2.5: Separation of GFP+ and GFP- populations from Mip-GFP mice.

(A) SSC (side scatter) is proportional to cell complexity and depends on the number of organelles inside the cell. FSC (forward scatter) correlates with cell size. GFP 530/30-A measures strength of an individual cell"s GFP intensity. (A-D) Freshly isolated islets from CD1+ female mouse (no GFP expression) were used to calibrate the cell sorter before GFP sorting began. (E) Plotting both SSC and FSC shows all cells collected as shown by the highlighted gate. (F) Only singlet or non-aggregated cells were used for efficient cell sorting. (G-H) Two distinct populations of cells were collected separately for further analysis.



Figure 2.6: Differentially expressed genes identified in the islet are expressed in βcells during pregnancy day 14.5.

Figure 2.6: Differentially expressed genes identified in the islet are expressed in β cells during pregnancy day 14.5. Gene expression changes for insulin (A) and *Pdx1* (B) in wild-type liver, pregnant d 14.5 GFP– and pregnant day 14.5 GFP+ single-cell fractions. (C–O) Gene expression levels of selected genes in pregnant day 14.5 GFP– compared with pregnant day 14.5 GFP+ single-cell fractions (n = 3 per fraction; *, *P* < 0.05). Although both proliferative and survival signals are required for islet expansion, the mechanisms to attain increased islet mass differ between pregnancy, obesity, and β-cell injury models

To identify specific pathways and mechanisms that potentially contribute to β -cell proliferation observed during day 14.5 of pregnancy, we analyzed our expression data with the Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery (DAVID), which is specifically designed to systematically extract biological meaning from large gene lists (13). Among the biological functions demonstrating significant enrichment between the genes differentially expressed in islets during pregnancy, 228 genes are involved in processes relating to cellular proliferation, and 60 with apoptosis. Interestingly, other functions enriched during pregnancy day 14.5 include antioxidation and free radical removal, vesicle mediated transport, ubiquitin cycle, proteolysis, and chromatin packaging and remodeling (Table 2.7). Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) identified gene sets up-regulated during pregnancy involved in both tryptophan metabolism and ERK pathway (data not shown) (14).

Functional characterization of genes differentially expressed during pregnancy day 14.5 suggests that the islet"s ability to compensate during metabolic stress requires the simultaneous induction of both proliferative and survival pathways. During pregnancy the increase in proliferation specifically in the β -cell is accompanied by a 5-fold increase in *Birc5* gene expression in the islet (Table 2.3). Conditional deletion of Birc5, an inhibitor of apoptosis, specifically in the endocrine pancreas showed a severe inability to maintain normal postnatal β -cell mass throughout adulthood *in vivo* (15). We

hypothesized that simultaneous induction of *Birc5* expression in the islet with β -cell proliferation during other models of β -cell expansion is essential for the ability of the islet to expand its mass in response to diverse metabolic stressors. To address this issue, we assessed *mKi67* and *Birc5* gene expression in two additional β -cell expansion models: the diabetes-resistant B6 *leptin*^{ob/ob} and diabetes-susceptible BTBR *leptin*^{ob/ob} mice (16), and the PANIC-ATTAC transgenic mouse model of inducible and reversible β -cell ablation (17). Leptin-deficient B6 mice that remain non-diabetic, irrespective of obesity, were able to induce the expression of both *mKi67* and *Birc5* throughout obesity both at 4 and 10 weeks of age (Figure 2.8A). In contrast, while initially able to significantly induce *Birc5* expression of either gene, in part accounting for the onset of severe diabetes that this age (16). The expression of *Birc5* was significantly greater in the 10 week B6 *leptin*^{ob/ob} compared to the 10 week BTBR *leptin*^{ob/ob} mouse (Figure 2.8A).

 β -cell mass is reversibly ablated by activation of caspase-8 mediated apoptosis in the PANIC-ATTAC model, and recovers in 30 days to pre-treatment levels even in the face of severe hyperglycemia (17). Islet proliferation was assessed by *mKi67* gene expression, showing a significant increase on day 8, with expression returning back to normal levels by day 30. *Birc5* expression closely mirrored the proliferative profile during the recovery of β -cell mass (Figure 2.8C), suggesting the ability to successfully expand islet mass during pregnancy, obesity, or in the setting of injury-induced diabetes requires both the induction of both islet proliferation and survival pathways.

Given the divergent physiologic contexts of pregnancy, obesity and experimental β -cell ablation, the molecular mechanisms responsible for both the compensatory

increase in islet mass response are probably distinct. To address this issue, using qPCR, we compared the expression of selected genes most differentially expressed during pregnancy day 14.5 to two other models of β -cell expansion: the 10 week old diabetesresistant B6 *leptin^{ob/ob}* mouse and the PANIC-ATTAC transgenic mouse. Whereas the expression of some genes such as *Tnfrsf11b* and *Hopx* significantly increased, the majority of gene expression did not change, declined, or was not detectable during obesity (Figure 2.8B). Genes whose temporal gene expression significantly changed during β -cell recovery after injury included *Itk*, *Tnfrsf11b*, *Il1rn*, *Rasgrp1*, and *Ngfr* with the majority of gene changes occurring on day 8, the peak of proliferation (Figure 2.8D-E). Again, the majority of gene expression profiles did not change or declined in the PANIC-ATTAC model (Figure 2.8E). Interestingly, Birc5, and Tnfrsf11b induction is connected to all three *in vivo* models of β -cell mass expansion analyzed. However, the dramatic differences in gene induction occurring between pregnancy, obesity-induced β cell compensation, and recovery from β -cell ablation suggest that diverse mechanisms can be utilized by the β -cell to expand its mass.

		Number of genes	Benjamini p-value
Cellular Proliferation	Cell cycle control	25	3.80E-02
	Meiosis	42	2.30E-02
	Mitosis	66	4.60E-03
	Cytokinesis	47	2.70E-02
B. II	Chromosome segregation	48	5.50E-03
Death	Apoptosis	60	3.40E-02
Response to Stress	Antioxidation and free radical removal	24	1.90E-02
Cell Communication	Receptor protein tyrosine kinase signaling path	way 48	3.60E-03
	Cell surface receptor mediated signal transduct	ion 172	7.60E-04
	Ligand mediated signaling	45	1.30E-02
	G-protein mediated signaling	274	2.75E-05
	Cell adhesion-mediated signaling	43	1.20E-03
Collular physiological		67	3.005.03
Central physiological	Diquitin cycle	57 201	3.90E-02
process	Vesicle mediated transport	53	1.60E-00 3.60E-02
	Secretion by cell	38	3.50E-02
	Chromatin packaging and remodeling	74	8.20E-03
Cellular metabolic	Amino acid metabolic process	44	5.90E-05
process	Lipid, fatty acid and steroid metabolism	82	5.90E-04
process	Amine metabolic process	54	7.00E-04
	Electron transport	68	2.50E-02

Table 2.7: Gene Ontology (GO) functions significantly enriched during pregnancy

day 14.5.



Figure 2.8: Gene expression profiles differ between the pregnancy, obesity, and βcell injury models of β-cell regeneration.

Figure 2.8: Gene expression profiles differ between the pregnancy, obesity, and βcell injury models of β-cell regeneration. (A) Strain-dependent comparison of mRNA expression of both *mKi67* and *Birc5* between both 4- and 10-wk-old B6^{ob/ob} and BTBR^{ob/ob} leptin-deficient mice and lean controls (n = 5–7 per strain; *, P < 0.05 vs. respective lean control; #, P = 0.055; \$, P = 0.08). (B) Expression of selected differentially expressed genes identified in the pregnancy paradigm during obesity at 10 wk in the B6 strain (n = 5–7 per strain; *, P < 0.05 vs. lean control; &, not detectable). (C) Temporal gene expression of *mKi67* and *Birc5* before (d 0), after (d 30), and during (d 8) recovery from chemically induced β-cell ablation. (D and E) Temporal gene expression of selected pregnancy-induced genes during recovery from chemically induced β-cell ablation in the PANIC-ATTAC model (n = 4–5 per time point; *, P < 0.05 vs. day 0).

Discussion

The ability for the β -cell to compensate for an increased insulin demand includes not only an increase in insulin secretion, but also an expansion of β -cell mass by modulating the balance between both β -cell proliferation and apoptosis. Here we investigated the global gene expression profile of the expanding islet during pregnancy at the peak of β -cell proliferation. We identified nearly 2,000 genes that are differentially expressed at this time when compared to non-pregnant controls. Several of the genes observed to be differentially expressed during pregnancy are known to function in the maintenance of β -cell mass, including not only *c-Myc*, *Cdk4*, but both *Prl2c5*, and *Prlr*, consistent with the known role of placental lactogens during pregnancy-induced β -cell mass expansion (18-21). Strikingly, many of the genes identified in our analysis have not been previously reported to play a role in islet expansion.

One of the most significantly regulated genes was the F-box and WD-40 domain protein 15 (*Fbxw15*). F-box proteins have been identified as substrate recognition components of the multi-subunit ubiquitin ligase SCF (SKP1-CUL1-F-box protein) and contribute to the regulation of cell cycle progression and cell fate via the ubiquitylation and consequent degradation of many cell cycle inhibitors such as p27 (22) and Cyclin D1 (23). Differential expression of other F-box family members (*C85627*, *Fbxw14*, *Fbx117*, *Fbx127*, and *Fbxo27*) also occurs during pregnancy, signifying that tight regulation of specific cell cycle proteins by way of proteosomal protein degradation is a crucial process in the islet"s adaptive ability response to metabolic stress. Surprisingly, expression of key serotonin synthesizing enzymes, tryptophan hydroxylase 1 and 2 (*Tph1/2*), were strongly induced during pregnancy. In *Drosophila*, serotonergic neurons in the brain were shown to control body size by regulating the Insulin/IGF pathway in peripheral tissues (24). In mice gene ablation studies deletion of only the 5-HT_{2C} receptor produces insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (25), resulting to the extensive development of 5-HT2C receptor agonists which improve glucose homeostasis in leptin-deficient obese mice (26). Serotonin itself has been shown to enhance insulin synthesis and secretion on primary rat islets *in vitro* (27). However, though the relatively elevated presence of serotonin in pancreatic islets has been known for years (28), a specific growth related role in β -cells remains to be established.

We demonstrate by utilizing three different models of β -cell expansion that both the islet"s and β -cell"s ability to respond to different metabolic stresses is associated with both an increase in proliferation and survival mechanisms, supported by increases *mKi67* and *Birc5* gene expression. β -cell specific overexpression of c-Myc in mice causes increased β -cell proliferation, but also apoptosis leading to the development of diabetes (29). Conversely, deletion of Caspase 3 protects the β -cell from c-Myc induced apoptosis and diabetes, supporting the notion that the β -cell"s ability to compensate during metabolic stress requires the simultaneous induction of both proliferative and survival pathways (30). For example, dysregulation of this homeostatic control of β -cell mass, based on the relative contribution of cell proliferation and cell death, is not only a major contributor to gestational diabetes, but also the onset of type 2 diabetes, because 70% of women who are diabetic during pregnancy develop type 2 diabetes later in life (31). Our pregnancy gene list shows potential signaling factors involved in coordinating both of these processes not only in the islet, but potentially in the β -cell itself.

Both Cish and Socs2, members of the suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) family of proteins, have been shown to act as negative regulators of a variety of tyrosine kinases and receptors impacting β -cell proliferation *in vitro*, including Prlr (32) and Igf1r (33), via a negative feedback loop and proteosomal degradation mechanisms, inhibiting their downstream Janus family of tyrosine kinase 2/signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling cascades. Cish and Socs2 are known to decrease activation of Stat5 (32, 34), whose gene products induce proliferative (Cyclin D2), anti-apoptotic (BclxL, Bcl6) (35-37) and functional mechanisms (Gck, Glut2, Insulin) (38, 39). This suggests that the high levels of Cish and Socs2 expression observed during pregnancy play a critical role in limiting the rate of cell proliferation and promoting survival of βcells. Conversely, during obesity the gene expression levels of Cish and Socs2 significantly decrease in the B6 *leptin*^{ob/ob} mouse at 10 weeks, suggesting an enhancement of these properties during a more chronic metabolic stress (Figure 2.8A). Additionally, Socs7-deficient mice display enlarged islets and increased insulin function, consistent with the notion that this family has a role in regulating β -cell mass in the adult mouse (40).

Additionally, our comparison of the three paradigms of β -cell expansion suggests that diverse mechanisms can be utilized by the islet to expand its mass. The majority of genes investigated are not similarly induced between models, strongly suggesting that not only does the β -cell have the ability to modulate its mass to cope with metabolic demand, but can also activate diverse signaling mechanisms depending on the physiological condition. In support of this notion, several surprising mechanisms controlling β -cell mass homeostasis through bone-derived signals (41), and transmission of proproliferative signals from the liver via the peripheral and central nervous system to the β -cell (42) have been described recently. Conversely, *Birc5* and *Tnfrsf11b* are commonly induced in all three models of β -cell expansion, suggesting they act as universal mediators of β -cell expansion. Recently, Birc5 has been shown to exhibit a β -cell specific and bifunctional role important in both attenuation of β -cell proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis *in vivo* (15). We show that *Birc5* closely mirrors the proliferative profile (*mKi67*) throughout the β -cell injury time course (Figure 2.8C), providing additional evidence to suggest that *Birc5* is a critical component of the mechanism for maintaining β -cell homeostasis, not only physiologically, but also in the setting of diabetes.

Tnfrsf11b (Osteoprotegerin) is a secreted and soluble member of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor superfamily (43). Tnfrsf11b has anti-apoptotic properties in β -cells (44), and overexpression of this osteoblast-derived factor in islets suggests regulation of β -cell expansion by peripheral tissues, a mechanism supported by transplantation studies in mice (45). In support of this notion, osteocalcin, a peptide secreted by osteoblasts in the bone, affects energy metabolism, by increasing β -cell proliferation, insulin secretion, and insulin sensitivity (41). We hypothesize that Tnfrsf11b is an additional bone-derived hormone that exhibits a pro-proliferative effect on β -cells during pregnancy. In addition, Keller et al. (16) identified genes in insulin target tissues, specifically muscle, with expression profiles highly correlated to the islet cell cycle regulatory module activated during obesity, including several genes induced in islets during pregnancy. *Ngf, Bmp1*, and *Gdf10 (Gdf3* during pregnancy), suggesting these as further candidates for potentially mediating β -cell proliferation. The upregulation of TGF- β family members, *Bmp1*, *Alk7* and *Gdf3* is consistent with their already known role in establishment of β -cell mass (46, 47).

In conclusion, we identified a large number of genes correlating with both the initiation and peak of β -cell proliferation during pregnancy in the mouse. Additionally, we confirmed that many of the genes are expressed in the β -cell, and provide a platform for diabetes researchers to further explore their role in the maintenance of β -cell mass.

Note: The data presented in this chapter has been published in Molecular Endocrinology as an Original Research Article entitled,

The Transcriptional Response of the Islet to Pregnancy in Mice.

Rieck S, White P, Schug J, Fox AJ, Smirnova O, Gao N, Gupta RK, Wang ZV, Scherer PE, Keller MP, Attie AD, Kaestner KH. Mol Endocrinol. 2009 Oct;23(10):1702-12.

Materials and Methods

β-cell mass, β-cell proliferation, β-cell hypertrophy. For histological assessment, pancreata were dissected, fixed in 4% PFA for 24 hr, and then laid flat for paraffin sectioning. Sections with the greatest surface area were used in all experiments. β -cell mass was determined on 4 month-old non-pregnant and pregnant (at day 14.5 of gestation) female mice by point-counting morphometry as previously described (9). Sections from each animal were stained with guinea pig anti-insulin antibody (1:1000; Linco Research, Inc, St. Charles, MO) diluted in phosphate-buffered saline plus 0.1% Tween and incubated overnight at 4°C. The secondary antiserum was a biotinylated antiguinea pig antibody (1:200; Vector Laboratories). For color development, horseradish peroxidase-conjugated avidin-biotin complex reagent was used with 3.3"diaminobenzidine as a substrate (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Images covering the entire section were used from which the percentage of β -cell area was measured and calculated using MetaMorph Imaging Software (Universal Imaging Corp., West Chester, PA). β -cell mass was derived from total pancreas weight multiplied by percentage of β cell area (9). For β-cell proliferation measurements, mice were injected with 10µL of Zymed BrdU Solution (3mg/mL; Zymed Laboratories, Inc., South San Francisco, CA) per gram body weight 24 hr before they were euthanized. BrdU staining was assessed using a BrdU-specific sheep monoclonal antibody (1:1000; United States Biochemical Corp., Cleveland, OH) as described (9). In addition, Ki67 antigen detection using a Ki67specific rabbit monoclonal (1:2000; Vector Laboratories) antibody was employed to confirm β -cell proliferation assessment. For β -cell size determination, the same slides used for BrdU incorporation were used to determine the volume and number of nuclei for

each islet via ImageJ Software (Image Processing and Analysis in Java; National Institutes of Health). At least 20 islets per pancreas from at least four mice per experimental group were analyzed for determining β -cell size and proliferation.

RNA isolation and qPCR. Adult islets for all experiments were prepared using the standard collagenase procedure, as previously described (9). Total RNA was isolated using the RNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Chatsworth, CA) and eluted in water. 200ng of total RNA of each sample were amplified using the MessageAmp aRNA Kit (Ambion, Inc., Austin, TX) (9). The RNA 6000 Nano Lab Chip Kit with a 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) was used to ensure samples of high RNA quality (48). cDNA was synthesized from approximately 500ng amplified islet RNA using $1\mu g$ of Oligo(dT) primer, SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase, and accompanying reagents (Invitrogen). PCR reaction mixes were assembled using SYBR Green Quantitative PCR Master Mix (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA). Reactions were performed using the SYBR Green program on the Mx4000 Multiplex Quantitative PCR System (Stratagene). All reactions were performed in duplicate on at least four biological replicates with Rox reference dye normalization. Hprt, Gapdh, and Ubc were tested for suitability as housekeeping genes using the GeNorm analysis package. Median C_T values were used for analysis and normalized to the expression of two housekeeping genes; *Hprt*, and *Gapdh*. Primer sequences are available at http://www.med.upenn.edu/kaestnerlab/.

Microarray expression profiling and data analysis.

Non-pregnant controls vs. pregnant at day 14.5: To allow hybridization of samples that were well-matched for purity in terms of the amount of exocrine contamination, qPCR was used to determine the relative levels of endocrine (Prohormone convertase-2) and

exocrine (Amylase and chymotrypsinogen B1) gene expression in each sample. As a result, differential gene expression originating from varying islet purity was minimized. Total RNA (50 ng) from each sample was used for labeling and hybridization. Amplified cDNA was prepared using the WT-Ovation Pico Amplification System (NuGEN Technologies, San Carlos, CA). Amplified cDNA (2µg) was directly labeled using the BioPrime Array CGH Genomic Labeling System (Invitrogen) with Cy3- and Cy5-labeled nucleotides (GE Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ). Of the four biological replicates, two were labeled with Cy3 (Test) and the other with Cy5 (Control) and the other two with Cy5 (Test) and Cy3 (Control), eliminating variations introduced by dye bias. Labeled samples were hybridized overnight to the Agilent 4X44 Whole Mouse Genome Array. Arrays were washed and then scanned with the Agilent DNA microarray Scanner, Model G2565B (Agilent Technologies). Median intensities of each element on the array were captured with Agilent Feature Extraction version 9.53 (Agilent Technologies). Quality control diagnostic plots were prepared for each array, and those failing to exhibit high-quality hybridizations were excluded from further analysis, resulting in the final dataset containing four biological replicates for each condition.

The data were normalized by the print tip loess method using the LIMMA (Linear models for microarray data) package in R as described (49). For statistical analysis, genes were called differentially expressed using the Significance Analysis of Microarrays (SAM) one class response package with a false discovery rate (FDR) of 20% (50). Genes marked as absent, i.e. with expression levels near background, were omitted. Differentially expressed genes were confirmed using real-time qRT-PCR as described

above. All expression data were deposited into Arrayexpress (Accession no. E-MTAB-120).

Mip-GFP sorting. Freshly isolated islets from Mip-GFP mice (12) were placed in 1.0 mL of prewarmed Trypsin at 37C in an eppendorf tube for 12 minutes mixing every three minutes until no clumps were visible. Dissociation into a single-cell suspension was stopped with the addition of 1mL of heat inactivated FBS. The cells were then transferred to a 15mL Falcon tube through a 40-µm nylon mesh cell strainer cap (BD Biosciences, Palo Alto, CA), washed 3 times in PBS containing 2% FBS, and placed immediately on ice ready for sorting. GFP+ and GFP- cells were sorted by the University of Pennsylvania Flow Cytometry and Cell Sorting Resource Laboratory using the FACSVantage SE (BD Biosciences). Cells were gated for non-aggregates to achieve a high-purity sort. Both GFP+ and GFP- cells were separated and collected directly into a 1.5 mL eppendorf tubes containing 0.5 mL of Trizol and the samples were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80C. Depending on yield some samples were pooled to obtain 20,000 cells per sample.

Obesity, and reversible β-cell injury model. Islet RNA isolated from both 10 week old $B6^{ob/ob}$ and $BTBR^{ob/ob}$ leptin-deficient mice was used as an animal model representing obesity. The PANIC-ATTAC mouse was used as an animal model of inducible and reversible β-cell ablation (17). Islet RNA was isolated on day 0, 8, and 30 after administration of dimerizer AP20187 and cDNA synthesized using the Ovation RNA Amplification System V2 (P/N 3100; NuGEN Technologies). At least four biological replicates per time point were used for real-time qPCR analysis.
Statistical analysis. Statistical analysis between two groups was done were analyzed using one-tailed Student *t* test. Values are considered significant when P < 0.05.

Addendum

Following publication of the data presented in Chapter 2, several studies were published confirming a role in β -cell proliferation of a number of genes I identified as highly differentially expressed in the islet during pregnancy. Of transcriptional mediators, FoxM1 has been shown to directly activate the transcription of Birc5, the anti-apoptotic gene during pregnancy discussed previously, Cyclin B1, and prevent the nuclear expression of p27^{Kip1} (51). Both *Birc5* and *Cyclin B1* is shown by our gene expression analysis to increase in expression (Figure 2.9), and protein levels of p27^{Kip1} have been proven to decrease in the islet during pregnancy (52). Other known FoxM1 targets such as Skp2 have already been implicated in β -cell compensation in response to diet-induced obesity (22), and indeed, the proliferative response of the β -cell to pregnancy in mice is dependent on FoxM1 itself (52).

Two genes with the most dramatic fold change in steady state mRNA levels in islets during pregnancy were tryptophan hydroxylase 1 and 2 (*Tph1* and *Tph2*) (Figure 2.9). Although it has been known for a long time that serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine; 5-HT) is synthesized within β -cells and stored together with insulin in secretory granules (53, 54), the physiological role of this synthesis and storage was unknown until very recently. Just this year, mice deficient for Tph1 exhibit impaired insulin secretion. They further showed that 5-HT is coupled via the action of transglutaminases to two small GTPases, rendering the latter constitutively active and promoting insulin secretion (55). It is tempting to speculate that dramatic increase of *Tph1/2* expression in the islet during pregnancy increases the insulin secretory response of the β -cell.

Furthermore, a recent study demonstrated that Tph1 expression is downstream of lactogenic signaling, and found that local serotonin signaling drives β -cell proliferation leading to β -cell mass expansion in pregnant mice (Figure 2.9). Specifically, expression of the G α_q - linked serotonin receptor 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor-2b (Htr2b) is closely correlated with the increase of β -cell proliferation during rodent pregnancy, blocking of which leads to decreased β -cell expansion and glucose intolerance. Interestingly, Tph1 protein expression in islets is also increased in response to pregnancy in humans (56). Thus, serotonin signaling can be major determinant in regulating both β -cell expansion and heightened insulin secretion occurring during physiological insulin resistant states.

Of note, investigation into the role of the suppressor of cytokine signaling protein Cish in β -cell proliferation by genetic ablation specifically in β -cells is a future aim of this thesis (Chapter 4).



Figure 2.9: Known mechanisms responsible for β-cell gain during pregnancy.

Figure 2.9: Known mechanisms responsible for β -cell gain during pregnancy. (A) Activation of PRL receptors upon binding of lactogens (Prolactin or placental lactogen) plays a pivotal role in the adaptation of the β -cell to pregnancy. Downstream signaling pathways of the prolactin receptor include Stat5, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and Mapk pathways, targets of which have been implicated to lead to increased β -cell proliferation, survival and size. For example, transgenic overexpression of Akt1, upregulated in the islet during pregnancy, leads to dramatic increase in β -cell size (57). (B) Known transcription factors (listed with their target genes) that regulate the increase in β -cell mass during pregnancy. A red arrow indicates an increase in expression of genes in the islet during pregnancy day 14.5 as assessed by our gene expression analysis. (C) Possible prolactin receptor independent mechanisms leading to β -cell gain mechanisms. For example, increased Hgf levels in the islet endothelium correlates with increased β cell proliferation in pregnant rats (58). Much is still to be discovered, as evidenced by the recent finding that upregulation of the developmental transcription factor MafB in β -cells during pregnancy (59).

Note: Portions of this addendum have been published in TRENDS in Endocrinology and Metabolism as a Review article entitled,

Expansion of β *-cell mass in response to pregnancy.*

Rieck S, Kaestner KH. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2010 Mar; 21(3):151-8.

References

- Butler, A.E., Janson, J., Bonner-Weir, S., Ritzel, R., Rizza, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2003. Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 52:102-110.
- 2. Heit, J.J., Karnik, S.K., and Kim, S.K. 2006. Intrinsic regulators of pancreatic beta-cell proliferation. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 22:311-338.
- 3. Bonner-Weir, S., and Weir, G.C. 2005. New sources of pancreatic beta-cells. *Nat Biotechnol* 23:857-861.
- 4. Dor, Y., Brown, J., Martinez, O.I., and Melton, D.A. 2004. Adult pancreatic betacells are formed by self-duplication rather than stem-cell differentiation. *Nature* 429:41-46.
- Xu, X., D'Hoker, J., Stange, G., Bonne, S., De Leu, N., Xiao, X., Van de Casteele, M., Mellitzer, G., Ling, Z., Pipeleers, D., et al. 2008. Beta cells can be generated from endogenous progenitors in injured adult mouse pancreas. *Cell* 132:197-207.
- 6. Bonner-Weir, S. 2001. beta-cell turnover: its assessment and implications. *Diabetes* 50 Suppl 1:S20-24.
- 7. Bouwens, L., and Pipeleers, D.G. 1998. Extra-insular beta cells associated with ductules are frequent in adult human pancreas. *Diabetologia* 41:629-633.
- Johnson, J.D., Ahmed, N.T., Luciani, D.S., Han, Z., Tran, H., Fujita, J., Misler, S., Edlund, H., and Polonsky, K.S. 2003. Increased islet apoptosis in Pdx1+/mice. *J Clin Invest* 111:1147-1160.
- 9. Gupta, R.K., Gao, N., Gorski, R.K., White, P., Hardy, O.T., Rafiq, K., Brestelli, J.E., Chen, G., Stoeckert, C.J., Jr., and Kaestner, K.H. 2007. Expansion of adult beta-cell mass in response to increased metabolic demand is dependent on HNF-4alpha. *Genes Dev* 21:756-769.
- 10. Parsons, J.A., Brelje, T.C., and Sorenson, R.L. 1992. Adaptation of islets of Langerhans to pregnancy: increased islet cell proliferation and insulin secretion correlates with the onset of placental lactogen secretion. *Endocrinology* 130:1459-1466.
- Kobayashi, S., Akiyama, T., Nata, K., Abe, M., Tajima, M., Shervani, N.J., Unno, M., Matsuno, S., Sasaki, H., Takasawa, S., et al. 2000. Identification of a receptor for reg (regenerating gene) protein, a pancreatic beta-cell regeneration factor. *J Biol Chem* 275:10723-10726.
- Hara, M., Wang, X., Kawamura, T., Bindokas, V.P., Dizon, R.F., Alcoser, S.Y., Magnuson, M.A., and Bell, G.I. 2003. Transgenic mice with green fluorescent protein-labeled pancreatic beta -cells. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 284:E177-183.
- 13. Huang da, W., Sherman, B.T., and Lempicki, R.A. 2009. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nat Protoc* 4:44-57.
- 14. Subramanian, A., Tamayo, P., Mootha, V.K., Mukherjee, S., Ebert, B.L., Gillette, M.A., Paulovich, A., Pomeroy, S.L., Golub, T.R., Lander, E.S., et al. 2005. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:15545-15550.

- Jiang, Y., Nishimura, W., Devor-Henneman, D., Kusewitt, D., Wang, H., Holloway, M.P., Dohi, T., Sabo, E., Robinson, M.L., Altieri, D.C., et al. 2008. Postnatal expansion of the pancreatic beta-cell mass is dependent on survivin. *Diabetes* 57:2718-2727.
- 16. Keller, M.P., Choi, Y., Wang, P., Davis, D.B., Rabaglia, M.E., Oler, A.T., Stapleton, D.S., Argmann, C., Schueler, K.L., Edwards, S., et al. 2008. A gene expression network model of type 2 diabetes links cell cycle regulation in islets with diabetes susceptibility. *Genome Res* 18:706-716.
- 17. Wang, Z.V., Mu, J., Schraw, T.D., Gautron, L., Elmquist, J.K., Zhang, B.B., Brownlee, M., and Scherer, P.E. 2008. PANIC-ATTAC: a mouse model for inducible and reversible beta-cell ablation. *Diabetes* 57:2137-2148.
- Freemark, M., Avril, I., Fleenor, D., Driscoll, P., Petro, A., Opara, E., Kendall, W., Oden, J., Bridges, S., Binart, N., et al. 2002. Targeted deletion of the PRL receptor: effects on islet development, insulin production, and glucose tolerance. *Endocrinology* 143:1378-1385.
- 19. Brelje, T.C., Stout, L.E., Bhagroo, N.V., and Sorenson, R.L. 2004. Distinctive roles for prolactin and growth hormone in the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 in pancreatic islets of langerhans. *Endocrinology* 145:4162-4175.
- 20. Vasavada, R.C., Garcia-Ocana, A., Zawalich, W.S., Sorenson, R.L., Dann, P., Syed, M., Ogren, L., Talamantes, F., and Stewart, A.F. 2000. Targeted expression of placental lactogen in the beta cells of transgenic mice results in beta cell proliferation, islet mass augmentation, and hypoglycemia. *J Biol Chem* 275:15399-15406.
- 21. Huang, C., Snider, F., and Cross, J.C. 2009. Prolactin receptor is required for normal glucose homeostasis and modulation of beta-cell mass during pregnancy. *Endocrinology* 150:1618-1626.
- 22. Zhong, L., Georgia, S., Tschen, S.I., Nakayama, K., and Bhushan, A. 2007. Essential role of Skp2-mediated p27 degradation in growth and adaptive expansion of pancreatic beta cells. *J Clin Invest* 117:2869-2876.
- 23. Barbash, O., Zamfirova, P., Lin, D.I., Chen, X., Yang, K., Nakagawa, H., Lu, F., Rustgi, A.K., and Diehl, J.A. 2008. Mutations in Fbx4 inhibit dimerization of the SCF(Fbx4) ligase and contribute to cyclin D1 overexpression in human cancer. *Cancer Cell* 14:68-78.
- 24. Kaplan, D.D., Zimmermann, G., Suyama, K., Meyer, T., and Scott, M.P. 2008. A nucleostemin family GTPase, NS3, acts in serotonergic neurons to regulate insulin signaling and control body size. *Genes Dev* 22:1877-1893.
- 25. Nonogaki, K., Strack, A.M., Dallman, M.F., and Tecott, L.H. 1998. Leptinindependent hyperphagia and type 2 diabetes in mice with a mutated serotonin 5-HT2C receptor gene. *Nat Med* 4:1152-1156.
- Zhou, L., Sutton, G.M., Rochford, J.J., Semple, R.K., Lam, D.D., Oksanen, L.J., Thornton-Jones, Z.D., Clifton, P.G., Yueh, C.Y., Evans, M.L., et al. 2007. Serotonin 2C receptor agonists improve type 2 diabetes via melanocortin-4 receptor signaling pathways. *Cell Metab* 6:398-405.

- 27. Peschke, E., Peschke, D., Hammer, T., and Csernus, V. 1997. Influence of melatonin and serotonin on glucose-stimulated insulin release from perifused rat pancreatic islets in vitro. *J Pineal Res* 23:156-163.
- 28. Bird, J.L., Wright, E.E., and Feldman, J.M. 1980. Pancreatic islets: a tissue rich in serotonin. *Diabetes* 29:304-308.
- 29. Laybutt, D.R., Weir, G.C., Kaneto, H., Lebet, J., Palmiter, R.D., Sharma, A., and Bonner-Weir, S. 2002. Overexpression of c-Myc in beta-cells of transgenic mice causes proliferation and apoptosis, downregulation of insulin gene expression, and diabetes. *Diabetes* 51:1793-1804.
- Radziszewska, A., Schroer, S.A., Choi, D., Tajmir, P., Radulovich, N., Ho, J.C., Wang, L., Liadis, N., Hakem, R., Tsao, M.S., et al. 2009. Absence of caspase-3 protects pancreatic {beta}-cells from c-Myc-induced apoptosis without leading to tumor formation. *J Biol Chem* 284:10947-10956.
- 31. Buchanan, T.A., and Xiang, A.H. 2005. Gestational diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Invest* 115:485-491.
- 32. Endo, T., Sasaki, A., Minoguchi, M., Joo, A., and Yoshimura, A. 2003. CIS1 interacts with the Y532 of the prolactin receptor and suppresses prolactin-dependent STAT5 activation. *J Biochem* 133:109-113.
- Zong, C.S., Chan, J., Levy, D.E., Horvath, C., Sadowski, H.B., and Wang, L.H. 2000. Mechanism of STAT3 activation by insulin-like growth factor I receptor. J *Biol Chem* 275:15099-15105.
- 34. Greenhalgh, C.J., Bertolino, P., Asa, S.L., Metcalf, D., Corbin, J.E., Adams, T.E., Davey, H.W., Nicola, N.A., Hilton, D.J., and Alexander, W.S. 2002. Growth enhancement in suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 (SOCS-2)-deficient mice is dependent on signal transducer and activator of transcription 5b (STAT5b). *Mol Endocrinol* 16:1394-1406.
- 35. Friedrichsen, B.N., Richter, H.E., Hansen, J.A., Rhodes, C.J., Nielsen, J.H., Billestrup, N., and Moldrup, A. 2003. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 activation is sufficient to drive transcriptional induction of cyclin D2 gene and proliferation of rat pancreatic beta-cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 17:945-958.
- Karnik, S.K., Chen, H., McLean, G.W., Heit, J.J., Gu, X., Zhang, A.Y., Fontaine, M., Yen, M.H., and Kim, S.K. 2007. Menin controls growth of pancreatic betacells in pregnant mice and promotes gestational diabetes mellitus. *Science* 318:806-809.
- 37. Socolovsky, M., Fallon, A.E., Wang, S., Brugnara, C., and Lodish, H.F. 1999. Fetal anemia and apoptosis of red cell progenitors in Stat5a-/-5b-/- mice: a direct role for Stat5 in Bcl-X(L) induction. *Cell* 98:181-191.
- 38. Galsgaard, E.D., Gouilleux, F., Groner, B., Serup, P., Nielsen, J.H., and Billestrup, N. 1996. Identification of a growth hormone-responsive STAT5binding element in the rat insulin 1 gene. *Mol Endocrinol* 10:652-660.
- Weinhaus, A.J., Stout, L.E., Bhagroo, N.V., Brelje, T.C., and Sorenson, R.L. 2007. Regulation of glucokinase in pancreatic islets by prolactin: a mechanism for increasing glucose-stimulated insulin secretion during pregnancy. *J Endocrinol* 193:367-381.

- 40. Banks, A.S., Li, J., McKeag, L., Hribal, M.L., Kashiwada, M., Accili, D., and Rothman, P.B. 2005. Deletion of SOCS7 leads to enhanced insulin action and enlarged islets of Langerhans. *J Clin Invest* 115:2462-2471.
- 41. Lee, N.K., Sowa, H., Hinoi, E., Ferron, M., Ahn, J.D., Confavreux, C., Dacquin, R., Mee, P.J., McKee, M.D., Jung, D.Y., et al. 2007. Endocrine regulation of energy metabolism by the skeleton. *Cell* 130:456-469.
- 42. Imai, J., Katagiri, H., Yamada, T., Ishigaki, Y., Suzuki, T., Kudo, H., Uno, K., Hasegawa, Y., Gao, J., Kaneko, K., et al. 2008. Regulation of pancreatic beta cell mass by neuronal signals from the liver. *Science* 322:1250-1254.
- 43. Simonet, W.S., Lacey, D.L., Dunstan, C.R., Kelley, M., Chang, M.S., Luthy, R., Nguyen, H.Q., Wooden, S., Bennett, L., Boone, T., et al. 1997. Osteoprotegerin: a novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density. *Cell* 89:309-319.
- 44. Schrader, J., Rennekamp, W., Niebergall, U., Schoppet, M., Jahr, H., Brendel, M.D., Horsch, D., and Hofbauer, L.C. 2007. Cytokine-induced osteoprotegerin expression protects pancreatic beta cells through p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling against cell death. *Diabetologia* 50:1243-1247.
- 45. Flier, S.N., Kulkarni, R.N., and Kahn, C.R. 2001. Evidence for a circulating islet cell growth factor in insulin-resistant states. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:7475-7480.
- 46. Yamaoka, T., Idehara, C., Yano, M., Matsushita, T., Yamada, T., Ii, S., Moritani, M., Hata, J., Sugino, H., Noji, S., et al. 1998. Hypoplasia of pancreatic islets in transgenic mice expressing activin receptor mutants. *J Clin Invest* 102:294-301.
- 47. Smart, N.G., Apelqvist, A.A., Gu, X., Harmon, E.B., Topper, J.N., MacDonald, R.J., and Kim, S.K. 2006. Conditional expression of Smad7 in pancreatic beta cells disrupts TGF-beta signaling and induces reversible diabetes mellitus. *PLoS Biol* 4:e39.
- 48. White, P., May, C.L., Lamounier, R.N., Brestelli, J.E., and Kaestner, K.H. 2008. Defining pancreatic endocrine precursors and their descendants. *Diabetes* 57:654-668.
- 49. Gentleman, R. 2005. *Bioinformatics and computational biology solutions using R and Bioconductor*. New York: Springer Science+Business Media. xix, 473 p. pp.
- 50. Tusher, V.G., Tibshirani, R., and Chu, G. 2001. Significance analysis of microarrays applied to the ionizing radiation response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:5116-5121.
- 51. Wang, I.C., Chen, Y.J., Hughes, D., Petrovic, V., Major, M.L., Park, H.J., Tan, Y., Ackerson, T., and Costa, R.H. 2005. Forkhead box M1 regulates the transcriptional network of genes essential for mitotic progression and genes encoding the SCF (Skp2-Cks1) ubiquitin ligase. *Mol Cell Biol* 25:10875-10894.
- 52. Zhang, H., Zhang, J., Pope, C.F., Crawford, L.A., Vasavada, R.C., Jagasia, S.M., and Gannon, M. 2009. Gestational diabetes mellitus resulting from impaired betacell compensation in the absence of FoxM1, a novel downstream effector of placental lactogen. *Diabetes* 59:143-152.
- 53. Ekholm, R., Ericson, L.E., and Lundquist, I. 1971. Monoamines in the pancreatic islets of the mouse. Subcellular localization of 5-hydroxytryptamine by electron microscopic autoradiography. *Diabetologia* 7:339-348.

- 54. Schraenen, A., Lemaire, K., de Faudeur, G., Hendrickx, N., Granvik, M., Van Lommel, L., Mallet, J., Vodjdani, G., Gilon, P., Binart, N., et al. 2010. Placental lactogens induce serotonin biosynthesis in a subset of mouse beta cells during pregnancy. *Diabetologia* 53:2589-2599.
- 55. Paulmann, N., Grohmann, M., Voigt, J.P., Bert, B., Vowinckel, J., Bader, M., Skelin, M., Jevsek, M., Fink, H., Rupnik, M., et al. 2009. Intracellular serotonin modulates insulin secretion from pancreatic beta-cells by protein serotonylation. *PLoS Biol* 7:e1000229.
- 56. Kim, H., Toyofuku, Y., Lynn, F.C., Chak, E., Uchida, T., Mizukami, H., Fujitani, Y., Kawamori, R., Miyatsuka, T., Kosaka, Y., et al. 2010. Serotonin regulates pancreatic beta cell mass during pregnancy. *Nat Med* 16:804-808.
- 57. Tuttle, R.L., Gill, N.S., Pugh, W., Lee, J.P., Koeberlein, B., Furth, E.E., Polonsky, K.S., Naji, A., and Birnbaum, M.J. 2001. Regulation of pancreatic beta-cell growth and survival by the serine/threonine protein kinase Akt1/PKBalpha. *Nat Med* 7:1133-1137.
- 58. Johansson, M., Mattsson, G., Andersson, A., Jansson, L., and Carlsson, P.O. 2006. Islet endothelial cells and pancreatic beta-cell proliferation: studies in vitro and during pregnancy in adult rats. *Endocrinology* 147:2315-2324.
- 59. Pechhold, S., Stouffer, M., Walker, G., Martel, R., Seligmann, B., Hang, Y., Stein, R., Harlan, D.M., and Pechhold, K. 2009. Transcriptional analysis of intracytoplasmically stained, FACS-purified cells by high-throughput, quantitative nuclease protection. *Nat Biotechnol* 27:1038-1042.

Chapter III:

Overexpression of Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor- 4α initiates cell cycle entry, but is not sufficient to promote β-cell expansion in human islets

<u>Abstract</u>

One approach toward generating new β -cells for the treatment of type 2 diabetes or for cell replacement therapy for type 1 diabetes is to use instructive cues to induce proliferation of terminally differentiated β -cells. The transcription factor HNF4 α (Hepatocyte nuclear factor- 4α) is required for the increase in β -cell proliferation during metabolic stress. We hypothesized that HNF4 α might be able to induce proliferation of human β -cells. To address this question, we employed adenoviral-mediated overexpression of a pancreas-specific isoform of HNF4a (HNF4a8) alone, or in combination with CDK6 and CYCLIN D3, in primary human islets. HNF4a8 alone stimulated β -cells to enter the cell cycle, and led to a greater than 300-fold increase in the number of β -cells that entered S-phase, without detectable loss of glucose stimulated insulin secretion. However, HNF4 α^{High} BrdU⁺ β -cells showed signs of cell cycle arrest, such as the expression of cell cycle checkpoint markers, and lacked expression of both CYCLIN A and KI67. We observed activation of the DNA damage response associated with the dysregulated DNA synthesis, ultimately resulting in a senescence-like phenotype independent of caspase-dependent apoptosis. When we overexpressed HNF4a8 together with CDK6 and CYCLIN D3, we further increased β -cell cycle entry. However, we observed a substantial proportion of β -cells stimulated to enter the cell cycle by CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 to also exhibit a DNA damage response. In sum, HNF4 α 8 alone is a mitogenic signal in the human β -cell but is not sufficient for completion of the cell cycle. In addition we find that the DNA damage response is a barrier to efficient β -cell

proliferation *in vitro*, and suggest its evaluation in all attempts to stimulate β -cell replication.

Introduction

Since the first successful transplantation of cadaveric islets into brittle type 1 diabetic patients using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regiment resulted in temporary insulin independence (1), there has been much interest into the basic mechanisms and factors required to obtain β -cells *in vitro*, because the supply of islets from organ donors is far exceeded by the demand for transplants. Approaches toward this therapeutic goal include human embryonic stem cell (hESC) directed differentiation (2), transdifferentiation of related cell types such as hepatocytes or acinar cells to β -cells by the forced expression of transcription factors (3-6), and the replication of pre-existing β -cells (7). However, while progress has been made towards the differentiation of human ES cells to pancreatic endoderm (2), a well-defined protocol to drive efficient non-oncogenic proliferation of human β -cells *in vitro* remains elusive.

Because the vast majority of human β -cells reside in G₀-phase, especially after the first 30 years of life (8), the promotion of β -cell proliferation needs to accomplish (a) entry into the cell cycle and licensing of DNA at replication origins (G₁- phase), (b) initiation of DNA replication at licensed origins resulting in duplication of the genome (S-phase), and (c) progression through the remaining cell cycle phases (G₂- and Mphase). Thus far, only overexpression of the winged helix transcription factor FOXM1 (9), or combinations of a G₁/S-phase specific CDK with its D-type cyclin partner have shown evidence for induction of multiple phases of the cell cycle in adult human β -cells, with CDK6-overexpression translating to continued β -cell replication in the face of hyperglycemia *in vivo* (10). In addition, even if a factor is sufficient to induce progression through one complete cell cycle, as shown by overexpression of E2F1- alone (11), protection of the newly formed β -cells from their vulnerability to apoptosis must also be achieved (12).

One potential sufficiency factor is hepatocyte nuclear factor (HNF) 4 α (MODY1), as it was shown previously by its conditional gene ablation to be required for the physiological increase of β -cell replication during pregnancy (13). Both its membership in the nuclear hormone receptor family and the presence of isoforms uniquely expressed in the islet suggest HNF4 α as being a potential drug target (14, 15). In the current study, we overexpress a pancreas-specific isoform of HNF4 α 8 specifically in human β -cells and demonstrate that HNF4 α -overexpression alone and in combination with other mitogenic factors is sufficient for entry into the cell cycle. We further uncover that analysis of the DNA damage response is critical for the evaluation of mitogenic signals in human β cells.

Results

Adenoviral overexpression of HNF4α8 in human β-cells

To examine the effect of HNF4α on β-cell replication in primary human islets, we overexpressed HNF4α8, an islet-specific isoform (15, 16), using an adenovirus containing the rat insulin promoter (RIP). Bright nuclear immunofluorescence staining for HNF4α8 (designated as HNF4 α^{High}) was observed predominantly in β-cells (Figure 3.1A-D). Approximately 35% of either PDX1⁺ or insulin⁺ cells overexpressed HNF4α 72 hours after transduction (Figure 3.1E). HNF4 α^{High} expression was only rarely seen in α-cells (glucagon⁺) or δ-cells (somatostatin⁺) cells (Figure 3.1C-D). A replication-competent adenovirus, encoding *E1A*, can lead to misleading results when assessing β-cell proliferation (17). Importantly, no *E1A* mRNA was found in either AdCMV-eGFP or AdRIP-hHNF4α8 treated islets 72 hours after transduction (Figure 3.1F). These results demonstrate successful and sustained overexpression of HNF4α8 in human β-cells using AdRIP-hHNF4α8.



Figure 3.1: Adenoviral overexpression of HNF4α8 in human β-cells.

Figure 3.1: Adenoviral overexpression of HNF4α8 in human β-cells. Human islets were transduced with Ad-RIP-hHNF4α8 and incubated for 72 hours before embedding and processing for immunofluorescence staining. Dual immunofluorescence staining of (A-D) HNF4α (red) and DAPI (blue) with (A) PDX1 (green), (B) Insulin (green), (C) Somatostatin (green) and (D) Glucagon (green). White arrows show examples of PDX1⁺ and Insulin⁺ HNF4α^{High} cells and the scale bar in (D) indicates 25 µm. (E) Quantification of the percentage of hormone-expressing cells that are HNF4α^{High} (n=3). (F) Gene expression of *HNF4α* and *E1A* in AdCMV-eGFP and AdRIP-hHNF4α8 treated islets (n=5-6; *, P<0.001 versus CMV-eGFP condition).

HNF4 $\alpha^{\text{High}}\beta$ -cells incorporate BrdU in a punctate, not diffuse, manner

To answer if HNF4 α 8 overexpression leads to increased β -cell proliferation and to detect all de novo proliferation events, we added BrdU continuously for 72 hours after adenoviral transduction. Of note, human islets were exposed to BrdU label continuously for the entire post-transduction period unless otherwise stated. No appreciable BrdU incorporation occurred into the PDX1⁺ population in both untransduced and AdCMVeGFP transduced islets (Figure 3.2A-B), consistent with the very low rate of β -cell replication measured upon receipt of donation (only 0.05%±0.04 of PDX1⁺ cells were KI67⁺) (Supplemental Figure 3.3A-C). However, overexpression of HNF4 α 8 caused a dramatic increase in BrdU incorporation, with 4.71%±1.36 of PDX1⁺ cells colocalizing with BrdU 72 hours after transduction (Figure 3.2C, M). The majority (81.5%±7.3) of BrdU incorporation colocalized with HNF4 α^{High} staining (Figure 3.2D-F). Surprisingly, BrdU incorporation occurred in distinct punctate domains overlapping regions with reduced DAPI signal (Figure 3.2C, F). This effect occurred specifically in insulin⁺ cells, but not glucagon⁺, or somatostatin⁺ cells (Figure 3.2J-L, O). In contrast, diffuse BrdU incorporation throughout the nucleus was present in non-endocrine cells (Figure 3.2E insert, G-I), as described previously (10). Of the entire HNF4 α^{High} population 12.0%±2.99 incorporated BrdU, and this was similar in islets isolated from type 2 diabetic donors (9.29%±2.9) (Figure 3.2N). These data indicate that a significant fraction of β -cells overexpressing HNF4 α 8 enter S-phase. Interestingly, this fraction was similar

to that reported for other genes known to be sufficient for β -cell proliferation, such as CYCLIN D1, CYCLIN D2, and CDK6 (10, 18).



Figure 3.2: HNF4 $\alpha^{\text{High}}\beta$ -cells incorporate BrdU in a punctate, not diffuse, manner.

Figure 3.2: HNF4α^{High} β-cells incorporate BrdU in a punctate, not diffuse, manner. Immunofluorescence staining of PDX1 (green), BrdU (red), and DAPI (blue) in primary human islets (A) not transduced with adenovirus, (B) transduced with AdCMV-eGFP, and (C) transduced with AdRIP-hHNF4 α 8. Similarly, detection of HNF4 α (green), BrdU (red), and DAPI (blue) in primary human islets (D) not transduced with adenovirus, (E) transduced with AdCMV-eGFP, and (F) transduced with AdRIP-hHNF4 α 8. The inserts in (E) show diffuse BrdU incorporation overlapping with DAPI, and in (F) punctate BrdU incorporation overlapping with DAPI-diminished regions in the nucleus. Dual immunofluorescence staining of (G-L) BrdU incorporation (red) and (G-L) DAPI (blue) with (G, J) Insulin (green), (H, K) Glucagon (green), and (I,L) Somatostatin (green) cells in primary human islets overexpressing HNF4 α 8. Quantification of the (M) percentage of $PDX1^+$ cells that are BrdU⁺ in all three conditions at 72 hours after transduction (n=3-4; *, P<0.02; versus both untransduced and CMV-eGFP conditions). Quantification of the (N) percentage of HNF4 α^{High} cells that are BrdU⁺ at 72 hours after transduction both in non-diabetic and type 2 diabetic donors (n=3-4). Quantification of the (O) percentage of Insulin⁺, Glucagon⁺, and Somatostatin⁺ cells that are BrdU^{+,Diffuse} or BrdU^{+,Punctate} (n=3-4; *, P<0.01 versus all conditions). All primary human islets were harvested 72 hours after transduction. The scale bar in (L) indicates 25 µm.



Figure 3.3: The rate of proliferation of PDX1⁺ cells upon receipt of human islet donations is extremely low.

Figure 3.3: The rate of proliferation of PDX1⁺ cells upon receipt of human islet donations is extremely low. Immunolocalization of KI67 (green), DAPI (blue), (A) PDX1 (red) and (B) Insulin (red) of untransduced primary human islets before transduction. (C) Quantification of the percentage of PDX1⁺ that are KI67⁺ (n=3). The scale bar in (B) indicates 25 μ m.

HNF4 $\alpha^{\text{High}}\beta$ -cells do not progress through the cell cycle

To investigate if HNF4 α 8 overexpression is sufficient for cell cycle progression in β -cells, we next turned to additional cell cycle markers such as, KI67, a marker of all phases of the cell cycle. Surprisingly 72 hours post-transduction, HNF4 α^{High} PDX1⁺ cells were not KI67⁺ (0.06% ± 0.03 of PDX1⁺ cells were KI67⁺) similar to untransduced or AdCMV-eGFP treated controls (Figure 3.7A-C).

Next, we considered the possibility that HNF4 α 8-induced proliferation was completed before the 72 hour time point analyzed. We collected HNF4 α 8 overexpressing islets exposed to continuous BrdU at various time-points after transduction (24, 30, 36, 42, 48 hours). The BrdU incorporation rate into HNF4A $\alpha^{\text{High}}\beta$ -cells was negligible until 36 hours post-transduction, and increased until 48 hours, with no significant difference compared to 72 hours, suggesting that entry into S-phase occurred between 36 and before 48 hours (Figure 3.4A-D). The majority of cells that incorporated BrdU diffusely expressed KI67 at 24, 30, 36 and 42 hours, but not at 48 and 72 hours, indicating exit from the cell cycle. Strikingly, cells that incorporate BrdU in a punctate manner never expressed KI67 (Figure 3.4E-H). The rare cells exhibiting both BrdU^{+,punctate} and KI67 expression do not show large BrdU domains but small BrdU points, and their pattern of BrdU incorporation reflects incomplete S-phase progression at the time of islet harvest (19). Also, HNF4A α^{High} β -cells do not express KI67 at any time-point (Figure 3.4I-L). Furthermore, HNF4a8 overexpression does not induce the expression of CYCLIN A, a marker of S-phase, G₂-phase and early M-phase (20), while BrdU^{+,diffuse} cells are CYCLIN A positive (Figure 3.4N-P). Using a highly proliferative tissue as a positive control, we show CYCLIN A antibody specificity in that CYCLIN A⁺ cells comprise a

subset of KI67⁺ cells (Figure 3.4M). Together, these data suggest that BrdU^{+,punctate} cells do not progress through the cell cycle after having entered S-phase.

To confirm whether HNF4A $\alpha^{\text{High}}\beta$ -cells enter the cell cycle, and to investigate if they activate a cell cycle checkpoint, we utilized MCM7, and phospho-CHK2(Thr68) and phospho-P53(Ser15) staining, respectively. MCM7 functions as a DNA replication licensing factor whose expression is activated in early G₁-phase, when KI67 not yet expressed (21). Thus, in human tonsil MCM7 protein is not restricted to KI67⁺ cells, and, conversely, KI67⁺ cells do not always express MCM7 (Figure 3.4Q). Interestingly, an appreciable number (52.0% ± 6.3) of BrdU^{+,punctate} singlets expressed MCM7 at 42 hours after transduction (Figure 3.4R-T), confirming that HNF4A $\alpha^{\text{High}}\beta$ -cells had indeed entered the cell cycle. Expression of both checkpoint markers phospho-CHK2(Thr68) and phospho-P53(Ser15) was seen predominantly in BrdU^{+,punctate} cells (73.4% ± 2.2 and 78.7% ± 7.5, respectively), but not in BrdU^{+,diffuse} cells 48 hours after transduction (Figure 3.4U-Y). These data suggest that while HNF4 α 8 is sufficient to stimulate β -cells to enter the cell cycle, it also activates the checkpoint response, indicating cell cycle arrest.



Figure 3.4: HNF4 $\alpha^{\text{High}}\beta$ -cells arrest in the cell cycle.

Figure 3.4: HNF4 α^{High} β-cells arrest in the cell cycle. Immunolocalization of HNF4 α (green), BrdU (red) and DAPI (blue) in primary human islets (A) 24 hours, (B) 42 hours, and (C) 72 hours after transduction with HNF4 α 8 adenovirus. (D) Quantification of the percentage of HNF4 α^{High} cells that are BrdU⁺ (n=3-5; *, P<0.03; versus 24hr). Analysis of KI67 (green), BrdU (red), and DAPI (blue) cells in primary human islets at (E) 24 hours, (F) 42 hours, and (G) 72 hours after transduction with HNF4α8. (H) Quantification of the percentage of BrdU^{+,Diffuse} or BrdU^{+,Punctate} that are KI67⁺ (n=3-5). Assessment of KI67 (green), HNF4 α (red), and DAPI (blue) colocalization in primary human islets (I) 24 hours, (J) 42 hours, and (K) 72 hours after transduction with HNF4 α 8. (L) Quantification of percentage of HNF4A^{High} cells that are KI67⁺ (n=3-4). Immunostaining of (M) CYCLIN A (red), KI67 (green) in human tonsil as a positive control, and (N-O) CYCLIN A (green) with BrdU (red) in human islets 42 hours after transduction with HNF4a8. Quantification (P) of the percentage of BrdU^{+,Diffuse} or BrdU^{+,Punctate} that are CYCLIN A⁺ (n=3). Immunostaining of (Q) MCM7 (red), KI67 (green) in human tonsil as a positive control, and (R-S) MCM7 (green) with BrdU (red) in human islets 42 hours after transduction with HNF4a8. Quantification (T) of the percentage of BrdU^{+,Diffuse} or BrdU^{+,Punctate} that are MCM7⁺ (n=3). Immunostaining of (U-V) phospho-P53(ser15) (green) and BrdU (red), and (W-X) phospho-CHK2 (green) and BrdU (red) in human islets 48 hours after transduction with HNF4 α 8. Quantification (Y) of the percentage of BrdU^{+,Diffuse} or BrdU^{+,Punctate} that are either phospho-P53(Ser15)⁺ or phospho-CHK2⁺ (n=3; *, P<0.001 versus BrdU^{+,Diffuse} condition). White arrows indicate either diffuse (d) or punctate (p) BrdU incorporation. The scale bars in (K, Q, S, and X) indicate 25 µm.

Overexpression of HNF4 α 8 leads to activation of the DNA damage response associated with replication stress

Phosphorylation of CHK2 on threonine 68 and p53 on serine 15 are downstream substrates of ATR and ATM, key mediators of the DNA damage checkpoint pathway (22). Furthermore, the punctate BrdU incorporation pattern is reminiscent of DNA replication foci during S-phase (19). We hypothesized that overexpression of HNF4 α 8 caused repeated licensing of DNA replication from single origins (or re-replication), resulting in enlarged punctate foci, DNA breaks, and induction of the DNA damage response. To test this possibility, we first assessed the effects of HNF4 α 8 overexpression on phosphorylation of histone H2AX (yH2AX), an indicator of DNA double-stranded breaks (23). Indeed, overexpression of HNF4 α 8 caused a dramatic increase in γ H2AX⁺ PDX1⁺ cells, with 4.4% \pm 1.4 of PDX1⁺ cells colocalizing with γ H2AX 72 hours after transduction, while less than 0.5% of PDX1⁺ cells stained for γ H2AX in untransduced or CMV-eGFP treated controls (Figure 3.5A-D). In AdCMV-eGFP transduced islets, γ H2AX staining colocalized with cells positive for GFP reflecting rare toxicity of this adenovirus to islet cells (Figure 3.5B insert). The accumulation of γ H2AX⁺ in PDX1⁺ cells exactly mirrors the accrual of BrdU^{+,punctate} in PDX1⁺ cells, demonstrating that the DNA damage response is restricted to this cell population (Figure 3.5D). yH2AX expression was present in 9.50%±1.97 HNF4 α^{High} cells and 88.1%±5.6 of BrdU^{+,punctate} cells at 72 hours after transduction, and was sustained at the same level up to 120 hours (Figure 3.5E-J). Many HNF4 α^{High} BrdU^{+,punctate} cells show enlarged, dysmorphic nuclei which are not present in control islets (Figure 3.5G inlet), suggesting a model wherein HNF4 α 8-overexpression in β -cells stimulates DNA damage that is not repaired over time, leading to a sustained DNA damage checkpoint response.

To assess if DNA damage is associated with re-replication, we pulse-labeled HNF4 α 8 transduced islets between 36 and 48 hours, the established time of thymidine incorporation (Figure 3.4A-D), sequentially with BrdU and with EdU. We confirmed no cross-reactivity between the two thymidine analogs by labeling HNF4 α 8 transduced islets with either BrdU-only or with EdU-only continuously between 36 and 48 hours, and using detection methods for both thymidine analogs simultaneously (Figure 3.5K-L). To demonstrate occurrence of re-replication throughout the 12 hour time period, we varied the non-labeling times between pulses (1 hour, 3 hours, and 6 hours). Re-replication is defined here as the incorporation of both BrdU and EdU into the same locus in the nucleus. Several possible patterns of thymidine analogue incorporation can occur. In HNF4 α 8 transduced islets with a 1 hour non-labeling interval, thymidine⁺ cells incorporated a single analog in a diffuse manner (possibility #1), undergoing S-phase during the first or second labeling period (Figure 3.5M). Thymidine⁺ cells also incorporated both analogs in mutually exclusive areas of the same nucleus in a diffuse manner (possibility #2), representing a cell undergoing S-phase during both labeling periods (Figure 3.5N). The percentages of cells with diffuse thymidine analogue incorporation integrating only one analog increased with increased non-labeling interval, as expected (data not shown). Strikingly, in the thymidine^{+,punctate} domains, we saw overlapping incorporation of both EdU and BrdU in distinct foci, regardless of the length of the non-labeling interval (possibility #3), demonstrating that re-replication occurred in HNF4 α^{High} cells (Figure 3.50-Q). Specifically, 84.1% ± 7.6, 78.2% ± 9.6, and 78.3% ±

8.5 of all thymidine^{+,punctate} cells showed the re-replication phenotype with a 1 hour, 3 hour, and 6 hour pulse, respectively (Figure 3.5R). We saw only a low percentage of thymidine^{+,punctate} cells with either non-overlapping or single incorporation of EdU and BrdU in distinct foci in all non-labeling intervals (possibility #4). These data suggest that the DNA damage and checkpoint response exhibited in HNF4 α^{High} BrdU^{+,punctate} β -cells occurs as a consequence of replication stress.



Figure 3.5: Overexpression of HNF4α8 leads to activation of the DNA damage response associated with replication stress.

Figure 3.5: Overexpression of HNF4a8 leads to activation of the DNA damage response associated with replication stress. Immunodetection of γ H2AX (green), PDX1 (red), and DAPI (blue) in (A) untransduced, (B) GFP-, and (C) HNF4 α 8overexpressing primary human islets at 72 hours after transduction. The insert in (B) shows GFP (red), yH2AX (green), and DAPI (blue) colocalization. (D) Quantification of the percentage of PDX1⁺ cells that are γ H2AX⁺ (n=3; P<0.03 versus both untransduced and CMV-eGFP conditions). Immunolocalization of γ H2AX (green), and both (E-F) HNF4a (red) and (G-H) BrdU in HNF4a8-tranduced primary human islets at (E,G) 72 hours and (F, H) 120 hours after transduction. Quantification of the percentage of (I) HNF4 α^{High} and (J) BrdU⁺ cells that are γ H2AX⁺ at 72 hours and 120 hours (n=3-4; *, p<0.001 versus BrdU^{+,Diffuse} condition). Immunodetection of BrdU (green), EdU (red), and DAPI (blue) in (K) HNF4a8-transduced primary human islets exposed to (K) EdUonly, and BrdU-only. Individual red channel (K"-L"), and green channel (K""-L"") is shown. Simultaneous immunodetection of EdU (red) and BrdU (green) in HNF4 α 8 transduced islets of (M) single thymidine-analogue labeled diffuse nucleus with 1 hour non-labeling time, (N) dual labeled non-colocalizing diffuse nucleus with 1 hour labeling time, (O) dual-labeled colocalizing punctate nucleus with (O) one hour, (P) three hour, and (Q) six hour non-labeling times. Individual red channels (M"-Q"), and green channels (M""-Q"") are shown. Quantification (R) of the percentage of thymidine^{+,punctate #3} (#3 indicates a nucleus exhibiting overlapping incorporation of both EdU and BrdU in distinct foci within its thymidine punctate domain) over total thymidine^{+,punctate} in HNF4 α 8 transduced islets dual labeled with one hour, three hour, and six hour nonlabeling times (n=3). The scale bars in (C, H, and L) indicate 25 μm and in (Q) indicate 5 $\mu m.$

A senescence-like phenotype, independent of caspase-mediated cell death, is the predominant fate of β -cells overexpressing HNF4 α 8

Sustained mitogenic signaling in the β -cell has been reported to cause cell death and loss of function (24-26). We used the TUNEL assay to determine if HNF4 α^{High} BrdU^{+,punctate} β -cells undergo apoptosis. PDX1⁺ cells rarely exhibit TUNEL staining in untransduced, eGFP-, and even HNF4 α 8-overexpressing islets 72 hours after transduction (Figure 3.6A-D). The percentage of HNF4 α^{High} cells that are TUNEL⁺ was only 1.2%±0.4 at 72 hours, and 1.1%±0.1 at 120 hours after transduction (Figure 3.6E-F, I). While there was a very low level of BrdU^{+,diffuse} cells that are Tunel⁺, the percentage of BrdU^{+,punctate} cells that were TUNEL⁺ was only 9.8%±5.0, and 12.7%±9.9 at 72 and 120 hours after transduction, respectively (Figure 3.6G-H, J), demonstrating that caspasedependent apoptosis is not the predominant fate of HNF4 α^{High} BrdU^{+,punctate} β -cells.

The inability of the β -cell to repair DNA damage over time can lead to cellular senescence (27). In response to a mitogenic insult, multiple senescence-promoting signals, such as DNA damage, replicative stress, reactive oxygen species, and heterochromatin formation converge on the tumor suppressor P53 (28). Indeed, P53 was activated in HNF4 α^{High} and BrdU^{+,punctate} cells at both 48 and 72 hours after transduction, with 78.2%±6.6 and 73.3%±5.1 staining positive, respectively (Figure 3.6L-N). The detection of nuclear expression of P53 was confirmed in human colon adenocarcinoma samples (Figure 3.6K). Together with cell cycle arrest, checkpoint activation, a sustained DNA damage response, and lack of caspase-dependent apoptosis, these data suggest that

HNF4 α^{High} BrdU^{+,punctate} β -cells exhibit a senescence-like phenotype, impeding further cell cycle progression (28).

To assess the effect of HNF4 α - overexpression on β -cell function, we performed static glucose stimulated insulin assays (GSIS). The absolute amount of insulin released upon glucose stimulus by AdRIP-HNF4 α 8 treated islets was not statistically different from untransduced, AdCMV-eGFP treated islets, and untransduced islets at receipt of donation (Figure 3.6O). Also, there were no statistical differences in insulin content in any of the aforementioned groups 72 hours after transduction (data not shown), suggesting no loss of β -cell function or dedifferentiation in β -cells overexpressing HNF4 α 8 (25, 26). However, it was not possible to assess the function of the small HNF4 α ^{High} BrdU^{+,punctate} β -cell population separate from the remainder of the islet; thus, loss of function in these cells remains a possibility.


Figure 3.6: A senescence-like phenotype is the predominant fate of β-cells

overexpressing HNF4a8.

Figure 3.6: A senescence-like phenotype is the predominant fate of β -cells overexpressing HNF4a8. Immunofluorescence detection of PDX1 (green), TUNEL (red) and DAPI (blue) in (A) untransduced, (B) eGFP-, and (C) HNF4a8-transduced primary human islets at 72 hours with (D) quantification of the percentage of PDX1⁺ cells that are TUNEL⁺ (n=3-4). Analysis of TUNEL (red) positive cells that are (E-F) HNF4 α^{High} (green) and (G-H) BrdU⁺ (green) at (E,G) 72 hours and (F,H) 120 hours. Ouantification of the percentage of (I) HNF4 α^{High} and (J) BrdU⁺ cells that are TUNEL⁺ at 72 hours and 120 hours (n=3-5). Immunostaining of P53 (green), BrdU (red) and DAPI (blue) in (K) human colon carcinoma, and HNF4α8 transduced islets at (H) 48 hours and (M) 72 hours after transduction. Quantification of the (N) percentage of BrdU^{+,punctate} cells that are P53⁺ (n=3). (O) Static glucose-stimulated insulin secretion assay (GSIS) of untransduced, eGFP-, and HNF4a8- overexpressing primary human islets 72 hours after transduction treated with 3mM and 16.7mM glucose. GSIS was also performed on untransduced primary human islets upon receipt (0 hours) (n=3-6; *, p<0.05 versus 3mM glucose condition). The scale bars in (C, G, L and M) indicate 25 µm.

HNF4 α 8 synergizes with known factors sufficient for promoting cell cycle entry in the human β -cell

The combination of the G₁/ S-phase cell cycle regulators CDK6 and a D-cyclin partner, for example CYCLIN D3, has been shown to dramatically accelerate the rate of β -cell proliferation in human β -cells *in vitro* (10, 18). While HNF4 α 8 is not sufficient to promote full β -cell replication alone, we hypothesized that overexpression of HNF4 α 8 might augment human β -cell proliferation stimulated by CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 (10). While KI67⁺ PDX1⁺ cells were very rare in untransduced, CMV-eGFP, and RIP-hHNF4 α 8- treated human islets, the overexpression of CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 caused a significant increase in the number of PDX1⁺ cells that also expressed KI67 (3.14%±0.75). Strikingly, when we applied HNF4 α 8, CDK6, and CYCLIN D3 adenoviruses together, we saw a further increase in the number of PDX1⁺ cells that were in the cell cycle 72 hours after transduction (7.97%±2.2) (Figure 3.7A-F). This finding suggests that HNF4 α 8 overexpression not only alone, but in combination with known cell cycle regulators, is a mitogenic signal sufficient for initiation of the cell cycle in human β -cells.

To confirm this conclusion and assess the fate of the additional KI67⁺ PDX1⁺ cells, we analyzed the HNF4 α^{High} β -cell population when overexpressing HNF4 α 8, CDK6, and CYCLIN D3 with aforementioned markers for cell cycle progression, DNA damage, and caspase-dependent apoptosis. Indeed, 22.6%±6.0 and 3.17%±0.82 of HNF4 α 8 overexpressing cells were KI67⁺ and CYCLIN A⁺, respectively, 72 hours after transduction (Figure 3.7G-J). CYCLIN A⁺ cells not colocalizing with HNF4 α^{High} cells could reflect cells transduced with either CDK6 and/or CYCLIN D3 only, as their

overexpression is based on a CMV-promoter (Figure 3.7I). However, while this was an improvement relative to the lack of cell cycle progression seen when overexpressing HNF4 α 8 alone, at this time point, the HNF4 α ^{High} cell population was positive for both γ H2AX (37.6%±6.4) and TUNEL (44.6%±3.4) at similar levels (Figure 3.7K-N). Additionally, these cells morphologically exhibited nuclear blebbing surrounding a central region of reduced DAPI staining (Figure 3.7M insert). The slightly higher percentage of the HNF4 α ^{High} cells exhibiting γ H2AX and TUNEL compared to KI67 expression suggests that DNA damage induced caspase-dependent apoptosis is the predominant fate of the KI67⁺ PDX1⁺ cell population over time.



Figure 3.7: HNF4a8 synergizes with factors known to be sufficient for promoting

cell cycle entry in human β-cells.

Figure 3.7: HNF4α8 synergizes with factors known to be sufficient for promoting cell cycle entry in human β-cells. Immunofluorescence detection of KI67 (green), PDX1 (red) and DAPI (blue) in (A) untransduced, (B) eGFP-, (C) HNF4α8-, (D) CYCLIN D3 and CDK6-, (E) HNF4α, CYCLIN D3, CDK6- transduced primary human islets at 72 hours with (F) quantification of the percentage of PDX1⁺ cells that are KI67⁺ (n=4-6; *, p<0.04; **, p<0.01). Immunofluorescent detection of HNF4α (red), DAPI (blue) and (G) KI67, (I) CYCLIN A, (K) γH2AX, and (M) TUNEL in HNF4α8, CYCLIN D3, CDK6- transduced primary human islets at 72 hours with quantification of the percentage of HNF4α^{High} cells that are (H) KI67⁺, (J) CYCLIN A⁺, (L) γH2AX⁺, and (N) TUNEL⁺ (n=3). The insert in (M) shows representative DAPI staining of HNF4A^{High} TUNEL⁺ cells. The scale bars in (E, G) indicate 25 µm and in insert of M indicates 5 µm. Abbreviation n = normal, and i = irregular.

Overexpression of CYCLIN D3 and CDK6 also activates the DNA damage response in human β-cells

We also investigated whether β -cells induced to proliferate by overexpression of CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 alone exhibit expression of yH2AX. Strikingly, 9.86%±2.3 and 9.10% \pm 1.8 of PDX1⁺ and insulin⁺ cells, respectively, were positive for γ H2AX 72 hours after transduction (Figure 3.8A-C), suggesting that over time a substantial proportion of PDX1⁺ cells stimulated to progress through the cell cycle by CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 accumulate DNA damage. To assess if yH2AX accumulation is specific to cells having engaged the cell cycle sometime during the 72 hour time period, we evaluated the percentage of γ H2AX⁺ cells that incorporated BrdU, applied continuously to culture after transduction. While not all $BrdU^+$ cells were $\gamma H2AX^+$ (Figure 3.8D insert), a significant percentage of cells having progressed through S-phase expressed yH2AX (60.6%±11.5 of BrdU^{+,total} are γ H2AX⁺) (Figure 3.8D, F). Interestingly, while the BrdU⁺ γ H2AX⁺ cells exhibited punctate-like BrdU incorporation (82.3% \pm 7.5 of γ H2AX⁺ are BrdU^{+,punctate}) similar to what was seen in β -cells when overexpressing HNF4 α 8 alone, BrdU⁺ γ H2AX⁻ cells exhibited diffuse BrdU incorporation (5.23% \pm 2.2 of γ H2AX⁺ are BrdU^{+,diffuse}) (Figure 3.8D, G). In addition, the irregular manner of KI67 staining observed in PDX1⁺ cells transduced with CDK6, CYCLIN D3, and HNF4a8 was unlike the diffuse KI67 staining observed in cycling non-endocrine cells (Figure 3.7E). As with punctate-like BrdU incorporation, the irregular KI67 staining was also observed in human islets transduced with CDK6 and CYCLIN D3, and almost always colocalized with yH2AX expression (91.2% \pm 2.1 KI67^{irregular} cells were γ H2AX⁺) 72 hours after transduction

(Figure 3.8E-F). Furthermore, the percentage of γ H2AX⁺ cells that incorporated BrdU in a punctate-like manner was much higher than the percentage which expressed KI67^{irregular} (13.9%±1.0 γH2AX⁺ were KI67^{irregular}) at 72 hours (Figure 3.8E, G). Based on cell cycle arrest seen in β -cells overexpressing HNF4 α 8 alone and the fate of HNF4 α ^{High} cells in the triple-transduced condition this suggests, a delay of the cell cycle in the proportion of β cells accumulating double-stranded DNA damage, ultimately resulting in caspasedependent apoptosis. However, as with diffuse BrdU incorporation, the majority of KI67^{normal} cells do not exhibit yH2AX (10.9%±2.1 of KI67^{normal} cells were yH2AX⁺) (Figure 3.8E, F), suggesting that, in line with the overall ability of Cdk6 in combination with a D-cyclin partner to improve human islet function in vivo, a fraction of functional β-cells do arise by CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 stimulated proliferation (10, 29). Indeed, only cells incorporating BrdU in a punctate-like manner were positive for the checkpoint marker, phospho-P53 on serine 15 (99.0%±0.7 of BrdU^{+,punctate} were phospho- $P53(Ser15)^+$), while of cells incorporating BrdU in a diffuse manner only 5.48%±1.38 of BrdU⁺ were phospho-P53(Ser15)⁺ (Figure 3.8H-I). Also, γ H2AX⁺, BrdU^{+,punctate} cells morphologically exhibit nuclear blebbing, indicating caspase-dependent apoptosis (Figure 3.8E insert). Together, these findings demonstrate that while human β -cells can be stimulated to enter in and progress through the cell cycle by overexpression of CDK6, CYCLIN D3, and further with the addition of HNF4 α 8, the activation of the DNA damage response in both cases highlights the importance of using multiple experimental criteria to adequately assess human β -cell expansion.



Figure 3.8: Overexpression of CYCLIN D3 and CDK6 also activates the DNA

damage response in human β-cells.

Figure 3.8: Overexpression of CYCLIN D3 and CDK6 also activates the DNA damage response in human β -cells. Dual immunostaining for γ H2AX (green), DAPI (blue) and (A) PDX1 (red), (B) Insulin (red), (D) BrdU (red) and (E) KI67 (red) in CYCLIN D3 and CDK6 transduced human islets. Quantification of (C) the percentage of either PDX1⁺, or Insulin⁺ cells that are γ H2AX⁺ in primary human islets transduced with both CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 (n=3-4). Quantification of (F) the percentage of either BrdU^{+,total}, KI67^{+,normal} or KI67^{+, irregular} cells that are γ H2AX⁺ in primary human islets transduced with both CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 (n=3-4). Quantification of (G) the percentage of γ H2AX⁺ cells that are either BrdU^{+,diffuse}, BrdU^{+,punctate}, KI67^{+,normal} or KI67^{+, irregular} (n=3-4; *, p<0.001 BrdU^{+,punctate} versus KI67^{+,irregular} conditions). Dual immunostaining for (H) phospho-P53 on serine 15 (Green), DAPI (blue) and BrdU (red) in CYCLIN D3 and CDK6 transduced human islets. The quantification of (I) the percentage of either BrdU^{+,diffuse} or BrdU^{+,punctate} that are phospho-P53 (serine 15)⁺ (n=4; *, p<0.001 versus BrdU^{+,diffuse} condition). The white arrows indicate colocalization and yellow arrows indicate non-colocalization between two markers. All human islets were incubated for 72 hours post-transduction. The scale bars in (A, H) indicate 25 µm and in the insert of E, H indicates 5 μ m. Abbreviation p = punctate, d = diffuse, n = normal, and i = irregular.

Discussion

It is well appreciated that human β -cell turnover occurs very slowly after early childhood (30, 31). Evaluating whether β -cells proliferate in states of physiological insulin resistance is difficult, because of differences in populations studied and the limited number of cases considered (32). However, in spite of this, evidence for β -cell regeneration in humans has arisen in the fetal pancreas during the perinatal period (33, 34), and the context of obesity (35). Furthermore, the presence of a significant number of paired apoptotic β -cells in pancreas sections of type 2 diabetic patients, interpreted as post-mitotic apoptosis, suggests that diabetes onset is a result of a failure of β -cell expansion rather than a decrease in existing β -cell mass only (36). The occurrence of proliferating β -cell replication can be stimulated *in vitro* (37). In this study we investigated if a pancreatic specific isoform of the MODY1 transcription factor HNF4 α is sufficient to promote proliferation in primary human β -cells, based on its requirement for β -cell expansion in response to physiological insulin resistance during pregnancy (13).

The data represented here demonstrate that overexpression of HNF4 α 8 is sufficient to initiate cell cycle entry, license DNA at replication origins, and attempt Sphase in human β -cells, both on its own and in combination with known factors sufficient for β -cell proliferation. The punctate manner of BrdU incorporation into HNF4 α^{High} β cells is reminiscent of the patterns of DNA replication seen during S-phase in mammalian nuclei (19). To ensure that chromosomal DNA is precisely duplicated during S-phase, the cell must be able to distinguish between replicated and unreplicated DNA. The licensing of replication origins by the binding to DNA of mini-chromosome maintenance 2-7 proteins (MCM2-7) and their subsequent removal after initiation of DNA replication ensures regulated initiation of DNA replication only once per locus (38). While HNF4 α 8 overexpressing cells are able to license their DNA for replication, as demonstrated by increased MCM7 expression at the time of BrdU incorporation (Figure 3.4D, S), the appearance of large punctate domains points to misregulation of the licensing system, allowing cells to inappropriately re-license their already replicated DNA. Consistent with this model, we detected re-replication as distinct overlapping foci within thymidine⁺ punctate domains by utilizing two thymidine analogs during the time when the majority of HNF4 α^{High} β -cells were progressing through S-phase (Figure 3.5M-R). Although the thymidine⁺ cells are not synchronized, the high percentage of thymidine⁺ cells that exhibit the re-replication phenotype even with a 6 hour non-labeling time suggests an elongation of S-phase (39). Similarly, overexpression of Cdt1, a rate-limiting licensing factor responsible for loading of the replicative Mcm-helicase onto DNA, in the G₂-phase of the cell cycle induced re-replication of DNA, activated checkpoint pathways, and blocked further cell cycle progression in *Xenopus* egg extracts (40). Intriguingly, not only was the checkpoint activation a direct result of multiple rounds of DNA re-replication, but it coincided with the appearance of significant double stranded DNA fragments, consistent with a model of head-to-tail replication fork collision (41). Also, increased expression of CDT1 and subsequent re-replication occurs in human cancer-derived cell lines upon accumulation of constitutively active mutant of CYCLIN D1 (42). In line with this, both activation of the DNA damage checkpoint markers p-CHK2 (Thr68) and p-P53 (Ser15), and expression of γ H2AX, a marker for double stranded DNA breaks, occurred

in HNF4 α^{High} BrdU^{+,punctate} β -cells (Figure 3.4V, X; 3.5A-J). Activation of the DNA damage response did not cease over time, suggesting that the DNA damage is too great to repair.

Surprisingly, activation of the DNA damage response is not a phenotype specific to HNF4 α 8 overexpression. Strikingly, a significant proportion of β -cells stimulated to progress through the cell cycle by overexpression of CDK6 and CYCLIN D3 alone also exhibited activation of γ H2AX expression, and a cell cycle checkpoint (see Figure 3.8). We conclude that human β -cells are sensitive to accumulating DNA damage in response to forced cell cycle entry. In support of this, a mouse model deficient in nonhomologous end-joining (NHEJ) and expressing a hypomorphic mutant of p53, defective in apoptosis but not in cell cycle arrest, develops diabetes. In these mice, β -cell mass is progressively depleted due to accumulated DNA damage (sustained yH2AX expression), promoting a decrease in β -cell proliferation through p53-dependent cell cycle arrest (27). Strikingly, HNF4 α^{High} BrdU^{+,punctate} β -cells exhibited activation of P53 expression, but did not undergo caspase-dependent apoptosis (Figure 3.5I-M). Rather, HNF4 α 8-overexpressing cells attempting cell cycle progression display hallmarks of a senescence phenotype, such as DNA damage, tumor suppressor activation, and cell cycle arrest (28). It is clear that spontaneous replication in untransduced primary human islets is ultimately halted over time by cellular senescence, which is characterized by loss of differentiated function (43).

These phenotypes in the β -cell are consistent with the ability of oncogenes such as Ras, Mos, Cyclin E, E2F1, Cdc25A, Cdc6, and Myc to promote senescence by stimulating the DNA damage response through re-replication (44-46), for which pathways encompassing key downstream tumor suppressors p53 and Rb are necessary

(47). The mitogen-activated protein kinase (Mapk) pathway, dependent on HNF4 α during pregnancy in the murine β -cell, can also induce cell cycle arrest and subsequent senescence via the increase of both p53 and p21 expression and blocks in hyperphosphorylation of Rb (48). It is therefore tempting to conclude that HNF4 α 8overexpression in the β -cell acts similarly to oncogenes such as Ras and Mos that also activate this signaling pathway (49). Indeed, rat (INS1, RINm5F) and mouse (MIN6, BTC3) insulinoma cell lines show not only increases in many cyclins and cdks, but also increases in many cell cycle inhibitors (p16, p18, p21, p57, p53) when compared to primary untransduced mouse and rat islets (50). We take this as evidence that substantial increases in β -cell cycle inhibitors are typical of rapidly dividing β -cells, and that increases in cell cycle inhibitors is not incompatible with increases in overall β -cell number, which clearly occur in insulinoma cell lines in vitro (50). Conversely, doubleablation of Rb and p130 in β -cells does not lead to a net change in β -cell mass despite dramatically increasing β -cell proliferation in vivo (51). Instead, increases in β -cell proliferation are associated with matched increases in β -cell death, and attempts at cell cycle arrest, as indicated by increased phosphorylation of p53 on serine 15 and increased p21 protein levels (51). Also, primary human β -cells transduced with CDK4 and CYCLIN D1 display increased P21 protein levels (52), placing into question whether overexpression of these proteins always lead to increases in β -cell number. Regardless of whether the overexpression of genes promoting proliferation of the β -cell stimulates a senescence-like fate, as with overexpression of HNF4 α 8-alone, or apoptotic fate, as with the combined overexpression of CDK6, CYCLIN D3, and HNF4 α 8, we propose that the accumulation of DNA damage resulting from replication stress is a barrier to efficient

human β -cell proliferation *in vitro* as also seen in precancerous lesions of the bladder, breast, colon and lung *in vivo* (46).

As a cautionary note, the criteria when demonstrating sufficiency of a factor to promote β -cell proliferation should be extended to include a detailed analysis of cell cycle entry, the fidelity of duplication of the genome during S-phase, progression through multiple cell cycle phases, and cell cycle exit. Furthermore, in addition to the already known undesirable fates of newly formed β -cells through proliferation, i.e. dedifferentiation, and apoptosis, activation of the DNA damage response should be assessed in attempts to faithfully mimic β -cell proliferation *in vitro*.

Note: Data presented in this chapter have been submitted to Diabetes as an original article entitled,

Overexpression of Hepatocyte Nuclear Factor- 4α initiates cell cycle entry, but is not sufficient to promote β -cell expansion in human islets.

Sebastian Rieck, Zhaoyu Li, Chengyang Liu, Ali Naji, Karen K. Takane, Nathalie M. Fiaschi-Taesch, Andrew F. Stewart, Jake A. Kushner, Klaus H. Kaestner.

Materials and Methods

Adenovirus production: The original cDNA plasmid. pcDNA3.hHNF4a8 (NM 175914.3), was constructed by Dr. Jerome Eeckhoute (53) and is a kind gift of Dr. Frances M. Sladek. The islet-specific human HNF4 α 8 cDNA immediately downstream of the rat insulin promoter (RIP) was subcloned into pShuttle (Clontech, Mountain View, CA). The Adeno-X Expression System 1 (Clontech, Mountain View, CA) was used for construction of the AdRIP-hHNF4 α 8 adenovirus. The resulting adenovirus was amplified in HEK293 cells, purified, and its infectious titer determined. Additionally, quality control tests throughout this process, such as genome structure analysis using restriction endonuclease digests, replication-competent adenovirus assay, and endotoxin assay were successfully performed. The AdCMV-eGFP was received from Dr. Arbansjit Sandhu (University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA).

Culturing, transduction and harvest of human cadaveric islets: Human islets were supplied by the islet cell biology core of the DERC of the University of Pennsylvania, the NIH-supported National Disease Research Interchange (NDRI) (http://www.ndriresource.org), and the Methodist Hospital Research Institute (http://www.methodisthealth.com/default.cfm). The mean (± standard error) age of the all donors was 44.7 ± 11.2 years, the purity of the preparations $86.2\% \pm 5.5$, the viability $90.2\% \pm 6.6$, and the BMI 29.5 \pm 8.9. Upon arrival, human islets were incubated in CMRL 1066 medium (Mediatech, Manassas, VA) containing 5.5mM D-glucose, 0.5% Human Albumin (Talecris Biotherapeutics, Research Triangle Park, NC), 10U/ml Heparin (Sagent Pharmaceuticals, Schaumberg, IL), 100 µg/ml Penicillin/Streptomycin (Mediatech, Manassas, VA), and 2mM L-glutamine (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Intact islets were transduced with adenoviruses for 24 hours in non-tissue culture coated dishes, after which the adenovirus was washed out of culture by successive medium changes. Then the islets were cultured in the continued presence of a 1:100 dilution of the Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) during the length of incubation after transduction. In all experiments, $5X10^6$ infectious particles per islet of either AdRIP-HNF4 α 8 or AdCMV-eGFP were used. $5X10^5$ infectious particles per islet of both AdCMV-CYCLIN D3 and AdCMV-CDK6 were used as described (10). Islets were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) for 1 hour at 4°C, the islet pellet suspended in 2% molten agarose, processed, and embedded in paraffin. 5µm sections were used for immunofluorescence analysis. All data are from non-diabetic donors, unless stated otherwise.

mRNA isolation and RT-PCR: Total RNA was isolated using the RNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Chatsworth, CA), and eluted in water. cDNA was synthesized and quantitative PCR reactions performed as described previously (54). PCR primers sequences used for E1A are forward, TATGCCAAACCTTGTACCGGAGGT and reverse, CCGGGGTGCTCCACATAATCT, as designed in (17); HNF4α forward, TGCCTACCTCAAAGCCATCAT and reverse, GCGGTCGTTGATGTAGTCCTC.

Immunofluorescence analysis: Paraffin-embedded sections were dewaxed, and heatinduced antigen retrieval performed by pressure cooker heating (Prestige Medical, Northridge, CA) using citrate buffer (pH 6.0). Non-specific binding was blocked for 10 minutes with CAS-Block (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Sections were then incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. Antibodies used were: guinea pig anti-Pdx1 (gift from Dr. Christopher Wright), guinea pig anti-Insulin (Linco Research, St. Charles, MO), mouse anti- HNF4 α (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN), rabbit anti- HNF4 α (Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA), rat anti-BrdU (Accurate Chemical, Westbury, NY), rabbit anti-Glucagon (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), rabbit anti-Somatostatin (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), rabbit anti-Ki67 (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA), mouse anti-Cyclin A (Thermo Scientific, Fremont, CA), mouse anti-Mcm7 (Thermo Scientific, Fremont, CA), rabbit anti-yH2AX (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA), mouse anti-p53 (Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA), rabbit anti-phospho-Chk2 (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA), rabbit antiphospho-p53(Ser15) (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA) and goat anti-GFP (Abcam, Cambridge, UK). Sections were incubated with Cy3-, Cy5-, or Cy2-conjugated donkey IgGs anti-rabbit. anti-mouse, anti-goat, anti-guinea pig, anti-rat (Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA) for 2 hours at room temperature, and nuclei stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI). Quantification was performed on a Nikon E600 microscope, and a Q-Imaging Fast CCD camera (Q-Imaging Surrey, BC Canada) in conjunction with IVision software (Biovision, Exton, PA). High-resolution images were taken on a Yokagawa CSU-10 spinning disk mounted on a Nikon Ti-U inverted microscope, and a Hamamatsu Photonics "Orca" CCD Camera (Hamamatsu, Bridgewater, NJ). All images except for ones including Tunel staining were constructed to a single-image in-focus view of a stack of frames acquired at different positions along the Z-axis. Image J software (NIH, Bethesda, MD) was used to count percentages of colocalization between two antibodies.

Re-replication assay: To determine repeated licensing of origins in human islets, 36 hours after adenoviral transduction BrdU (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA; 1:100 dilution) was added to the islet culture for 5.5 hours, unless otherwise indicated. BrdU was removed by

washing the islets 3 times with PBS. Islets were placed back into fresh medium without thymidine analog for 1 hour to ensure depletion of BrdU. Then EdU (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) at a concentration of 100µM was added for an additional 5.5 hours after which islets were harvested, fixed, and sectioned for immunofluorescence analysis. Non-labeling intervals of 3 hours and 6 hours were also used. After antigen retrieval, EdU-incorporation was detected with the Click-iT EdU Alexa Fluor 555 imaging Kit per manufacturer's instructions (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). After the Click-iT reaction, BrdU was detected as described above.

Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL): To assess apoptosis, TUNEL assays were performed using the Tunel Label Mix and Tunel TdT Enzyme (Roche Applied Science, Indianapolis, IN), and AlexaFluor 647-dUTP secondary antisera (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Paraffin-embedded sections were rehydrated, washed in 0.2% Triton-X to permeablize the nuclear membrane, microwaved in citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 16 minutes, followed by 2 hours of cooling. Sections were digested in 0.0025% Trypsin-EDTA for 12 minutes at 37°C, and incubated with TUNEL reaction mixture for 45 minutes at 37°C. The sections were then incubated with primary and Cy3-conjugated secondary antibodies and imaged as described above.

Glucose stimulated insulin secretion in vitro: Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) was performed under static conditions. Briefly, insulin release was measured from isolated human islets at time of receipt and 72 hours after transduction with adenovirus. Islets were pre-incubated in Krebs bicarbonate buffer (120mM NaCl, 1.8mM CaCl₂, 5mM KCl, 10mM HEPES, 1.2mM KH₂PO₄, 25mM NaHCO₃, 0.2% BSA) with 3mM glucose for 1 hour to achieve baseline insulin release. Three groups of 70 islets each were

sequentially exposed to 3mM glucose for 1 hour, the medium collected, and then shifted to 16.7mM glucose for 1 hour. The medium was again collected and islet protein extracted. Insulin release into the medium, and insulin content of islets was determined using a radioimmune assay specific for human insulin (University of Pennsylvania Diabetes and Endocrinology Research Center – Radioimmunoassay and Biomarkers Core).

Statistics: Statistical analysis between two groups was done using a one-tailed Student's *t*-test. Values are considered significant when P < 0.05. Variation measurements are given as standard error of the mean unless stated otherwise.

References

- 1. Shapiro, A.M., Lakey, J.R., Ryan, E.A., Korbutt, G.S., Toth, E., Warnock, G.L., Kneteman, N.M., and Rajotte, R.V. 2000. Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. *N Engl J Med* 343:230-238.
- 2. Kroon, E., Martinson, L.A., Kadoya, K., Bang, A.G., Kelly, O.G., Eliazer, S., Young, H., Richardson, M., Smart, N.G., Cunningham, J., et al. 2008. Pancreatic endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucoseresponsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. *Nat Biotechnol* 26:443-452.
- 3. Zhou, Q., Brown, J., Kanarek, A., Rajagopal, J., and Melton, D.A. 2008. In vivo reprogramming of adult pancreatic exocrine cells to beta-cells. *Nature* 455:627-632.
- 4. Ferber, S., Halkin, A., Cohen, H., Ber, I., Einav, Y., Goldberg, I., Barshack, I., Seijffers, R., Kopolovic, J., Kaiser, N., et al. 2000. Pancreatic and duodenal homeobox gene 1 induces expression of insulin genes in liver and ameliorates streptozotocin-induced hyperglycemia. *Nat Med* 6:568-572.
- 5. Wang, A.Y., Ehrhardt, A., Xu, H., and Kay, M.A. 2007. Adenovirus transduction is required for the correction of diabetes using Pdx-1 or Neurogenin-3 in the liver. *Mol Ther* 15:255-263.
- 6. Kaneto, H., Nakatani, Y., Miyatsuka, T., Matsuoka, T.A., Matsuhisa, M., Hori, M., and Yamasaki, Y. 2005. PDX-1/VP16 fusion protein, together with NeuroD or Ngn3, markedly induces insulin gene transcription and ameliorates glucose tolerance. *Diabetes* 54:1009-1022.
- 7. Dor, Y., Brown, J., Martinez, O.I., and Melton, D.A. 2004. Adult pancreatic betacells are formed by self-duplication rather than stem-cell differentiation. *Nature* 429:41-46.
- 8. Perl, S., Kushner, J.A., Buchholz, B.A., Meeker, A.K., Stein, G.M., Hsieh, M., Kirby, M., Pechhold, S., Liu, E.H., Harlan, D.M., et al. 2010. Significant human beta-cell turnover is limited to the first three decades of life as determined by in vivo thymidine analog incorporation and radiocarbon dating. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 95:E234-239.
- Davis, D.B., Lavine, J.A., Suhonen, J.I., Krautkramer, K.A., Rabaglia, M.E., Sperger, J.M., Fernandez, L.A., Yandell, B.S., Keller, M.P., Wang, I.M., et al. 2010. FoxM1 is up-regulated by obesity and stimulates beta-cell proliferation. *Mol Endocrinol* 24:1822-1834.
- Fiaschi-Taesch, N.M., Salim, F., Kleinberger, J., Troxell, R., Cozar-Castellano, I., Selk, K., Cherok, E., Takane, K.K., Scott, D.K., and Stewart, A.F. 2010. Induction of human beta-cell proliferation and engraftment using a single G1/S regulatory molecule, cdk6. *Diabetes* 59:1926-1936.

- 11. Grouwels, G., Cai, Y., Hoebeke, I., Leuckx, G., Heremans, Y., Ziebold, U., Stange, G., Chintinne, M., Ling, Z., Pipeleers, D., et al. 2010. Ectopic expression of E2F1 stimulates beta-cell proliferation and function. *Diabetes* 59:1435-1444.
- 12. Hohmeier, H.E., and Newgard, C.B. 2005. Islets for all? *Nat Biotechnol* 23:1231-1232.
- 13. Gupta, R.K., Gao, N., Gorski, R.K., White, P., Hardy, O.T., Rafiq, K., Brestelli, J.E., Chen, G., Stoeckert, C.J., Jr., and Kaestner, K.H. 2007. Expansion of adult beta-cell mass in response to increased metabolic demand is dependent on HNF-4alpha. *Genes Dev* 21:756-769.
- 14. Sladek, F.M. 2010. What are nuclear receptor ligands? *Mol Cell Endocrinol*.
- Hansen, S.K., Parrizas, M., Jensen, M.L., Pruhova, S., Ek, J., Boj, S.F., Johansen, A., Maestro, M.A., Rivera, F., Eiberg, H., et al. 2002. Genetic evidence that HNFlalpha-dependent transcriptional control of HNF-4alpha is essential for human pancreatic beta cell function. *J Clin Invest* 110:827-833.
- Tanaka, T., Jiang, S., Hotta, H., Takano, K., Iwanari, H., Sumi, K., Daigo, K., Ohashi, R., Sugai, M., Ikegame, C., et al. 2006. Dysregulated expression of P1 and P2 promoter-driven hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha in the pathogenesis of human cancer. *J Pathol* 208:662-672.
- Lavine, J.A., Raess, P.W., Davis, D.B., Rabaglia, M.E., Presley, B.K., Keller, M.P., Beinfeld, M.C., Kopin, A.S., Newgard, C.B., and Attie, A.D. 2010. Contamination with E1A-positive wild-type adenovirus accounts for speciesspecific stimulation of islet cell proliferation by CCK: a cautionary note. *Mol Endocrinol* 24:464-467.
- 18. Fiaschi-Taesch, N., Bigatel, T.A., Sicari, B., Takane, K.K., Salim, F., Velazquez-Garcia, S., Harb, G., Selk, K., Cozar-Castellano, I., and Stewart, A.F. 2009. Survey of the human pancreatic beta-cell G1/S proteome reveals a potential therapeutic role for cdk-6 and cyclin D1 in enhancing human beta-cell replication and function in vivo. *Diabetes* 58:882-893.
- 19. Thomson, A.M., Gillespie, P.J., and Blow, J.J. 2010. Replication factory activation can be decoupled from the replication timing program by modulating Cdk levels. *J Cell Biol* 188:209-221.
- 20. Pagano, M., Pepperkok, R., Verde, F., Ansorge, W., and Draetta, G. 1992. Cyclin A is required at two points in the human cell cycle. *EMBO J* 11:961-971.
- 21. Blow, J.J., and Hodgson, B. 2002. Replication licensing--defining the proliferative state? *Trends Cell Biol* 12:72-78.
- 22. Sancar, A., Lindsey-Boltz, L.A., Unsal-Kacmaz, K., and Linn, S. 2004. Molecular mechanisms of mammalian DNA repair and the DNA damage checkpoints. *Annu Rev Biochem* 73:39-85.
- Rogakou, E.P., Pilch, D.R., Orr, A.H., Ivanova, V.S., and Bonner, W.M. 1998. DNA double-stranded breaks induce histone H2AX phosphorylation on serine 139. *J Biol Chem* 273:5858-5868.
- 24. Laybutt, D.R., Weir, G.C., Kaneto, H., Lebet, J., Palmiter, R.D., Sharma, A., and Bonner-Weir, S. 2002. Overexpression of c-Myc in beta-cells of transgenic mice causes proliferation and apoptosis, downregulation of insulin gene expression, and diabetes. *Diabetes* 51:1793-1804.

- de la Tour, D., Halvorsen, T., Demeterco, C., Tyrberg, B., Itkin-Ansari, P., Loy, M., Yoo, S.J., Hao, E., Bossie, S., and Levine, F. 2001. Beta-cell differentiation from a human pancreatic cell line in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Endocrinol* 15:476-483.
- 26. Beattie, G.M., Montgomery, A.M., Lopez, A.D., Hao, E., Perez, B., Just, M.L., Lakey, J.R., Hart, M.E., and Hayek, A. 2002. A novel approach to increase human islet cell mass while preserving beta-cell function. *Diabetes* 51:3435-3439.
- 27. Tavana, O., Puebla-Osorio, N., Sang, M., and Zhu, C. 2009. Absence of p53dependent apoptosis combined with nonhomologous end-joining deficiency leads to a severe diabetic phenotype in mice. *Diabetes* 59:135-142.
- 28. Kuilman, T., Michaloglou, C., Mooi, W.J., and Peeper, D.S. 2010. The essence of senescence. *Genes Dev* 24:2463-2479.
- 29. He, L.M., Sartori, D.J., Teta, M., Opare-Addo, L.M., Rankin, M.M., Long, S.Y., Diehl, J.A., and Kushner, J.A. 2009. Cyclin D2 protein stability is regulated in pancreatic beta-cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 23:1865-1875.
- Butler, A.E., Janson, J., Bonner-Weir, S., Ritzel, R., Rizza, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2003. Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 52:102-110.
- 31. Meier, J.J., Butler, A.E., Saisho, Y., Monchamp, T., Galasso, R., Bhushan, A., Rizza, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2008. Beta-cell replication is the primary mechanism subserving the postnatal expansion of beta-cell mass in humans. *Diabetes* 57:1584-1594.
- 32. Genevay, M., Pontes, H., and Meda, P. 2010. Beta cell adaptation in pregnancy: a major difference between humans and rodents? *Diabetologia* 53:2089-2092.
- 33. Kassem, S.A., Ariel, I., Thornton, P.S., Scheimberg, I., and Glaser, B. 2000. Betacell proliferation and apoptosis in the developing normal human pancreas and in hyperinsulinism of infancy. *Diabetes* 49:1325-1333.
- 34. Kohler, C.U., Olewinski, M., Tannapfel, A., Schmidt, W.E., Fritsch, H., and Meier, J.J. 2010. Cell cycle control of beta-cell replication in the prenatal and postnatal human pancreas. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 300:E221-230.
- 35. Hanley, S.C., Austin, E., Assouline-Thomas, B., Kapeluto, J., Blaichman, J., Moosavi, M., Petropavlovskaia, M., and Rosenberg, L. 2010. {beta}-Cell mass dynamics and islet cell plasticity in human type 2 diabetes. *Endocrinology* 151:1462-1472.
- 36. Ritzel, R.A., and Butler, P.C. 2003. Replication increases beta-cell vulnerability to human islet amyloid polypeptide-induced apoptosis. *Diabetes* 52:1701-1708.
- 37. Meier, J.J., Lin, J.C., Butler, A.E., Galasso, R., Martinez, D.S., and Butler, P.C. 2006. Direct evidence of attempted beta cell regeneration in an 89-year-old patient with recent-onset type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 49:1838-1844.
- 38. Blow, J.J., and Dutta, A. 2005. Preventing re-replication of chromosomal DNA. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 6:476-486.
- 39. Dorn, E.S., Chastain, P.D., 2nd, Hall, J.R., and Cook, J.G. 2009. Analysis of rereplication from deregulated origin licensing by DNA fiber spreading. *Nucleic Acids Res* 37:60-69.
- 40. Bell, S.P., and Dutta, A. 2002. DNA replication in eukaryotic cells. *Annu Rev Biochem* 71:333-374.

- 41. Davidson, I.F., Li, A., and Blow, J.J. 2006. Deregulated replication licensing causes DNA fragmentation consistent with head-to-tail fork collision. *Mol Cell* 24:433-443.
- 42. Aggarwal, P., Lessie, M.D., Lin, D.I., Pontano, L., Gladden, A.B., Nuskey, B., Goradia, A., Wasik, M.A., Klein-Szanto, A.J., Rustgi, A.K., et al. 2007. Nuclear accumulation of cyclin D1 during S phase inhibits Cul4-dependent Cdt1 proteolysis and triggers p53-dependent DNA rereplication. *Genes Dev* 21:2908-2922.
- 43. Halvorsen, T.L., Beattie, G.M., Lopez, A.D., Hayek, A., and Levine, F. 2000. Accelerated telomere shortening and senescence in human pancreatic islet cells stimulated to divide in vitro. *J Endocrinol* 166:103-109.
- 44. Bartkova, J., Rezaei, N., Liontos, M., Karakaidos, P., Kletsas, D., Issaeva, N., Vassiliou, L.V., Kolettas, E., Niforou, K., Zoumpourlis, V.C., et al. 2006. Oncogene-induced senescence is part of the tumorigenesis barrier imposed by DNA damage checkpoints. *Nature* 444:633-637.
- 45. Di Micco, R., Fumagalli, M., Cicalese, A., Piccinin, S., Gasparini, P., Luise, C., Schurra, C., Garre, M., Nuciforo, P.G., Bensimon, A., et al. 2006. Oncogeneinduced senescence is a DNA damage response triggered by DNA hyperreplication. *Nature* 444:638-642.
- 46. Bartkova, J., Horejsi, Z., Koed, K., Kramer, A., Tort, F., Zieger, K., Guldberg, P., Sehested, M., Nesland, J.M., Lukas, C., et al. 2005. DNA damage response as a candidate anti-cancer barrier in early human tumorigenesis. *Nature* 434:864-870.
- 47. Serrano, M., Lin, A.W., McCurrach, M.E., Beach, D., and Lowe, S.W. 1997. Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. *Cell* 88:593-602.
- 48. Lin, A.W., Barradas, M., Stone, J.C., van Aelst, L., Serrano, M., and Lowe, S.W. 1998. Premature senescence involving p53 and p16 is activated in response to constitutive MEK/MAPK mitogenic signaling. *Genes Dev* 12:3008-3019.
- 49. Shibuya, E.K., Morris, J., Rapp, U.R., and Ruderman, J.V. 1996. Activation of the Xenopus oocyte mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway by Mos is independent of Raf. *Cell Growth Differ* 7:235-241.
- 50. Cozar-Castellano, I., Harb, G., Selk, K., Takane, K., Vasavada, R., Sicari, B., Law, B., Zhang, P., Scott, D.K., Fiaschi-Taesch, N., et al. 2008. Lessons from the first comprehensive molecular characterization of cell cycle control in rodent insulinoma cell lines. *Diabetes* 57:3056-3068.
- 51. Harb, G., Vasavada, R.C., Cobrinik, D., and Stewart, A.F. 2009. The retinoblastoma protein and its homolog p130 regulate the G1/S transition in pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes* 58:1852-1862.
- 52. Cozar-Castellano, I., Weinstock, M., Haught, M., Velazquez-Garcia, S., Sipula, D., and Stewart, A.F. 2006. Evaluation of beta-cell replication in mice transgenic for hepatocyte growth factor and placental lactogen: comprehensive characterization of the G1/S regulatory proteins reveals unique involvement of p21cip. *Diabetes* 55:70-77.
- 53. Chartier, F.L., Bossu, J.P., Laudet, V., Fruchart, J.C., and Laine, B. 1994. Cloning and sequencing of cDNAs encoding the human hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 indicate the presence of two isoforms in human liver. *Gene* 147:269-272.

54. Rieck, S., White, P., Schug, J., Fox, A.J., Smirnova, O., Gao, N., Gupta, R.K., Wang, Z.V., Scherer, P.E., Keller, M.P., et al. 2009. The transcriptional response of the islet to pregnancy in mice. *Mol Endocrinol* 23:1702-1712.

Chapter IV:

Conclusions and Future Directions

Conclusions

Normally in healthy conditions, pancreatic β -cells have a long life span, exhibiting a low rate of replication. In response to the increased systemic demand for insulin as occurs during pregnancy, obesity and β -cell recovery after injury, the β -cell population as a whole is able to dramatically increase its rate of replication, at least in rodents. It is thought that cell replacement therapy is well suited for diabetic patients whose endogenous β -cell number is below the threshold to successfully alleviate hyperglycemia chronically. One possible treatment to correct this β -cell deficit in both type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients is through the transplantation of isolated islets from cadavers. However, a recent report indicates a disproportionately low number islet infusions are performed annually compared to the total amount of diabetic patients, exemplifying the paucity of donor tissue (1). A promising approach to improve this statistic depends on developing an unlimited *in vitro* supply of fully functional β -cells through the proliferation of pre-existing terminally differentiated adult β -cells. To this day, a well-defined protocol to drive efficient non-oncogenic proliferation of human β cells *in vitro* remains elusive.

My research attempted to succeed against this challenge by identifying the mechanisms and molecular players responsible for β -cell proliferation during physiological expansion of β -cell mass and attempting to mimic human β -cell proliferation *in vitro* through the forced expression of known rodent β -cell mitogens. In the first part of my thesis, I used gene expression analysis to determine what mechanisms are involved in controlling islet replication during pregnancy in mice. In the second part

158

of my thesis I utilized an adenovirus, primary human islet donations, and immunofluorescence techniques to assess the consequence of the overexpression of a pancreas specific isoform of HNF4 α , a known transcription factor required for murine β -cell proliferation during pregnancy (2), on human β -cell proliferation *in vitro*.

This dissertation makes several contributions to the field of β -cell regeneration. First, I provide the first systematic *in vivo* study investigating the expression profile of the proliferating islet during pregnancy in the mouse. I identify many differentially expressed genes that at the time of the study have not been previously reported to play a role in islet expansion. I compare three different mouse models of β -cell expansion and provide evidence that although both proliferative and survival mechanisms are required for universal islet expansion, the mechanisms to attain increased islet mass differ between pregnancy, obesity, and β -cell injury. In addition, I demonstrate that HNF4 α 8 is an initiator of cell cycle entry in primary human β -cells. While several groups have attempted to mimic human β -cell proliferation *in vitro*, I am the first to show that the DNA damage response resulting from replication stress is a barrier to the successful completion of the cell cycle by the overexpression of known cell cycle regulators.

Both proliferative and survival signals are required for islet expansion in vivo

By combining gene expression profiling data and gene ontology functional analysis I found a cluster of categories with genes involved in cellular proliferation and cell death that were overrepresented in the list of differentially expressed genes from pregnant day 14.5 islets as compared to non-pregnant age matched controls (Table 2.7). Thus, I hypothesized that the islet"s ability to compensate during metabolic stress requires the simultaneous induction of both proliferative and survival pathways. Birc5 (Survivin), a member of the inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) gene family, is a gene of particular interest as endocrine pancreas specific Birc5-deficient animals progressively lose β -cell mass after 2 weeks of age, and Birc5-deficient islet cells exhibit dysmorphic nuclei, consistent with defective cell division (3). I found that *Birc5* expression in the islet closely mirrored the proliferative profile, reflected by mRNA levels of Ki67, throughout pregnancy, obesity and β -cell injury (Figure 2.4, 2.8), implicating Birc5 as a crucial and universal factor that ensures the survival of proliferating β -cells through and after mitosis in various settings during increased metabolic loads later in adulthood (Figure 4.1). Indeed, I demonstrate that significantly reduced expression of both *Ki67* and Birc5 in part explains for the onset of severe diabetes in 10 week old BTBR leptin^{ob/ob} mice as compared to age matched diabetes resistant B6 leptin^{ob/ob} mice (4). Consistent with the observations I made in comparing different models of β -cell expansion, Birc5's cytoprotective qualities might be of therapeutic value as demonstrated by transplantation of a suboptimal number of β -cell specific Birc5 transgenic islets into diabetic recipient mice resulting in long-term engraftment, and stable correction of hyperglycemia in part through the intrinsic inhibition of β -cell apoptosis without inducing new rounds of β -cell proliferation (5). Together these experiments indicate that the ideal strategy to derive fully functional human β -cells through proliferation whether endogenously in a patient or ex vivo should consider the utility of "survival" genes ensuring protection from the consequences of flawed cell division and/or yet unidentified deficiencies, to limit undesired fates such as apoptosis induced by genotoxic stress.

The transcriptional mechanisms to attain increased islet mass differ between pregnancy, obesity and a β -cell injury model

Using qPCR I compared the expression of selected genes most differentially expressed during pregnancy day 14.5 to two other models of β -cell expansion caused by an induction of β -cell proliferation: the 10 week old diabetes resistant B6 *leptin*^{ob/ob} mouse and the PANIC-ATTAC transgenic mouse. I demonstrated dramatic differences in the induction of gene expression occurring between pregnancy, obesity-induced β -cell compensation, and recovery from β -cell ablation (Figure 2.8), and suggest that diverse mechanisms can be used by the islet to expand its mass at least on a transcriptional level. Given the divergent physiological contexts of pregnancy, obesity, and experimental β -cell ablation, it makes intuitive sense that the molecular mechanisms responsible for the compensatory increase in islet mass in each case are probably distinct. A hypothesis one can extend from this is that these divergent mechanisms converge upon the cell cycle genes of the adult β -cell. This is exciting as there might be many potential therapeutic interventions one can pursue to elicit β -cell proliferation; the challenge being which are most feasible as an effective treatment for diabetes mellitus.

Overexpression of HNF4α8 initiates cell cycle entry in human β-cells in vitro

The transcription factor HNF4 α is required for the increase in β -cell proliferation during pregnancy, and is one therapeutic avenue for further investigation. To address the ability of HNF4 α as a human β -cell mitogen, I employed adenoviral-mediated overexpression of a pancreas-specific isoform of HNF4 α (HNF4 α 8). Through the use of immunofluorescence markers distinguishing between the distinct phases of the cell cycle, I demonstrated that HNF4 α 8 overexpression alone stimulated β -cells to enter the cell cycle, and led to a greater than 300-fold increase in the number of β -cells that entered Sphase without detectable loss of function (Figure 3.2, 3.6). In addition, when I overexpressed HNF4 α 8 together with known factors sufficient for promoting cell cycle entry in the human β -cell (CDK6 and CYCLIN D3), I further increased the number of β cells entering the cell cycle (Figure 3.7). This data extends the role of HNF4 α in murine β -cell proliferation during pregnancy to a cell cycle regulator in human β -cells *in vitro*.

The DNA damage response resulting from replication stress limits cell cycle progression in primary human β -cells overexpressing cell cycle regulators

I further investigated β -cells stimulated to enter the cell cycle by overexpression of HNF4 α 8 for (i) active cell cycle progression through cell cycle phases, and (ii) proper duplication of the genome. Using immunofluorescence markers I demonstrate that this population of β-cells undergoes dysregulated DNA replication at one origin leading to activation of the DNA damage checkpoint, and cell cycle arrest ultimately leading to a senescence-like fate (Figure 3.4, 3.5, 3.6). DNA damage induced cell cycle arrest is not limited to overexpression of HNF4 α 8, but is also present in a substantial proportion of β cells induced to enter the cell cycle by the combined overexpression of CYCLIN D3 and CDK6 (Figure 3.8), the previous gold standard for the induction of human β -cell proliferation in vitro (6). In addition, I show that this fraction of islet cells that have entered the cell cycle upon CYCLIN D3/CDK6 overexpression show morphological signs of cell death (Figure 3.8), which was not previously appreciated (6). While entry into the cell cycle is not being debated, these results put into doubt whether complete cell cycle progression and exit is achieved with previously published β -cell sufficiency factors transcriptionally modulated through overexpression. Rather it suggests uncoupling of the mechanisms that control the timing and execution of each cell cycle phase in primary human β -cells through excessive transcriptional activation.

These results also suggest that the expression levels of cell cycle regulators are important to consider when attempting to elicit β -cell proliferation *in vitro*. For example, the reintroduction of supraphysiological protein levels of HNF1 α back into HNF1 α - null mice is deleterious, as demonstrated by a severe reduction of β -cell proliferation, increased apoptosis, and subsequent β -cell depletion (7). Indeed, the tissue specific expression of HNF4 α as determined by its dual promoters is dysregulated in certain human cancers (8). Also, it is important to realize that the DNA damage response is a barrier to tumorgenesis in early human bladder, lung, colon and breast cancers. Overexpression of already mentioned genes such as Cyclin E, E2F1 and c-Myc stimulates the DNA damage machinery through DNA hyper-replication (9-11), abrogation of which leads to transformation and tumor formation in both in vitro and in vivo models (11, 12). This sets an undesired but very much potential precedence that overexpression cell cycle regulators can generate genomic instability, leading to spontaneous mutations of key DNA damage response mediators such as p53, and consequent unchecked proliferation. Numerous P53 mutations and splice mutations of CHK2, including loss of heterozygosity of the CHK2 protein, accumulate with worsening grade of bladder cancers, indicating progressive defects in the DNA damage response pathway (10). While the manipulations performed in my experiments did not lead to a diminishing DNA damage response over time (Figure 3.5, 3.6), the wide appreciation and analysis of the DNA damage response pathway, including p53, until now did not exist in the context of the β -cell, and more importantly in a human β -cell that has been stimulated to enter the cell cycle via overexpression of a β -cell mitogen. My findings not only demonstrate that the DNA damage response is a barrier to efficient β -cell proliferation *in*

vitro, but also suggest genomic stability as an additional determinant of successful β -cell proliferation and expansion *in vivo* (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1: A model for β-cell expansion in response to metabolic loads.

Figure 4.1: A model for β-cell expansion in response to metabolic loads. This is a model based on the conclusions of this thesis and the literature. (A) Normally, β-cells in the mouse undergo very little turnover, exhibiting a low basal rate of replication. Pregnancy, obesity and β-cell recovery after injury are examples in which the systematic demand for insulin increases. (B) To successfully compensate for the relative insulin deficiency that occurs in each case, both proliferative and survival pathways are activated in β-cells, protecting against the onset of diabetes. An increase in β-cell size also accompanies β-cell expansion during pregnancy and obesity. (C) If the expanding β-cell mass remains predisposed to β-cell apoptosis resulting from an increased vulnerability during cell cycle progression, for example the lack of expression of ,,survival" factors (represented here as Birc5) and/or increased genomic instability, β-cell compensation fails. If β-cell apoptosis overcomes β-cell renewal mechanisms and persists for a prolonged amount of time, diabetes might ensue.

Note: This figure has been published in TRENDS in Endocrinology and Metabolism as a Review article entitled,

Expansion of β *-cell mass in response to pregnancy.*

Rieck S, Kaestner KH. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2010 Mar; 21(3):151-8.

Future Directions

Investigation of the role of Cish in reversible β-cell expansion during pregnancy

It is now appreciated that a great multitude of cell cycle inhibitory proteins or molecular brakes are expressed in the β -cell postnatally, dramatically slowing the rate of β -cell proliferation during adulthood (13). Instead of looking for the therapeutic molecular accelerator that drives cell cycle progression, the converse question I can ask is which molecular brakes must be removed to allow spontaneous β -cell proliferation. The identification of differentially expressed genes associated with β -cell expansion during pregnancy (see Chapter 2) offers hints to which brakes might help generate new β -cells in a cell replacement therapy for treating diabetes mellitus.

One such gene whose expression is highly induced in the islet during pregnancy is *Cish*, a member of the suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) family (Table 2.3). The SOCS family is characterized as a family of proteins capable of inhibiting Jak2/Stat signaling in various tissues, acting via a classical negative feedback loop (14). Since it is known that lactogenic hormones signal through Jak2/Stat5, and induce proliferation by upregulation of Cyclin D2 in the β -cell *in vitro* (15), a molecular regulator of this pathway is of particular interest. Specifically, Cish can utilize two mechanisms to downregulate lactogen- induced Jak2/Stat signaling. First via its SH2 domain, it can bind to phosphorylated tyrosine residues on the prolactin receptor, a tyrosine kinase receptor, thereby masking potential docking sites for downstream signaling such as Stat5. Also, via its SOCS box domain, Cish may target its bound signaling molecule to ubiquitination and proteosomal degradation by recruitment of an E3 ligase complex (14).
Thus, I propose the induction of Cish expression by lactogen signaling through Jak2/Stat5 negatively regulates growth in the β -cell during pregnancy. Indeed, I have preliminarily demonstrated that suppression of Cish induction augments phosphorylation of Stat5 by recombinant prolactin in MIN6 cells (data not shown). However, the role of Cish in reversible β -cell expansion during pregnancy *in vivo* is not known. I hypothesize that ablation of Cish will enhance β -cell proliferation during pregnancy in the mouse. To answer this question, I derived a conditional null allele for Cish utilizing genetic recombination and subcloning protocols (Figure 4.2A-B). I will utilize a transgenic mouse expressing Cre recombinase under the control of the mouse insulin promoter (MIP) to specifically ablate Cish in β -cells (Figure 4.2C), because the MIP-Cre/ERT transgenic mouse does not have Cre recombinase activity in the brain and tamoxifen is incompatible with pregnancy studies (16). I will use the Cish^{LoxP/LoxP}; MIP-Cre mouse model to assess if Cish ablation is enough to cause a normally quiescent adult β -cell to spontaneously proliferate. In addition, using the pregnancy β -cell expansion paradigm I will be able to assess if Cish ablation can augment the proliferation rate and/or survival of β -cells in response to physiological insulin resistance in the mouse. Gene expression profiles will give me mechanistic information of what potential pro-proliferative and prosurvival genes are transcriptionally upregulated upon Cish deletion, and if Cish acts as a negative regulator of the Jak2/Stat5 pathway and potentially any other signaling pathways downstream of the prolactin receptor during pregnancy such as the insulin signaling pathway (17). If there is a role for Cish in β -cell proliferation during pregnancy, combining the Cish^{LoxP/LoxP}; MIP-Cre mouse model with other models of β -cell expansion such as obesity (high fat diet) and β -cell recovery after ablation (PANIC-ATTAC) will

give me information about if Cish"s role in β -cell proliferation is restricted to only the pregnancy. If these experiments employing this mouse model are successful, experiments can then be carried further into the primary human islet system to ask if the RNA interference mediated suppression of CISH expression upon lactogen stimulation has a stimulatory effect on human β -cell proliferation.



Figure 4.2: Derivation of a loxP allele for the conditional ablation of Cish in the mouse.

Figure 4.2: Derivation of a loxP allele for the conditional ablation of Cish in the mouse. (A) The homologous recombination strategy chosen to derive the Cish^{LoxP} allele with (i) wild type *Cish* locus on chromosome 9, (ii) the target vector, and (iii) the resulting homologous recombination product between the target vector and wildtype *Cish* locus. Notice the additional EcoR1 site introduced by the 3" loxP site. (B) A southern blot showing successful recombination of the target vector into the *Cish* locus as detected by two different DNA products after EcoR1 restriction enzyme digestion. (C) A cross between a mouse homozygous for the Cish^{LoxP} allele and MIP-Cre transgene mouse ablates Cish only in β-cells.

Define HNF4 α dependent pathways responsible for β -cell proliferation during states of increased metabolic loads

It has been shown that HNF4 α is not only required for β -cell proliferation during pregnancy (2), but its overexpression can also be utilized to stimulate primary human β cells to enter the cell cycle (see Chapter 3). While one mechanism through which this is accomplished could be the Ras/Mapk signaling pathway (2), it is unclear as to how HNF4α regulates the cell cycle and if other known mechanisms leading to proliferation of β -cells are dependent on HNF4 α . Based on my human β -cell work, I hypothesize that HNF4α transcriptionally regulates genes responsible for triggering cell cycle entry. While it was not possible to assess the small population of HNF4 α 8- overexpressing human β cells that entered the cell cycle separate from the remainder of the islet by gene expression analysis, I can begin to validate this hypothesis by utilizing a transgenic mouse model that has inducible overexpression of HNF4 α 8 in a higher percentage of β cells by using the RIP-RTTA (reversible tetracycline transactivator protein); TRE-HNF4 α 8 (tetracycline response element) system. In addition, β -cell specific deletion of HNF4 α , by using the HNF4 $\alpha^{loxP/loxP}$; Ins.Cre mouse model provides an experimental platform with which to identify physiological pathways involved in β-cell proliferation dependent on HNF4 α not only during pregnancy, but also other models of β -cell expansion (18). Expression profiling of pregnant control and pregnant HNF4 $\alpha^{loxP/loxP}$; Ins. Cre mice can provide other pathways transcriptionally dependent on HNF4 α during pregnancy. Placing HNF4 $\alpha^{loxP/loxP}$; Ins.Cre mice on a high fat diet or crossing with leptin deficient *Ob/Ob* mice can address if β -cell proliferation is dependent on HNF4 α during obesity. Together I can compare the gene expression profiles between these three

contexts (HNF4 α 8 overexpression, pregnancy, obesity) to assess if the differential expression of genes differs between a proliferating β -cell during two different states of physiological insulin resistance, and a β -cell stimulated to enter the cell cycle by overexpression.

Another potential mechanism for HNF4 α dependent β -cell proliferation reflects a very recent but provocative idea that glucose driven glycolysis is a key mitogenic trigger for β -cells. Specifically, β -cell proliferation depends on a signaling pathway involving glucokinase and membrane depolarization (19). HNF4 α directly regulates a key factor in this pathway, the potassium channel (K_{ATP}) subunit Kir6.2, through regulation of mRNA and protein expression *in vivo* and transcriptional activation of Kir6.2 *in vitro* (18). It is possible that reduced levels of Kir6.2 protein levels uncouples HNF4 α - deficient β -cells from the increased glycolytic flux present during pregnancy, leading to a reduction in proliferation rate of these cells (19). Although the direct mechanism downstream of Kir6.2 to cell cycle genes is not clear, the HNF4 $\alpha^{loxP/loxP}$; Ins.Cre mouse in combination with the pregnancy β -cell expansion paradigm gives an experimental platform from which to test this hypothesis. While Kir6.2 is only a subunit of the K_{ATP} channel, mutations in it alone are able to cause impaired insulin secretion in pancreatic β-cells in vivo (20). Indeed, the HNF4 $\alpha^{loxP/loxP}$; Ins.Cre mouse during pregnancy is glucose intolerant as measured by glucose tolerance tests (2). In addition, if an increase in the random blood glucose and decrease in the insulin levels in the plasma of these mice during pregnancy occurs, opposite of what normally happens (21), it would suggest an uncoupling of the HNF4 α - deficient β -cell to its surrounding glycolytic environment. An interesting experiment would be to attempt to rescue the β -cell proliferation defect by

molecules that modulate the activity of the K_{ATP} channel of the β -cell. Diazoxide decreases insulin secretion by opening the K_{ATP} channel and sulfonylureas like glyburide increase insulin secretion by closing the K_{ATP} channel (19). I hypothesize that hyperpolarization of the β -cell membrane by administration of diazoxide will not improve the β -cell proliferation defect. Conversely, depolarization of the β -cell membrane by administration of the glyburide would rescue the proliferation of β -cells normally reduced in the HNF4 $\alpha^{loxP/loxP}$; Ins.Cre mouse during pregnancy. This is supported by the fact that forced membrane depolarization upon injection of glyburide in the presence of increased glycolytic flux by β -ablation can further stimulate β -cell proliferation (19). An alternative rescue experiment is to reintroduce Kir6.2 protein expression back into the HNF4 α -deficient β -cell by the use of a β -cell specific Kir6.2 overexpression mouse, with the expectation that this would couple the HNF4 α -deficient β -cell back to an environment of increased glycolytic flux restoring β -cell proliferation. These experiments would begin to clarify whether glycolytic flux has a role in β -cell expansion during pregnancy, and if HNF4 α regulates this process.

Examination of methods which potentially stimulate β -cell proliferation without activation of the DNA damage response

My findings demonstrate that overexpression of cell cycle regulators can generate replication stress in human β -cells, characterized by cell cycle arrest due to the activation of the DNA damage response (see Chapter 3). I propose that future studies attempting to understand the DNA damage response in the β -cell can help avoid undesired consequences when attempting to stimulate β -cell proliferation. While re-replication occurs in HNF4 α 8 overexpressing cells that enter the cell cycle and attempt S-phase, what is the nature of this DNA damage response in β -cells overexpressing other cell cycle

regulators such as the combination of CYCLIN D3 and CDK6? It is true that rereplication occurs in response to the overexpression of various oncogenes in cell lines (11), but other pathways may induce genomic instability by dysregulation of chromatinremodelers, or by directly influencing chromatin structure such as in the telomere and centromere regions (22). In addition, is the DNA damage response generic or specific to the β -cell, and if so, why does one face this challenge only in β -cells? It is curious that out of the endocrine pancreas only the β -cell is susceptible to Birc5-deficiency (3). An extension of this line of thought is indicated by the yet unexplained observation that embryonic and adult cell division seems to be regulated independently (23, 24); the study of cell cycle control in the β -cell not only in various contexts, but also with respect to other cell types is still incomplete. There is a need for identification of the mechanisms cell cycle entry and progression employed by the β -cell prenatally. These mechanisms should be compared to β -cell expansion models already discussed such as during pregnancy, obesity, and β -cell recovery after injury. For example, is some degree of the DNA damage response physiological or always pathological? One way to examine that question would be to look at the only clearly proven type of human β -cell replication, which occurs during prenatal period of the fetus (25). If no DNA damage response is present in these proliferating β -cells, what are the proliferative and survival mechanisms employed that protect the β -cell against this during the prenatal period? The challenge becomes to identify ways in which β -cell proliferation can be stimulated while avoiding activation of the DNA damage response.

The utility of cell permeable small molecules would be an alternative to the overexpression of cell cycle regulators to stimulate β -cell proliferation. Small molecules

175

would allow for greater regulation of both the amount and duration of potential β-cell mitogen activation needed to drive efficient and non-oncogenic cell cycle progression. I propose that small molecules identified by a screen using a quiescent β -cell line can be confirmed by the primary human islets *in vitro* system. Known molecules stimulating β cell proliferation include, hepatocyte growth factor (Hgf) (26), and Exendin-4 (27). Other potential molecules include ones that trigger an increase in the rate of glycolysis in the βcell, since glucose driven glycolysis is a physiological mitogenic trigger for β -cells (19). A recent study demonstrated that a major regulator of Cyclin D2 levels is glucose acting via glycolysis and calcium channels in the β -cell (28). Indeed, a high throughput, high content screening of a growth arrested immortalized mouse β -cell line has identified agonists of calcium channels that can stimulate primary human β-cells into the cell cycle (29). It would be interesting to see if glucokinase activators, upcoming drugs aimed at improving the control of blood glucose in type 2 diabetics, could have a stimulatory effect on human β -cell proliferation (19). Other potential small molecules include ones that increase the activation of known genes regulating proliferation and potentially in combination with known genes regulating survival in the β -cell. For example, identification of small molecules that modulate the activity of pancreas specific HNF4 α could be more beneficial than its overexpression with respect to its role as a "proliferation" gene. Also, small molecules activating the FoxM1 transcription factor with "survival" gene products such as Birc5 could ensure unflawed cell cycle progression. Eventual assessment of small molecules on β -cell mass in diabetic patients is needed to validate this therapeutic avenue.

References

- 1. Robertson, R.P. 2010. Update on transplanting beta cells for reversing type 1 diabetes. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* 39:655-667.
- 2. Gupta, R.K., Gao, N., Gorski, R.K., White, P., Hardy, O.T., Rafiq, K., Brestelli, J.E., Chen, G., Stoeckert, C.J., Jr., and Kaestner, K.H. 2007. Expansion of adult beta-cell mass in response to increased metabolic demand is dependent on HNF-4alpha. *Genes Dev* 21:756-769.
- Jiang, Y., Nishimura, W., Devor-Henneman, D., Kusewitt, D., Wang, H., Holloway, M.P., Dohi, T., Sabo, E., Robinson, M.L., Altieri, D.C., et al. 2008. Postnatal expansion of the pancreatic beta-cell mass is dependent on survivin. *Diabetes* 57:2718-2727.
- 4. Keller, M.P., Choi, Y., Wang, P., Davis, D.B., Rabaglia, M.E., Oler, A.T., Stapleton, D.S., Argmann, C., Schueler, K.L., Edwards, S., et al. 2008. A gene expression network model of type 2 diabetes links cell cycle regulation in islets with diabetes susceptibility. *Genome Res* 18:706-716.
- 5. Dohi, T., Salz, W., Costa, M., Ariyan, C., Basadonna, G.P., and Altieri, D.C. 2006. Inhibition of apoptosis by survivin improves transplantation of pancreatic islets for treatment of diabetes in mice. *EMBO Rep* 7:438-443.
- Fiaschi-Taesch, N.M., Salim, F., Kleinberger, J., Troxell, R., Cozar-Castellano, I., Selk, K., Cherok, E., Takane, K.K., Scott, D.K., and Stewart, A.F. 2010. Induction of human beta-cell proliferation and engraftment using a single G1/S regulatory molecule, cdk6. *Diabetes* 59:1926-1936.
- 7. Luco, R.F., Maestro, M.A., del Pozo, N., Philbrick, W.M., de la Ossa, P.P., and Ferrer, J. 2006. A conditional model reveals that induction of hepatocyte nuclear factor-1alpha in Hnf1alpha-null mutant beta-cells can activate silenced genes postnatally, whereas overexpression is deleterious. *Diabetes* 55:2202-2211.
- 8. Tanaka, T., Jiang, S., Hotta, H., Takano, K., Iwanari, H., Sumi, K., Daigo, K., Ohashi, R., Sugai, M., Ikegame, C., et al. 2006. Dysregulated expression of P1 and P2 promoter-driven hepatocyte nuclear factor-4alpha in the pathogenesis of human cancer. *J Pathol* 208:662-672.
- 9. Vafa, O., Wade, M., Kern, S., Beeche, M., Pandita, T.K., Hampton, G.M., and Wahl, G.M. 2002. c-Myc can induce DNA damage, increase reactive oxygen species, and mitigate p53 function: a mechanism for oncogene-induced genetic instability. *Mol Cell* 9:1031-1044.
- 10. Bartkova, J., Horejsi, Z., Koed, K., Kramer, A., Tort, F., Zieger, K., Guldberg, P., Sehested, M., Nesland, J.M., Lukas, C., et al. 2005. DNA damage response as a candidate anti-cancer barrier in early human tumorigenesis. *Nature* 434:864-870.
- Bartkova, J., Rezaei, N., Liontos, M., Karakaidos, P., Kletsas, D., Issaeva, N., Vassiliou, L.V., Kolettas, E., Niforou, K., Zoumpourlis, V.C., et al. 2006. Oncogene-induced senescence is part of the tumorigenesis barrier imposed by DNA damage checkpoints. *Nature* 444:633-637.
- 12. Di Micco, R., Fumagalli, M., Cicalese, A., Piccinin, S., Gasparini, P., Luise, C., Schurra, C., Garre, M., Nuciforo, P.G., Bensimon, A., et al. 2006. Oncogeneinduced senescence is a DNA damage response triggered by DNA hyperreplication. *Nature* 444:638-642.

- Fiaschi-Taesch, N., Bigatel, T.A., Sicari, B., Takane, K.K., Salim, F., Velazquez-Garcia, S., Harb, G., Selk, K., Cozar-Castellano, I., and Stewart, A.F. 2009. Survey of the human pancreatic beta-cell G1/S proteome reveals a potential therapeutic role for cdk-6 and cyclin D1 in enhancing human beta-cell replication and function in vivo. *Diabetes* 58:882-893.
- 14. Ronn, S.G., Billestrup, N., and Mandrup-Poulsen, T. 2007. Diabetes and suppressors of cytokine signaling proteins. *Diabetes* 56:541-548.
- Friedrichsen, B.N., Richter, H.E., Hansen, J.A., Rhodes, C.J., Nielsen, J.H., Billestrup, N., and Moldrup, A. 2003. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 activation is sufficient to drive transcriptional induction of cyclin D2 gene and proliferation of rat pancreatic beta-cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 17:945-958.
- Wicksteed, B., Brissova, M., Yan, W., Opland, D.M., Plank, J.L., Reinert, R.B., Dickson, L.M., Tamarina, N.A., Philipson, L.H., Shostak, A., et al. 2010. Conditional gene targeting in mouse pancreatic ss-Cells: analysis of ectopic Cre transgene expression in the brain. *Diabetes* 59:3090-3098.
- 17. Hughes, E., and Huang, C. 2011. Participation of Akt, menin, and p21 in pregnancy-induced beta-cell proliferation. *Endocrinology* 152:847-855.
- Gupta, R.K., Vatamaniuk, M.Z., Lee, C.S., Flaschen, R.C., Fulmer, J.T., Matschinsky, F.M., Duncan, S.A., and Kaestner, K.H. 2005. The MODY1 gene HNF-4alpha regulates selected genes involved in insulin secretion. *J Clin Invest* 115:1006-1015.
- Porat, S., Weinberg-Corem, N., Tornovsky-Babaey, S., Schyr-Ben-Haroush, R., Hija, A., Stolovich-Rain, M., Dadon, D., Granot, Z., Ben-Hur, V., White, P., et al. 2011. Control of Pancreatic beta Cell Regeneration by Glucose Metabolism. *Cell Metab* 13:440-449.
- Girard, C.A., Wunderlich, F.T., Shimomura, K., Collins, S., Kaizik, S., Proks, P., Abdulkader, F., Clark, A., Ball, V., Zubcevic, L., et al. 2009. Expression of an activating mutation in the gene encoding the KATP channel subunit Kir6.2 in mouse pancreatic beta cells recapitulates neonatal diabetes. *J Clin Invest* 119:80-90.
- 21. Parsons, J.A., Brelje, T.C., and Sorenson, R.L. 1992. Adaptation of islets of Langerhans to pregnancy: increased islet cell proliferation and insulin secretion correlates with the onset of placental lactogen secretion. *Endocrinology* 130:1459-1466.
- 22. Sage, J., and Straight, A.F. 2010. RB's original CIN? Genes Dev 24:1329-1333.
- 23. Malumbres, M., Sotillo, R., Santamaria, D., Galan, J., Cerezo, A., Ortega, S., Dubus, P., and Barbacid, M. 2004. Mammalian cells cycle without the D-type cyclin-dependent kinases Cdk4 and Cdk6. *Cell* 118:493-504.
- Kozar, K., Ciemerych, M.A., Rebel, V.I., Shigematsu, H., Zagozdzon, A., Sicinska, E., Geng, Y., Yu, Q., Bhattacharya, S., Bronson, R.T., et al. 2004. Mouse development and cell proliferation in the absence of D-cyclins. *Cell* 118:477-491.
- 25. Kohler, C.U., Olewinski, M., Tannapfel, A., Schmidt, W.E., Fritsch, H., and Meier, J.J. 2010. Cell cycle control of beta-cell replication in the prenatal and postnatal human pancreas. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 300:E221-230.

- 26. Garcia-Ocana, A., Takane, K.K., Syed, M.A., Philbrick, W.M., Vasavada, R.C., and Stewart, A.F. 2000. Hepatocyte growth factor overexpression in the islet of transgenic mice increases beta cell proliferation, enhances islet mass, and induces mild hypoglycemia. *J Biol Chem* 275:1226-1232.
- 27. Kim, M.J., Kang, J.H., Park, Y.G., Ryu, G.R., Ko, S.H., Jeong, I.K., Koh, K.H., Rhie, D.J., Yoon, S.H., Hahn, S.J., et al. 2006. Exendin-4 induction of cyclin D1 expression in INS-1 beta-cells: involvement of cAMP-responsive element. *J Endocrinol* 188:623-633.
- Salpeter, S.J., Klochendler, A., Weinberg-Corem, N., Porat, S., Granot, Z., Shapiro, A.M., Magnuson, M.A., Eden, A., Grimsby, J., Glaser, B., et al. 2011. Glucose Regulates Cyclin D2 Expression in Quiescent and Replicating Pancreatic {beta}-Cells Through Glycolysis and Calcium Channels. *Endocrinology*.
- 29. Wang, W., Walker, J.R., Wang, X., Tremblay, M.S., Lee, J.W., Wu, X., and Schultz, P.G. 2009. Identification of small-molecule inducers of pancreatic betacell expansion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106:1427-1432.